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C Z K  T H O U S A N D G R O S S A L L O W A N C E
A V E R A G E  C R E D I T 

L O S S
C R E D I T  I M P A I R E D

Maturity

Before due date 1,120,406 -3,265 0.29% No

1-90 days past due 0 0 0.00% No

91-180 days past due 33 -1 3.83% No

More than 360 days past due 104,785 -104,785 100.00% Yes

Total 1,225,224 -108,051

The following movements were reported in allowances against financial assets in the year ended 31 December 2019:

C Z K  T H O U S A N D 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

Balance at 1 January 300,945 234,827

Impairment losses reported during the period 80,821 180,288

Cancellation of the impairment loss reported during the period -15,763 -52,573

Write-off of receivables -156,917 -131,662

Acquisitions under joint control -- 69,953

Acquisitions via business combinations 6,508 --

Sale of equity investment with loss of control -1,609 --

Impact of changes in FX rates -334 112

Balance at 31 December 213,651 300,945

As of the balance sheet date, the maximum exposure to credit risk is classified by counterparty and geographical loca-
tion as presented in the tables below.

Credit Risk by Counterparty
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Loans and other financial assets 1,319,192 -- 112,160 726,205 3,179 2,160,736

Trade and other receivables 4,634,599 42,855 7,830 102,948 211,213 4,999,445

Contractual assets 1,666,894 -- -- -- -- 1,666,894

Tax receivables 944 352,238 -- -- -- 353,182

Cash and cash equivalents -- -- 901,479 -- -- 901,479

Total 7,621,629 395,093 1,021,469 829,153 214,392 10,081,736

Allowance as of

C Z K  T H O U S A N D G R O S S A L L O W A N C E
A V E R A G E  C R E D I T 

L O S S
C R E D I T  I M P A I R E D

Maturity

Before due date 4,305,592 -34,327 0.80% No

1-90 days past due 195,895 -5,365 2.74% No

91-180 days past due 37,744 -1,440 3.81% No

181-360 days past due 29,336 -14,668 50.00% Yes

More than 360 days past due 261,005 -261,005 100.00% Yes

Total 4,829,572 -316,805
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( C Z K  T H O U S A N D )
G R O S S A L L O W A N C E

A V E R A G E  C R E D I T 

L O S S
C R E D I T  I M P A I R E D

Group

1 2,121,045 -77,359 3.65% No

2 5,035 -145 2.88% No

Total 2,126,080 -77,504

Provided loans and other financial assets

C Z K  T H O U S A N D G R O S S A L L O W A N C E
A V E R A G E  C R E D I T 

L O S S
C R E D I T  I M P A I R E D

Maturity

Before due date 1,958,624 -2,030 0.10% No

1-90 days past due 93,791 -1,809 1.93% No

91-180 days past due -- -- 0.00% No

181-360 days past due -- -- 0.00% No

More than 360 days past due 73,665 -73,665 100.00% Yes

Total 2,126,080 -77,504
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( C Z K  T H O U S A N D )
G R O S S A L L O W A N C E

A V E R A G E  C R E D I T 

L O S S
C R E D I T  I M P A I R E D

Group

1 1,213,976 -107,272 8.84% No

2 10,680 -211 1.97% No

4 568 -568 100.00% Yes

Total 1,225,224 -108,051
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b)	Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is a risk of the Group running into difficulties 
in meeting its commitments in relation to financial liabili-
ties that are settled through cash or other financial assets. 
Individual Group entities use different methods to manage 
liquidity risk.
The Group’s management focuses on the methods used 
by financial institutions, i.e. diversifying the sources of 
funds. Thanks to the diversification, the Group is more 
flexible and its dependency, if any, on a single source of 
funding, is limited. Liquidity risk is primarily assessed by 
monitoring the changes in the structure of funding and 
by comparing the changes with the Group’s liquidity risk 
management strategy.

The below-stated table presents a breakdown of the 
Group’s financial liabilities classified by their due dates, spe-
cifically by the period remaining from the balance sheet 
date until the contractual maturity date. In situations when 
options and payment schedules make earlier repayment 
possible, the Group applies maximum caution in assessing 
the due dates. Therefore, the due dates of liabilities are 
presented at the earliest possible dates. Liabilities without 
contractually stipulated due dates are classified under the 
“unspecified due date” category.
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Liabilities

Loans and borrowings 6,837,114 7,544,112 1,136,757 3,480,507 1,281,209 623,858 1,021,781

Bonds 2,952,896 3,539,869 38,854 135,075 3,365,940 -- --

Trade and other payables 1,345,464 1,239,956 1,138,540 55,979 44,724 713 --

Lease liabilities 830,694 936,201 -- 127,062 298,985 510,154 --

Total 11,966,168 13,260,138 2,314,151 3,798,623 4,990,858 1,134,725 1,021,781
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Liabilities

Loans and borrowings 5,038,563 5,282,291 863,568 2,554,117 1,033,013 4,480 827,113

Bonds 2,073,553 2,342,186 21,749 72,690 2,247,747 -- --

Trade and other payables 2,147,970 2,147,970 668,706 1,320,886 50,866 8,980 98,532

Total 9,260,086 9,772,447 1,554,023 3,947,693 3,331,626 13,460 925,645

The value of loans under “unspecified due date” represents loans that have no set contractual maturity but they are 
payable upon the creditor’s request.
The Group does not expect that the cash flows included in the analysis of due dates would fall due earlier or in much 
larger volumes. 
Among others, financial liabilities were also used to fund non-current assets and inventories.
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Assets

Loans and other financial assets 755,788 1,070 32,602 389,351 -- 1,178,811

Trade and other receivables 2,449,856 28,852 184,193 3,258 452,205 3,118,364

Contractual assets 1,394,402 --  --  --  --  1,394,402

Tax receivables -- 100,350 55,180 -- -- 155,530

Cash and cash equivalents -- -- 541,399 -- -- 541,399

Total 4,600,046 130,272 813,374 392,609 452,205 6,388,506

Credit Risk by Territory
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Assets

Loans and other financial assets 1,977,442 126,670 5,849 50,775 2,160,736

Trade and other receivables 2,079,620 1,109,962 1,298 1,808,565 4,999,445

Contractual assets 265,585 155,817 -- 1,245,492 1 666,894

Tax receivables 187,668 163,818 -- 1,696 353,182

Cash and cash equivalents 713,403 180,799 -- 7,277 901,479

Total 5,223,718 1,737,066 7,147 3,113,805 10,081,736

*The category of “Other” primarily includes receivables from other European Union countries, such as Hungary and Bulgaria, 
and from other than European Union countries, such as United Arab Emirates, Pakistan and Vietnam.

A S  O F  3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 8 

( C Z K  T H O U S A N D ) C
Z

E
C

H
 

R
E

P
U

B
L

IC

S
L

O
V

A
K

IA

N
E

T
H

E
R

L
A

N
D

S

O
T

H
E

R
*

T
O

T
A

L

Assets

Loans and other financial assets 1,052,505 109,531 5,796 10,979 1,178,811

Trade and other receivables 1,295,563 136,275 1,244 1,685,283 3,118,365

Contractual assets 7,540  63,578 --  1,323,283 1,394,401

Tax receivables 88,645 66,885 -- -- 155,530

Cash and cash equivalents 449,758 90,320 -- 1,321 541,399

Total 2,894,011 466,589 7,040 3,020,866 6,388,506

*The category of “Other” primarily includes receivables from other European Union countries, such as Hungary and Bulgaria, 
and from other than European Union countries, such as United Arab Emirates, Pakistan and Vietnam.
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Sensitivity Analysis
The Group performs stress testing using the standardised 
interest rate shock scenario, during which an immediate 
decrease/increase in interest rates of 100 basis points 
is applied to the portfolio interest rate positions in the 
whole length of the revenue curve.

As of the balance sheet date, the change in interest rates 
of 100 basis points would increase or decrease profit 
by the amounts presented in the following table. The 
analysis assumes that all other variables, namely foreign 
currency exchange rates, will remain unchanged.

C Z K  T H O U S A N D
Y E A R  E N D E D 

3 1   D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9

Y E A R  E N D E D 

3 1   D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 8

Interest rate decrease of 100 basis points 51,545 40,783

Interest rate increase of 100 basis points -51,545 -40,783

Following the recognition of the above-describe derivative, only a portion of CZK 870,500 thousand is effectively 
exposed to the floating interest rate risk.

d)	Currency Risk
The Group’s financial positions and cash flows are affected 
by fluctuations in the effective foreign exchange rate.
The entities in the Group are exposed to currency risk in 
relation to sales, purchases and loans denominated in 
currencies other than the relevant functional currencies 
applied by the Group. This primarily includes EUR and USD 
in respect of Czech entities and CZK and USD in respect of 
Slovak entities. For more information about the countries 
where the entities primarily operate, refer to Note 35.

The Company manages currency risk by concluding deriv-
ative transactions to hedge future cash flows (however, this 
does not constitute hedge accounting) and also covers 
currency risk management for the CSG Group.
The table below presents a summary of currency deriv-
atives for sale and purchase in 2020, 2021 and 2022 
recorded by the Group as of 31 December 2019 (the values 
are presented in CZK thousand as equivalents):

C Z K  T H O U S A N D 2 0 2 0 2 0 2 1 2 0 2 2

E U R USD TOTAL E U R U S D TOTAL E U R U S D TOTAL

Currency derivatives 
for purchase

FX forward -44,494 -- -44,494 -- -- -- -- -- --

FX Option -468,000 -- -468,000 -934,560 -- -934,560 -466,560 -- -466,560

FX Swap -76,617 -32,930 -109,547 -- -- -- -- -- --

Total currency derivatives 
for purchase -589,111 -32,930 -622,041 -934,560 -- -934,560 -466,560 -- -466,560

Currency derivatives 
for sale

FX forward 1,159,695 425,453 1,585,148 471,712 13,803 485,515 -- -- --

FX Option 468,000 -- 468,000 934,560 -- 934,560 466,560 -- 466,560

FX Swap 795,132 80,950 876,082 349,555 -- 349,555 -- -- --

Total currency derivatives 
for sale 2,422,827 506,403 2,929,230 1,755,827 13,803 1,769,630 466,560 -- 466,560

c)	 Interest Rate Risk
During its activities, the Group is exposed to the risk 
of interest rate fluctuations, the reason being that the 
interest-bearing assets (including investments) and inter-
est-bearing liabilities have various due dates or interest rate 
refixing dates. The period during which a specific financial 
instrument has a fixed interest rate shows to what extent 
the financial instrument is exposed to interest rate risk.
The Group manages interest rate risk through interest rate 
swaps. As of 31 December 2019 and 2018, CSG a. s. had 
interest rate swaps in place, hedging floating 6M Pribor 
interest rates at a fixed rate of 1.5% for a credit facility in 
the total volume of CZK 2,100,000 thousand during the 
period from 2019 to 2025. As of 31 December 2019 and 
2018, DAKO-CZ had an interest rate swap in place, hedging 
floating interest rates in EUR at a fixed rate of 1.21% for 
a credit facility in the total volume of EUR 282,644 (2018: 
EUR 1,130,780).
As of 31 December 2019 and 2018, JOB AIR TECHNIC a. s. 
had concluded an interest rate swap for the fixed rate of 

0.365% to secure the floating interest rate of a loan of EUR 
9,583,333 (2018: EUR 10,000,000).
As of 31 December 2019, EXCALIBUR ARMY spol. s r. o. had 
concluded an interest option for the fixed rate of 0.120% to 
secure the floating interest rate of a loan of EUR 1,963,500.
The table presented below shows information on the 
level of the Group’s interest rate risk either based on the 
contractual maturity periods of the Group’s financial instru-
ments or – in respect of financial instruments remeasured 
at the market interest rate before the due date – based 
on the date of the next interest rate change. Assets and 
liabilities that do not have a contractually stipulated matu-
rity period or do not bear interest are classified under the 
“unspecified due date” category.
Financial information relating to interest-bearing and 
non-interest-bearing assets and liabilities and their con-
tractual maturity or restatement dates as of 31 December 
2019 and 31 December 2018 not including the effects of 
derivatives are as follows:

A S  O F  3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9  ( C Z K 

T H O U S A N D )
F L O A T I N G  I N T E R E S T  R A T E

F I X E D  I N T E R E S T  R A T E 

O R  U N S P E C I F I E D
T O T A L

L E S S  T H A N 

1  Y E A R

1 YEAR TO 

5 YEARS

MORE THAN 

5 YEARS

Interest-bearing financial assets

Loans and other financial assets 1,474,662 32,444 0 653,630 2,160,736

Total 1,474,662 32,444 0 653,630 2,160,736

Interest-bearing financial liabilities

Loans and borrowings 3,760,476 1,281,217 195,681 658,124 5,895,498

Bonds -- 2,900,500 0 52,396 2,952,896

Total 3,760,476 4,181,717 195,681 710,520 8,848,394

Net interest-rate risk balance -2,285,814 -4,149,273 -195,681 -56,890 -6,687,658

A S  O F  3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 8 

( C Z K  T H O U S A N D )
F L O A T I N G  I N T E R E S T  R A T E

F I X E D  I N T E R E S T  R A T E 

O R  U N S P E C I F I E D
T O T A L

L E S S  T H A N 

1  Y E A R

1 YEAR TO 

5 YEARS

MORE THAN 

5 YEARS

Interest-bearing financial assets

Loans and other financial assets 982,213 33 -- 196,565 1,178,811

Total 982,213 33 -- 196,565 1,178,811

Interest-bearing financial liabilities

Loans and borrowings 3,556,247 588,028 -- 709,115 4,853,390

Bonds -- 2,066,109 -- 7,444 2,073,553

Total 3,556,247 2,654,137 -- 716,559 6,926,941

Net interest-rate risk balance -2,574,034 -2,654,104 -- -519,994 -5,748,130
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A S  O F  3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 8

( C Z K  T H O U S A N D )
C Z K E U R U S D O T H E R T O T A L

Assets

Loans and other financial assets 846,171 329,184 3,404 52 1,178,811

Trade and other receivables 889,278 1,057,408 1 113,980 57,698 3,118,364

Contractual assets 7,540 328,390 1,058,472 --  1,394,402

Cash and cash equivalents 204,738 244,897 85,327 6,437 541,399

Total assets 1,947,727 1,959,879 2,261,183 64,187 6,232,976

Liabilities

Loans and borrowings 2,316,494 2,323,570 345,774 52,726 5,038,564

Bonds 2,073,553 -- --  --  2,073,553

Trade and other payables 1,130,820 1,085,237 815,450 191,734 3,223,241

Total liabilities 5,520,867 3,408,807 1,161,224 244,460 10,335,358

Net currency risk balance -3,573,140 -1,448,928 1,099,959 -180,273 -4,102,382

The following table presents the exposure to currency risk as of 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018) without the 
recognition of financial derivatives:

A S  O F  3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9 

( C Z K  T H O U S A N D )
C Z K E U R H U F U S D O T H E R T O T A L

Assets

Loans and other financial assets -- 274,804 -- 41,663 513 316,980

Trade and other receivables 125 1,399,105 3,432 2,810,124 82,400 4,295,186

Contractual assets -- -- 330 93,675 -- 94,006

Cash and cash equivalents 20 106,054 2,013 206,760 13,539 328,386

Total assets 145 1,779,963 5,775 3,152,223 96,452 5,034,558

Liabilities

Loans and borrowings -- 1,142,774 1,627 453,410 903 1,598,714

Trade and other payables 64,299 1,299,154 -- 916,185 28,354 2,307,992

Total liabilities 64,299 2,441,928 1,627 1,369,595 29,257 3,906,706

Net currency risk balance -64,154 -661,965 4,148 1,782,628 67,195 1,127,852

C Z K  T H O U S A N D 2 0 1 9 2 0 2 0

E U R USD TOTAL E U R U S D TOTAL

Currency derivatives 
for purchase

FX forward -429,922 -- -429,922 -484,239 -- -484,239

FX Option -523,953 -- -523,953 -84,544 -- -84,544

Total currency derivatives for purchase -953,875 -- -953,875 -568,783 -- -568,783

           

Currency derivatives 
for sale 1,367,751 952,658 2,320,409 868,339 418,059 1,286,398

FX forward 769,538 -- 769,538 120,475 -- 120,475

FX Option 33,469 33,913 67,382 39,665 -- 39,665

Total currency derivatives for sale 2,170,758 986,571 3,157,329 1,028,479 418,059 1,446,538

The following table presents the structure of assets and liabilities as of 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018) by cur-
rency (translated to CZK thousand) at the level of the Group:

A S  O F  3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9 

( C Z K  T H O U S A N D )
C Z K E U R H U F U S D O T H E R T O T A L

Assets

Loans and other financial assets 1,745,318 373,242 -- 41,663 513 2,160,736

Trade and other receivables 1,677,424 1,776,969 3,432 1,724,805 82,400 5,265,030

Contractual assets -- 221,985 330 1,178,994 -- 1,401,309

Cash and cash equivalents 392,499 286,668 2,013 206,760 13,539 901,479

Total assets 3,815,241 2,658,864 5,775 3,152,222 96,452 9,728,554

Liabilities

Loans and borrowings 3,341,925 3,039,250 1,627 453,410 902 6,837,114

Bonds 2,952,896 --  --  --  -- 2,952,896

Trade and other payables 2,496,086 1,615,917 -- 632,535 26,436 4,770,974

Total liabilities 8,790,907 4,655,167 1,627 1,085,945 27,338 14,560,984

Net currency risk balance -4,975,666 -1,996,303 4,148 2,066,277 69,114 -4,832,430
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e)	 Operating Risk
Operating risk is a risk of losses arising from embezzle-
ment, unlawful activities, errors, negligence, inefficiency 
or system failure. The risk of this type arises during all of 
the Group’s activities and all of the corporate entities are 
exposed to it. Operating risk also includes legal risk.
The Group’s objective is to manage operating risk so that 
balance is preserved between preventing financial losses 
and damage to the Group’s good name on the one hand, 
and the total effectiveness of the costs incurred on the 
other hand. In addition, risk management procedures 
should not hinder initiative and creativity.

The primary responsibility for the implementation of 
control mechanisms to cope with operating risks is borne 
by management of each subsidiary. The Group’s manage-
ment is responsible for managing operating risks, whereby 
it may set the direction of procedures and measures 
resulting in the mitigation of operating risks and the adop-
tion of decisions about:
	 /	 The acknowledgement of individual existing risks;
	 /	� The commencement of processes that will result in 

the mitigation of possible effects; or
	 /	� A decrease in the extent of risky activities or their 

full discontinuation.

f)	 Capital Management
The Group’s objective in managing capital is to have 
a sufficient amount of funds to finance additional acquisi-
tions and settlement of financial liabilities. The Company 
is subject to external capital requirements arising from 
bond placement terms. Furthermore, the Company and 
its subsidiaries are subject to requirements arising from 
contracts with banks.

C Z K  T H O U S A N D 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 8

Total liabilities 18,821,457 12,709,952

Decrease for cash and cash equivalents -901,479 -541,399

Adjusted net debt 17,919,978 12,168,553

Total equity attributable to the holders of the Company’s equity 7,317,565 6,157,031

Decrease for amounts accumulated in equity in relation to cash 
flow hedging -- --

Adjusted capital 7,317,565 6,157,031

Ratio of debt to adjusted capital 2.45 1.98

A S  3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 8 

( C Z K  T H O U S A N D )
C Z K E U R U S D O T H E R T O T A L

Assets

Loans and other financial assets -- 290,982 3,404 51 294,437

Trade and other receivables -- 467,127 1,113,980 57,698 1,638,806

Contractual assets  -- 264,814 1,058,472 --  1,323,283

Cash and cash equivalents 232 164,403 85,327 6,437 256,399

Total assets 232 1,187,324 2,261,183 64,186 3,512,925

Liabilities

Loans and borrowings 56,401 761,831 345,774 52,725 1,216,731

Bonds --  --  --  --  --

Trade and other payables 3,234 532,041 815,450 191,734 1,542,459

Total liabilities 59,635 1,293,872 1,161,224 244,459 2,759,190

Net currency risk balance -59,403 -106,548 1,099,959 -180,273 753,735

C Z K 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 8

A V E R A G E  R A T E

S P O T  E X C H A N G E 

R A T E  A S  O F  T H E 

B A L A N C E  S H E E T  D A T E

A V E R A G E  R A T E

S P O T  E X C H A N G E 

R A T E  A S  O F  T H E 

B A L A N C E  S H E E T  D A T E

1 EUR 25.672 25.410 25.642 25.725

1 USD 22.934 22.621 21.735 22.466

The following material exchange rates applied during the year:

Sensitivity Analysis
The strengthening of the Czech crown as of the balance 
sheet date (as presented below) compared to EUR and 
USD would result in an increase/decrease of equity as 
presented in the table below. The analysis is based on 
the departures from foreign currency exchange rates 

which the Group considered to be sufficiently likely at of 
the balance sheet date. The sensitivity analysis antici-
pates that all other variables, namely interest rates, will 
remain unchanged.

E F F E C T  O N  P R O F I T  O R  L O S S  I N  C Z K  T H O U S A N D 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 8

EUR (10% strengthening) 235,391 144,856

USD (10% strengthening) -178,263 -109,996

The weakening of the Czech crown as of the balance sheet date compared to the above listed currencies would have 
the same effect (albeit with the opposite sign), provided that all the other variables remained the same.

As of the balance sheet date, the Group reported the following ratio of debt to adjusted capital:
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The following tables summarise information on operating segments for the period from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 
2019 and as of 31 December 2019 and for the period from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018 and as of 31 December 2018:

*Operating expenses include material consumption, movements in products and production in progress, costs of sold goods, 
staff costs, net other operating expenses/income, net financial expenses/income (net of interest).
**EBITDA includes profit before tax, interest and depreciation.
***The above turnovers do not correspond to the final statement positions due to the inclusion of net financial income/ex-
penses (net of interest) in this position.
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External customers 5,853,993 1,360,621 2,899,134 10,113,748 1,725,378 -- 11,839,126

Between segments 31,584 5,313 54,665 91,562 193,195 -284,757 --

Sales 5,885,577 1,365,934 2,953,799 10,205,310 1,918,573 -284,757 11,839,126

Totel operating expenses* -5,205,618 -1,263,530 -2,111,152 -8,580,300 -1,608,860 284,757 -9,904,403

EBITDA** 679,959 102,404 842,647 1,625,010 309,713 -- 1,934,723

Depreciation of fixed assets -189,735 -127,539 -157,479 -474,753 -81,112 -- -555,865

Operating income*** 490,224 -25,135 685,168 1,150,257 228,601 -- 1,378,858

Interest income 7,063 2,212 12,215 21,490 93,018 -41,277 73,231

Interest expenses -116,185 -17,134 -41,533 -174,852 -201,357 41,277 -334,932

Share on the profit of associates -- -- -- -- 102,257 -- 102,257

Profit /loss from the sale of a 
business share -- -- -- -- 552,936 -- 552,936

Profit before tax 381,102 -40,057 655,850 996,895 775,455 -- 1,772,350

Income tax -161,610 -33,368 -105,887 -300,865 -64,882 -- -365,747

Profit after tax 219,492 -73,425 549,963 696,030 710,573 -- 1,406,603

Profit after tax
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External customers 6,957,417 1,095,475 2,901,198 10,954,090 501,958 -- 11,456,048

Between segments 1,490,920 100,656 70,902 1 662,478 185,014 -1,847,492 --

Sales 8,448,337 1,196,131 2,972,100 12,616,568 686,972 -1,847,492 11,456,048

Totel operating expenses* -7,391,273 -1,294,779 -1,978,416 -10,664,468 -761,880 1,847,492 -9,578,856

EBITDA** 1,057,064 -98,647 993,684 1,952,101 -74,909 -- 1,877,192

33. Operating Segments
The Group reports its results divided by individual oper-
ating segments, for which individual financial indicators 
exist and are monitored and assessed by management on 
an individual basis. These financial indicators principally 
include income from external customers (from the sale of 
own products, goods, from provided services, rental and 
long-term contracts) and operating expenses which, in the 
aggregate, constitute the income from operating activi-
ties. Management also monitors and assesses total assets 
and liabilities in respect of individual segments.
At the Group level, operating segments comprise individ-
ual group entities with a similar economic specialisation 
and business activity. 

The Group is divided into the following segments:
1)	 Defence industry
This segment comprises group entities whose principal 
business activity involves trade and manufacturing activ-
ities, or providing services in the area of military material, 
military equipment and systems. A major portion of 
sales is realised with external customers outside the CSG 
Group, namely in the European Union, Asia and Africa. This 
segment is dominated by Excalibur Army s. r. o., Czech 
leader on the military material market offering a wide 
range of military vehicles, weapon systems and ammuni-
tion for which it provides comprehensive services – spare 
parts, ammunition, repairs and modernisation. Some 
vehicles are manufactured internally directly by Excalibur 
Army s. r. o. and so is a wide array of spare parts. EXCALI-
BUR INTERNATIONAL specialises in trading with aviation 
technology and special material including related logistics 
and after-sale services. The Slovak entity MSM Martin a. s. 
predominantly focuses on the repairs of ground military 
equipment and modernisation of military and special 
vehicles including the sale of spare parts. Furthermore, the 
company specialises in the production of ammunition; its 
services cover the entire ammunition life cycle including 
technical life extensions. The Company also develops and 
produces radio-navigation electronics. The Slovak entities 
ZVS deal with the production of ammunition and devel-
opment, production and sale of guns.

2)	 Engineering
Major players in the engineering segment principally 
include DAKO-CZ, a. s. and Vagonka Louny a. s. DAKO-CZ, 
a. s. specialises in the production of braking systems for 
railway vehicles and Vagonka Louny a. s. specialises in the 
repair and production of railway cars. Companies in this 
segment realise most of their sales outside the CSG Group.

3)	 Services to the aircraft industry
The following entities operate in this segment: Česká 
letecká servisní a. s., EUROPEAN AIR SERVICES s. r. o., JOB 
AIR Technic a. s. and ELDIS Pardubice, s. r. o. These entities 
principally focus on the maintenance and repairs of 
aircraft and aircraft equipment. In 2019, this segment was 
expanded to include Skyport a. s.

4)	 Other
The operating segment ‘Other’ includes entities having 
an economic specialisation different from that of entities 
included in the operating segments disclosed above. The 
income generated by those entities is principally attribut-
able to the rental of real estate and sales of consumables. 
In 2019, this segment was expanded to include compa-
nies acquired with the Car Star Group.
The above-specified operating segments have their indi-
vidual management at the level of individual entities; their 
accounting policies are identical. The Company accounts 
for the income and transactions between segments as 
if they represented income and transaction with third 
parties, i.e. at the level of arm’s length prices.
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Information by country
The tables below summarise the assets of operating segments by asset location: 
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Property, plant and equipment 4,332,928 1,844,492 114,138 75,566 6,367,124 6,367,124

Intangible assets 734,087 235,066 -- 10,008 979,161 979,161

Investment property 67,509 -- -- -- 67,509 67,509

Total 5,134,524 2,079,558 114,138 85,574 7,413,794 7,413,794

A S  O F  3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 8 

( C Z K  T H O U S A N D ) C
Z

E
C

H
 

R
E

P
U

B
L

IC

S
L

O
V

A
K

IA

S
E

R
B

IA

T
O

T
A

L 

O
P

E
R

A
T

IN
G

 

S
E

G
M

E
N

T
S

C
O

N
S

O
L

ID
A

T
E

D
 

D
A

T
A

Property, plant and equipment 2,664,642 1,377,497 107,846 4,149,985 4,149,985

Intangible assets 672,697 210,173 -- 882,870 882,870

Investment property 142,102 -- -- 142,102 142,102

Total 3,479,441 1 ,587,670 107,846 5,174,957 5,174,957

Major customers
The Group’s analysis of the customer base identified a single major customer in 2019. Its total income amounted to CZK 
1,272,661 thousand (year ended 31 December 2018: CZK 1,088,282 thousand), accounting for 10.75% of the Group’s aggre-
gate sales, 23% in the aircraft segment and 77% in the defence industry (2018: 9.50% in the aircraft segment). In 2019, 
five major customers accounted for 29.84% of the Group’s aggregate sales. In 2018, three major customers accounted 
for 17.67% of the Group’s aggregate sales.

*Operating expenses include material consumption, movements in products and production in progress, costs of sold 
goods, staff costs, net other operating expenses/income, net financial expenses/income (net of interest).
**EBITDA includes profit before tax, interest and depreciation.
***The above turnovers do not correspond to the final statement positions due to the inclusion of net financial income/
expenses (net of interest) in this position.

Y E A R  E N D E D  3 1  D E C  2 0 1 8

( C Z K  T H O U S A N D ) D
E

F
E

N
C

E 

IN
D

U
S

T
R

Y

E
N

G
IN

E
E

R
IN

G

S
E

R
V

IC
E

S
 T

O
 

T
H

E
 A

IR
C

R
A

F
T 

IN
D

U
S

T
R

Y

T
O

T
A

L 

M
O

N
IT

O
R

E
D

 

S
E

G
M

E
N

T
S

A
L

L
 O

T
H

E
R

 

S
E

G
M

E
N

T
S

E
L

IM
IN

A
T

IO
N

 

O
F

 M
U

T
U

A
L 

R
E

L
A

T
IO

N
S

C
O

N
S

O
L

ID
A

T
E

D
 

D
A

T
A

Depreciation/amortisation of 
fixed assets -143,328 -104,223 -121,044 -368,595 -34,620 -- -403,215

Operating income*** 913,736 -202,870 872,640 1,583,506 -109,529 -- 1,473,978

Interest income 167 355 9,483 10,005 43,774 -26,697 27,081

Interest expenses -76,004 -11,709 -13,636 -101,349 -140,630 26,697 -215,282

Share on the profit of associates -- -- -8,450 -8,450 -269,933 -- -278,383

Profit /loss from the sale of a 
business share -13,059 -- -- -13,059 281,699 -- 268,640

Profit before tax 824,839 -214,224 860,037 1,470,652 -194,619 -- 1,276,033

Income tax -114,043 -11,476 -181,334 -306,854 -18,915 -- -325,769

Profit after tax 710,796 -225,700 678,702 1,163,799 -213,534 -- 950,265

Total assets and liabilities by segments
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Total assets per segment 13,316,422 2,319,225 7,225,234 22,860,881 7,417,669 -2,750,811 27,527,739

Entities accounted for using the 
equity method -- -- -- -- 1,875,945 -- 1,875,945

Capital expenses (CAPEX) 594,157 81,533 1,031,054 1,706,744 362,630 -- 2,069,374

Total liabilities per segment -10,164,431 -1,319,820 -3,926,341 -15,410,592 -6,161,676 2,750,811 -18,821,457
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Total assets per segment 10,320,151 1,992,744 4,189,066 16,501,961 5,698,417 -1,846,436 20,353,942

Entities accounted for using the 
equity method 17,225 -- 28,143 45,368 1,769,209 -- 1,814,577

Capital expenses (CAPEX) 403,216 103,651 527,936 1,034,803 561,013 -- 1,595,816

Total liabilities per segment -7,005,531 -1,066,214 -1,902,499 -9,974,243 -4,582,145 1,846,436 -12,709,952
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35. Group Entities
Disclosed below is a list of Group entities as of 31 December 2019:
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CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. Czech 
Republic 100% Parent 

company -- 100% Parent 
company --

EXCALIBUR ARMY spol. s r. o. Czech 
Republic 90.00% Direct Full 90.00% Direct Full

EG POLSKA sp. z.o.o. Poland 42.66% Direct Unconso-
lidated 42.66% Direct Unconso-

lidated

Tovární 1112 a. s. Czech 
Republic -- -- -- 90.00% Direct Full

CZECH DEFENCE SYSTEMS a. s. Czech 
Republic 90.00% Direct Full 90.00% Direct Full

SHER Technologies a. s. Czech 
Republic 45.90% Direct Full 45.90% Direct Full

LIKVIDACE ODPADU CZ a. s. Czech 
Republic -- -- -- 100.00% Direct Full

TATRA DEFENCE VEHICLE a. s. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full 100.00% Direct Full

TATRA Holdings s. r. o. Czech 
Republic 19.65% Direct Unconso-

lidated -- -- --

TECHPARK Hradubická a. s. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full 100.00% Direct Full

TATRA AVIATION a. s. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full 100.00% Direct Full

VÍTKOVICKÁ DOPRAVA, a. s. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full 100.00% Direct Full

TRADITION CS a. s. Czech 
Republic 97.50% Direct Full 100.00% Direct Full

ATRAK a. s. (TRADITION SPV 1 a. s.) Czech 
Republic 97.50% Direct Full -- -- --

CS SOFT a. s. Czech 
Republic 78.00% Direct Full 80.00% Direct Full

MSM GROUP s. r. o. Slovakia 81.00% Direct Full 81.00% Direct Full

CZECHOSLOVAKIA TRADE a. s. Slovakia 81.00% Direct Full 81.00% Direct Full

MSM Martin, s. r. o. Slovakia 81.00% Direct Full 81.00% Direct Full

MSM Banská Bystrica, a. s. 
(TESLA Pardubice, a. s.) Slovakia 81.00% Direct Full 78.57% Direct Full

MSM Nováky, a. s. (ZVS Industry, a. s.) Slovakia 81.00% Direct Full 81.00% Direct Full

ZVS-Armory, s. r. o. (CZ-Slovensko s. r. o.) Slovakia 81.00% Direct Full 39.69% Direct Equity

MSM Holding, s. r. o. Slovakia 81.00% Direct Full 81.00% Direct Full

Slovak Training Academy, s. r. o. Slovakia 93.19% Direct Full 86.54% Direct Full

3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 8

34. Related Parties
Definition of related parties
The Group’s relations with related parties include relations with 
shareholders and other parties as disclosed in the table below.

a)	 Summary of balances with related parties as of 
31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018:
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Shareholders 715,625 -- 298,954 --

Related parties and related individuals 1,085,072 749,108 455,859 485,159

Key management of the Group 49,176 8,845 2,000 36,584

Non-controlling equity interests 144,874 360,165 3,092 124,139

Associates and joint ventures 49,904 236,474 37,796 569,571

Total 2,044,651 1,354,592 797,701 1,215,453

b)	Summary of balances with related parties for the 
years ended 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018:
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Shareholders 30 188  1 500 -- --

Related parties and individuals 80 571 146 180 272 327 253 187

Key management of the Group 20 607 -- --

Non-controlling equity interests 184 559 6 474 -- --

Associates and joint ventures 74 800 50 288 52 156 148 557

Total 370 138 205 049 324 483 401 744

Transactions with shareholders and the Group’s key management consist of relations arising from received and provided 
loans. Transactions with related parties and related individuals as well as with associates and joint ventures principally 
include business relations and relations arising from received and provided loans.
Transactions with members of the top management are disclosed in Note 9 – Staff Costs. 
All transactions have been realised under arm’s length conditions.
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AVIA Electric a. s. Czech 
Republic 50.00% Direct Equity -- -- --

INTEGRA CAPITAL a. s. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full 50.00% Direct Full

JOB AIR Technic a. s. Czech 
Republic 80.30% Direct Full 40.15% Direct Full

ZTS METALURG a. s. Slovakia -- -- -- 50.00% Direct Full

ZTS METALURG špeciál, s. r. o. Slovakia -- -- -- 50.00% Direct Full

 EXCALIBUR INTERNATIONAL a. s. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full 90.00% Direct Full

EXCALIBUR INTERNATIONAL HU Kft. Hungary 100.00% Direct Unconso-
lidated 90.00% Direct Unconso-

lidated

 REAL TRADE PRAHA a. s. Czech 
Republic 0.00% Indirect Full 0.00% Indirect Full

SPVRTP CZ s. r. o. Czech 
Republic 0.00% Indirect Unconso-

lidated 0.00% Indirect Unconso-
lidated

 CSGM a. s. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full 100.00% Direct Full

 DAKO-CZ, a. s. Czech 
Republic 51.00% Direct Full 51.00% Direct Full

JWL DAKO-CZ (INDIA) LIMITED RN India 16.98% Direct Unconso-
lidated 16.98% Direct Equity

Shenyang Czech Design Rail Brake 
System Co., Ltd China 51.00% Direct Unconso-

lidated 51.00% Direct Unconso-
lidated

DAKO-CZ RE, s. r. o. Czech 
Republic 51.00% Direct Full -- -- --

TRANSELCO CZ s. r. o. Czech 
Republic 51.00% Direct Full -- -- --

Vagonka Louny a. s. Czech 
Republic 51.00% Direct Full -- -- --

Anji s. r. o. Czech 
Republic 50.00% Direct Equity 50.00% Direct Equity

Na Poříčí 17 s. r. o. Czech 
Republic 50.00% Direct Equity 50.00% Direct Equity

TATRA a. s. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full 100.00% Direct Full

EXCALIBUR USA a. s. Czech 
Republic 51.00% Direct Unconso-

lidated 51.00% Direct Unconso-
lidated

ARMY TRADE a. s. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full 100.00% Direct Full

CSG INDUSTRY a. s. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full 100.00% Direct Full

Car Star Fleet s. r. o. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full -- -- --

Car Star Immo s. r. o. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full -- -- --
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EHC Service s. r. o. Slovakia 93.19% Direct Full 86.54% Direct Full

HELI COMPANY s. r. o. Slovakia 83.87% Direct Full 77.89% Direct Full

STA Technology, s. r. o. 
(MSM DEFENCE INDUSTRY s. r. o.) Slovakia 93.19% Direct Full 81.00% Direct Full

ZVS IMPEX, akciová spoločnosť Slovakia 81.00% Direct Full 81.00% Direct Full

Industry Defence, s. r. o. Slovakia 81.00% Direct Unconso-
lidated 81.00% Direct Equity

ZVS Technology, s. r. o. Slovakia 27.54% Direct Unconso-
lidated 27.54% Direct Equity

ATLAN GROUP, spol. s r. o. Slovakia 81.00% Direct Full 81.00% Direct Full

ZVS holding, a. s. Slovakia 40.50% Indirect Full 40.50% Indirect Full

SBS ZVS, s. r. o. Slovakia 40.50% Direct Full 40.50% Direct Full

ZVS Defence Industrial, s. r. o. Slovakia 4.05% Direct Unconso-
lidated 4.05% Direct Unconso-

lidated

VÝVOJ Martin, a. s. Slovakia 81.00% Direct Full 81.00% Direct Full

VMT Trade s. r. o. Slovakia 81.00% Direct Unconso-
lidated 81.00% Direct Full

Virte, a. s. Slovakia 81.00% Direct Full 81.00% Direct Full

MSM LAND SYSTEMS s. r. o. 
(Montservis s. r. o) Slovakia 81.00% Direct Full 81.00% Direct Full

ZVS Ammunition, a. s. Slovakia 81.00% Direct Full 81.00% Direct Full

MSM TATRA Special Vehicles, s. r. o. Slovakia 73.16% Direct Full 73.16% Direct Full

MSM - OPTICAL, s. r. o. Slovakia 41.31% Direct Unconso-
lidated 41.31% Direct Equity

MSM e-mobility division j. s. a. Slovakia 72.90% Direct Full 48.60% Indirect Full

PPS VEHICLES, s. r. o. Slovakia 76.95% Direct Unconso-
lidated -- -- --

European Automotive 
Technology Centre j. s. a. Slovakia 48.6% Direct Unconso-

lidated -- -- --

MSM BUSINESS DEVELOPEMENT s. r. o. Slovakia 81.00% Direct Full -- -- --

Slovak Aviation Factory, s. r. o. Slovakia 81.00% Direct Full -- -- --

DPTU SUMBRO TRADE Dooel Samokov 
Makedonski Brod

Macedo-
nia 81.00% Direct Full -- -- --

KARBOX Holding s. r. o. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full 15.00% Indirect Full

KARBOX s. r. o. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full 15.00% Indirect Full

DEFENCE EXPORT a. s. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full 100.00% Direct Full

CSG FACILITY a. s. Czech 
Republic -- -- -- 100.00% Direct Full

AVIA Motors s. r. o. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full 100.00% Direct Full
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CSG AEROSPACE a. s. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full 90.00% Direct Full

P F Support s.r.o Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full 90.00% Direct Full

ARS Europe a. s. Czech 
Republic 50.00% Direct Full 45.00% Indirect Full

New Space Technologies a. s. Czech 
Republic 60.00% Direct Full 45.00% Direct Equity

Česká letecká servisní a. s. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full 90.00% Direct Full

AVIEN, spol. s r. o. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Unconso-

lidated 90.00% Direct Unconso-
lidated

Ceska letecka servisni d.o.o. Croatia 100.00% Direct Unconso-
lidated 90.00% Direct Unconso-

lidated

CLS Polska SP z.o.o.   Poland 100.00% Direct Unconso-
lidated 90.00% Direct Unconso-

lidated

EUROPEAN AIR SERVICES s. r. o. Czech 
Republic 97.00% Direct Full 87.30% Direct Full

EUROPEAN AIR SERVICES 
SLOVAKIA s. r. o. Slovakia 97.00% Direct Full 87.30% Direct Full

DEFENCE SYSTEMS a.s Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full 100.00% Direct Full

MERIT SPV a. s. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full 100.00% Direct Full

FALCON CSG a. s. (PERFORMANCE SPV a. s.) Czech 
Republic 30.00% Direct Equity 100.00% Direct Full

CSG CENTRAL ASIA a. s. 
(ARMY EXPORT, a. s.)

Czech 
Republic 30.00% Direct Equity 100.00% Direct Full

Engineering SPV a. s. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full 100.00% Direct Full

AVIA AVIATION a. s. Czech 
Republic 50.00% Direct Unconso-

lidated 50.00% Direct Equity

LOGRIS a. s. Czech 
Republic -- -- -- 100.00% Direct Full

CSG RAIL a. s. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full 100.00% Direct Full

CSG DEFENCE a. s. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full 100.00% Direct Full

CSG LAND SYSTEM CZ a. s. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full -- -- --

Milconn, a. s. Czech 
Republic 50.00% Direct Equity 50.00% Direct Equity

CSG USA, Inc. US 100.00% Direct Unconso-
lidated 100.00% Direct Full

BUSINESS SPV a. s. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full -- -- --
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Car Star Praha s. r. o. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full -- -- --

Hyundai Centrum CB s. r. o. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full -- -- --

Hyundai Centrum Praha s. r. o. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full -- -- --

Whare factory s. r. o. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full -- -- --

CSG RDR a. s. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full 100.00% Direct Full

ELDIS Pardubice, s. r. o. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full 100.00% Direct Full

CZECHOSLOVAK EXPORT a. s. 
(ARMY SYSTEMS a. s.) 

Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full 100.00% Direct Full

HTH land a. s. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full 88.00% Direct Full

LIAZ TRUCKS a. s. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full 100.00% Direct Full

NIKA Development a. s. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full 100.00% Direct Full

TATRA TRUCKS a. s. Czech 
Republic 65.00% Direct Equity 65.00% Direct Equity

TATRA METALURGIE a. s. Czech 
Republic 65.00% Direct Equity 65.00% Direct Equity

TATRA EXPORT s. r. o. Czech 
Republic 65.00% Direct Equity 65.00% Direct Equity

TATRA DEFENCE INDUSTRIAL 
s. r. o.

Czech 
Republic 3.25% Direct Unconso-

lidated 3.25% Direct Unconso-
lidated

PROGRESS SPV a. s. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full 100.00% Direct Full

ARMY SYSTEMS a. s. 
(CZECHOSLOVAK EXPORT a. s.)

Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full 100.00% Direct Full

MADE CS a. s. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full 80.00% Direct Full

ELTON hodinářská, a. s. Czech 
Republic 73.16% Direct Full 58.53% Direct Full

TATRA MANUFACTURE a. s. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full 100.00% Direct Full

DEFENCE TRADE a. s. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full 100.00% Direct Full

ROSCO Bohemia a. s. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full 100.00% Direct Full

LOSTR a. s. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full 100.00% Direct Full

14. OKTOBAR d.o.o. Kruševac Serbia 100.00% Direct Full 85.00% Direct Full

FUTURE CS a. s. Czech 
Republic -- 100.00% Direct Full
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37. Subsequent Events
a)	 New major acquisitions
On 15 January 2020, the contract for the business transfer 
took effect and ATRAK a. s. acquired ownership of the 
business represented by a “separate organisational 
branch IFIELD COMPUTER CONSULTANCY LIMITED - 
organizační složka” of IFIELD COMPUTER CONSULTANCY 
LIMITED, a limited liability company.

The Group is finalising a negotiated transaction regarding 
the acquisition of the Spanish company Fábrica de Muni-
ciones de Granada from the US conglomerate General 
Dynamics. The speed of the transaction completion 
depends on the limitations in connection with COVID-19.

b)	Other changes in the Group
In the period between 31 December 2019 and the date of 
preparation of the consolidated annual report, the follow-
ing changes took place within the Group’s structure:
/	 6 February 2020 
	� CSG transferred 100% of the shares of VALUE SPV a. s. to 

CE Power Industries a. s.;
/	 10 February 2020 
	� CSG purchased 100% of the shares of MACHINERY SPV 

a. s. (currently CSG EXPORT a. s.) from Mr Michal Strnad;
/	 28 February 2020 
	� CSG transferred its 50% share in anji s. r. o. to JT CAPITAL 

a. s.;
/	 �1 March 2020 

CSG sold 100% shares of Rosco Bohemia a. s. to CE 
Industries a. s.;

/	� 9 March 2020 
a transfer of the shares of Skyport a. s. between CSG a. s. 
and CSG AUTOMOTIVE a. s. was settled when CSG a. s. 
increased its share in Skyport a. s. to 88.88%;

/	� 13 March 2020 
CSG purchased a 100% share in TRUCK SERVICE GROUP 
s. r. o. from Mr Jaroslav Strnad;

/	 �31 March 2020 
10% of the shares of TATRA DEFENCE VEHICLE a. s. were 
sold to Sages Consulting a. s.;

/	 �31 March 2020 
CSG sold 100% of the shares of SPV REAL ESTATE a. s. to 
BlackBird Real Estate s. r. o.;

/	� March 2020 
part of the business share of STA TECHNOLOGY, s. r. o. 
was transferred to a company under SST Aersopace, LLC 
(USA); and

/	� March 2020 
a 97.5% share in TRADITION CS a. s. was transferred 
from CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. to CSG AEROSPACE 
a. s. (transfer within the Group).

c)	 Other subsequent events
The Group is implementing a merger project with the 
aim of merging the parent company Czechoslovak Group 
B.V. with CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. as the successor 
company. The estimated effective day of the merger is 
1 January 2020. The most critical subsequent event with 
a global impact is the pandemic of COVID-19 which, in 
the territory of the Czech and Slovak Republics where 
the majority of companies within the Group operate, 
had unprecedented impacts on the community and the 
business sphere.
In compliance with the recommendations issued by the 
relevant authorities (European Securities and Markets 
Authority) and significant institutions (e.g. leading audit 
companies), the Group summarises the impacts of the 
current situation. The below-mentioned information 
corresponds to the moment when it is processed, which 
is 15 April 2020.
The Group describes the above event as non-adjust-
ing pursuant to IAS 10 with respect to the fact that the 
outbreak of COVID-19 was declared a pandemic by the 
WHO as late as in March 2020. In this context, with a few 
exceptions, the current accounting policies and valuation 
methods are not modified, the useful life and impairment 
of tangible assets and the valuation of goodwill and other 
intangible assets as well as the saleability and valuation 
of inventories is not altered. The assumptions concerning 
the recoverability and valuation of receivables remain 
unchanged.
The following categories are not affected: recognition 
of potential government support (IAS 20), changes in 
income tax liabilities (IAS 12), modifications in repayments 
of credit liabilities (if any), impacts on the reporting of 
revenue from contracts with customers (IFRS 15), etc. The 
management of the reporting entity deems the current 
situation temporary and assumes its normalisation within 
weeks. Subsequently, it expects a gradual recovery of the 
economic activity. Although it may not reach the level 
that existed before the announcement of the pandemic 
(e.g. in the aircraft industry), the Group does not expect 
a major drop in the order volume. In certain specific cases, 
payments from clients may be delayed with an impact 
on the amount of allowances for receivables in the future. 
With regard to the above-mentioned facts, the manage-
ment does not quantify potential impacts. 

Going concern
The assumption of the impact on the Company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern under IAS 1 is essential. 
On this issue, it should be reaffirmed that at the time of 
the preparation of the annual report (March–April 2020), 
the situation developed in a way that was difficult to 
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CSG a. s. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full -- -- --

Skyport a. s. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full -- -- --

Skyport Catering s. r. o. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full -- -- --

SPV REAL ESTATE a. s. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full -- -- --

VALUE SPV a. s. Czech 
Republic 100.00% Direct Full -- -- --

*Unconsolidated entities – these entities are immaterial in the Group’s consolidated financial statements; both on the 
individual and aggregate bases. 
**Indirect ownership percentage means an ownership percentage controlled by way of the management rather than by 
shares. Other types of ownership percentages are referred to as direct. 

The list in the table above is structured based on the ownership of entities at different levels in the Group.
 
Transactions with the key management of the CSG Group
Remuneration to the key management of the CSG Group are disclosed in Note 9 – Staff Costs.

36. Legal Disputes
CSG is a party in an ongoing legal dispute initiated by the 
American company SARN SD3 LLC (“SARN”), represented 
by a US-based pair of lobbyists from Washington, D.C. On 
13 December 2017, SARN filed a civil action against CSG 
at the Delaware Supreme Court and the case is filed as 
SARN SD3 LLC vs. Czechoslovak Group a. s., file no. N17C-
12-185 EMD (CCLD). The plaintiff states that CSG allegedly 
breached the Purchase Option Agreement between 
SARN and the Issuer of 7 October 2016 concerning 
a minority investment of SARN in a subsidiary of CSG, i.e. 
RETIA a. s. (“RETIA”) by failing to make a specific payment 
(contractual penalty) as set in the Agreement in the event 
of a change of control over RETIA or by breaching the 

contractual “fiduciary obligation” to seek to increase the 
value of RETIA following the conclusion of the aforestated 
Purchase Option Agreement.
SARN’s claim based on the alleged breach of the contrac-
tual fiduciary obligation to increase the value of RETIA as 
calculated by the plaintiff amounts to USD 108.8 mil-
lion, i.e. exceeding CZK 2.7 billion. CSG believes that this 
demand and the alleged claim of SARN in this respect 
are speculative, coercive and have absolutely no factual 
or legal justification. SARN has not provided evidence or 
statements to justify or prove the amount of such damage. 
The Company strongly objects against all statements and 
strongly asserts its claim against SARN. In the legal dis-
pute, the Company is represented by the law firm Dentons 
in Prague and Washington, D.C.
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with clients or other obligations. This disruption may be 
characterised by a (temporary) shortage of certain com-
modities. In the case of non-unique supplies, the situation 
can be dealt with by substitutes. For unique supplies, it is 
necessary to consider technological procedures, technical 
solutions, etc.

Labour force risk
In view of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, there is a risk 
of shortage in connection with possible government 
measures, which may have the character of temporary 
closures of selected areas or other restrictions. There is 
also a risk of transmission of infection and the associated 
shortage of larger groups of employees affecting the 
functioning of the companies. 

All companies take steps to reduce the above-listed risks 
in the form of combined measures as recommended by 
the government and professional institutions.

Liquidity risk
In the context of the economic effects of the pandemic, 
there is a risk that creditor institutions will change their 
approach to clients. As a result, the initially agreed credit 
frameworks may be changed or additional collateral may 
be required. The Group continuously communicates with 
key partners.

Opinion of the reporting entity’s management 
regarding the going concern assumption
The management of the reporting entity considered the 
potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on its activi-
ties and concluded that it has no significant effect on the 
assumption of the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. The consolidated financial statements were 
prepared in this respect.

predict. Most likely, the pandemic of COVID-19 may cause 
a global slowdown or decline in economic development, 
the extent of which cannot be estimated or predicted at 
this time. 
From the perspective of the Group’s companies, the 
assumption of the companies’ ability to continue as 
a going concern is mainly conditional on the following:
	 /	� Order volume – ability of the companies to enter 

into contracts or sell services and products 
(impact on the stabilisation of the companies, 
preserving employment, keeping prosperity of the 
companies);

	 /	� Risk of counterparties – customers – ability of 
customers to meet their contractual liabilities, i.e. 
mainly to pay for the delivered goods and services 
(impact on the cash flow of the Group);

	 /	� Supply chain risk – risks related to the supply of goods 
and services necessary for the proper functioning of 
the companies (impact on the execution of orders on 
time and productivity of the companies);

	 /	� Labour force risk – sufficient human capital to carry 
out activities of the companies (impact on the 
prosperity of the companies); and

	 /	� Liquidity risk – ability of the companies to finance 
their activities (and, if necessary, their investments), 
the possibility of covering unexpected interruption 
of revenue or unforeseen expenses (impact on the 
stabilisation of the companies).

Order volume and customer risk
In terms of order volumes (sales) and counterparty/cus-
tomer risk, it is essential to divide the activities according 
to the main segment. Within the Group, the segments are 
divided as follows for the purpose of this analysis:
	 /	 Aircraft industry services;
	 /	 Defence industry;
	 /	 Transport segment (automotive and railway); and
	 /	 Other segments.

AEROSPACE
The current situation has significantly affected public air 
transport, with most flights being restricted or cancelled. 
In connection with a lower volume of traffic, a lower 
demand for service can also be expected on the one 
hand, on the other hand, the airlines can use this situation 
for aircraft service. New opportunities may also arise, 
e.g. transfer control when returning machines to lessors.
Overall, the Group anticipates a shift in orders over time. 
At the same time, it is possible that some carriers will 
cease their activities or fail economically to withstand the 
current situation. 
From the point of view of products related to air transport 
management (management systems), we do not expect 
major changes, as air traffic safety is a priority at the 
national level.

Defence
We do not expect major changes in the defence industry 
segment, where state institutions are usually a key cus-
tomer, even if the world economy decreases significantly. 
On the one hand, countries will face budget deficits, but 
for most countries, external security is one of the prior-
ities. A time shift in implementation is therefore more 
probable.
We will temporarily face possible logistic limitations with 
an impact on the supply of goods, as well as problems in 
negotiating (mainly foreign) orders due to cancelled trade 
fairs and limited travel opportunities.

Transport
The transport segment in the Group represents both 
part of the railway transport and (freight) car transport. 
At present, it is not possible to clearly estimate future 
developments in this segment. From the perspective of 
large rail clients, we do not expect major changes. In the 
case of the automotive part, the situation will depend 
on developments in the sectors where clients operate. 
A more significant long-term decline may shift some 
planned investments. 
Supply chains may experience problems, mainly suppliers 
from Southern Europe. Nevertheless, at present the situ-
ation appears stabilised and key suppliers are gradually 
resuming production. 

Other
In the last part, it is worth mentioning primarily the sales 
to retail clients (passenger cars including service, con-
sumer goods). The pandemic has significantly affected 
distribution channels, since sales in permanent stores 
(with certain exceptions) have been banned and alterna-
tive distribution channels do not fully compensate for this 
outage (especially given the nature of the goods sold). In 
this context, we anticipate a time shift in demand, both 
for households and selected business customers. In case 
of an extremely unfavourable development of the eco-
nomic situation (rise in unemployment), households may 
also defer some significant investments (e.g. in means 
of transport).

Ability of customers to meet their contractual 
obligations
In this part, the essential aspect is the ability of custom-
ers to fulfil their contractual obligations, i.e. to receive 
the agreed quantity of products and services and fulfil 
the payment conditions. In this context, credit scoring of 
customers and related changes in financing of business 
cases and/or collateral will play a greater role.

Supply chains
The risk of supply chain disruption may affect the ability 
of Group companies to meet obligations from contracts 
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For the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018

Statement of 
Comprehensive Income

C Z K  T H O U S A N D
N O T E

F O R  T H E  Y E A R  E N D E D

3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9

F O R  T H E  Y E A R  E N D E D

3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 8

Service costs 5 -50,964 -100,516

Other operating income 6 956 1,457

Other operating expense 6 -28,526 -24,135

Loss from operating activities -78,534 -123,194

Financial income 7 694,931 634,345

Financial expense 7 -187,889 -195,651

Profit (+) / loss (-) from the sale of investments 8 26,990 397,126

Profit from financing activities 534,032 835,820

Profit (+) / loss (-) before taxation 455,498 712,626

Income tax 9 -31,701 -1,439

Net profit (+) / loss (-) from continuing ope-
rations 423,797 711,187

Other comprehensive income

Interest-rate advantage on a non-interest 
bearing loan 15 184 -68,268

Other comprehensive income 184 -68,268

Total other comprehensive income 423 981 642,919

The notes to the financial statements form an inseparable part of these financial statements.

For the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018

Statement of 
Financial Position

C Z K  T H O U S A N D N O T E 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 8

Assets

Investments in subsidiaries 10 4,069,657 4,020,050

Investments in associates 10 105,849 104,212

Loans and other non-current financial assets 11 61,866 110,632

Trade and other long-term receivables 12 -- 33,743

Deferred tax asset 19 2,028 77

Total non-current assets 4,239,400 4,268,714

Trade and other short-term receivables 12 1,097,337 995,162

Loans and other short-term financial assets 11 4,120,659 2,393,600

Tax receivables arising from the current inco-
me tax payable 13 -- 1,106

Cash and cash equivalents 14 9,828 63,830

Total current assets 5,227,824 3,453,698

Total assets 9,467,224 7,722,412

F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S  F O R  T H E  Y E A R  E N D E D  3 1   D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9  P R E P A R E D 
U N D E R  I N T E R N A T I O N A L  F I N A N C I A L  R E P O R T I N G  S T A N D A R D S  ( I F R S )  A S  A D O P T E D  B Y  T H E  E U

F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S  F O R  T H E  Y E A R  E N D E D  3 1   D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9  P R E P A R E D 
U N D E R  I N T E R N A T I O N A L  F I N A N C I A L  R E P O R T I N G  S T A N D A R D S  ( I F R S )  A S  A D O P T E D  B Y  T H E  E U
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C Z K  T H O U S A N D N O T E 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 8

Equity

Share capital 15 2,000 2,000

Other reserves 15 3,228,638 3,228,454

Retained earnings including profit (loss) for 
the current period 1,275,900 854,132

Total equity 4,506,538 4,084,586

Liabilities

Long-term loans and borrowings 16 243,750 228,192

Long-term financial instruments and financial 
payables 16 66,700 67,177

Bonds and bills of exchange 17 2,944,313 2,066,109

Total non-current liabilities 3,254,763 2,361,478

Short-term loans and borrowings 16 1,127,521 710,528

Short-term financial instruments and financial 
payables 16 31,663 56,456

Trade and other short-term payables 18 510,419 495,952

Short-term provisions -- 5,967

Tax payables arising from the current income 
tax payable 13 27,737 --

Bonds – short-term portion 17 8,583 7,444

Total current liabilities 1,705,923 1,276,348

Total liabilities 4,960,686 3,637,826

Total equity and liabilities 9,467,224 7,722,412

The notes to the financial statements form an inseparable part of these financial statements.

For the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2019

Statement of 
Changes in Equity
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Balance at 1 January 2018 15 2 000 2 345 211 147 413 2 494 623

Total comprehensive income for the year:

Profit for the year -- -- 711 187 711 187

Initial application of IFRS 9 (net) -- -- -1 996 -1 996

Other movements 15 -- -- -2 473 -2 473

Other comprehensive income -- -68 286 -- -68 286

Total comprehensive income for the year -- -68 286 706 718 638 450

Transactions with shareholders and MI 15 -- 951 511 -- 951 511

Total transactions with shareholders 883 243 706 718 1 589 961

Balance at 31 December 2018 15 2 000 3 228 454 854 131 4 084 584

Total comprehensive income for the year:

Profit for the year -- -- 423 797 423 797

Remeasurement - other comprehensive 
income -- 184 -- 184

Other movements -2 028 -2 028

Total comprehensive income for the year -- 184 421 769 421 953

Balance at 31 December 2019 15 2 000 3 228 638 1 275 900 4 506 538

The notes to the financial statements form an inseparable part of these financial statements.

F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S  F O R  T H E  Y E A R  E N D E D  3 1   D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9  P R E P A R E D 
U N D E R  I N T E R N A T I O N A L  F I N A N C I A L  R E P O R T I N G  S T A N D A R D S  ( I F R S )  A S  A D O P T E D  B Y  T H E  E U

F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S  F O R  T H E  Y E A R  E N D E D  3 1   D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9  P R E P A R E D 
U N D E R  I N T E R N A T I O N A L  F I N A N C I A L  R E P O R T I N G  S T A N D A R D S  ( I F R S )  A S  A D O P T E D  B Y  T H E  E U



1 7 5V Ý R O Č N Í  Z P R Á V A  2 0 1 9C Z E C H O S L O V A K  G R O U P ,   A .   S .1 7 4

F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
 P

A
R

T

1010

F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
 P

A
R

T

1 7 5A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 9C Z E C H O S L O V A K  G R O U P   A .   S .1 7 4

For the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018

Statement of 
Cash Flows
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CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net profit (+) / loss (-) for the year 423,797 711,187

Adjustments for:

Profit (-) /loss (+) from the sale of investments 8 -26,990 -396,802

Net interest income (-) / expense (+) 7 49,506 56,846

Recognition (+) / release (-) of allowances and provisions 6 752 20,885

Dividend income 7 -452,118 -519,913

Income tax 9 31,701 1,439

Profit (-) / loss (+) from derivative financial instruments -75,063 65,799

 Operating profit before movements in working capital -48,415 -60,559

Increase (-) / decrease (+) in trade and other receivables -625,491 -145,275

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in trade and other payables 206,430 29,579

Cash generated by operations -467,476 -176,255

Interest paid -159,675 -83,462

Income taxes paid -4,852 -4,834

Net cash from operating activities -632,003 -264,551

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Acquisition of investments in subsidiaries 10 -311,398 -132,741

Acquisition of investments in associates 10 -1,637 -1,000

Income from the sale of investments 697,185 11,771

Dividends received 447,572 391,105

Provided loans -4,085,490 -1,475,091

Repayment of provided loans 2,704,597 1,562,869

Interest received 50,120 64,682

Net cash (used in)/from investing activities -499,051 421,595
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CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from borrowings 1,125,618 983,853

Repayments of borrowings -910,838 -1,422,708

Proceeds on bond placements 17 1,976,000 170,000

Costs related to bond placements -28,728 --

Repayment of bonds -1,085,000 --

Net cash (used in)/from financing activities 1,077,052 -268,855

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents -54,002 -111,811

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 14 63,830 175,641

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 14 9,828 63,830

F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S  F O R  T H E  Y E A R  E N D E D  3 1   D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9  P R E P A R E D 
U N D E R  I N T E R N A T I O N A L  F I N A N C I A L  R E P O R T I N G  S T A N D A R D S  ( I F R S )  A S  A D O P T E D  B Y  T H E  E U

F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S  F O R  T H E  Y E A R  E N D E D  3 1   D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9  P R E P A R E D 
U N D E R  I N T E R N A T I O N A L  F I N A N C I A L  R E P O R T I N G  S T A N D A R D S  ( I F R S )  A S  A D O P T E D  B Y  T H E  E U
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Notes to the 
Financial Statements

1. Description of the Company
CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. (the “Company” or “CSG”) 
is a joint stock company formed in compliance with the 
legal regulations of the Czech Republic on 13 October 2014. 
Its registered office is located at Sokolovská 675/9, Karlín, 
186 00 Prague 8. The Company changed its name from 
EXCALIBUR GROUP a. s. to CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a.s, 
and the change was adopted and recorded in the Czech 
Register of Companies on 14 January 2016.
As of 1 January 2015, CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. merged 
with EXCALIBUR ARMY CZ a. s. and EXCALIBUR INDUS-
TRY a. s., the successor company being CZECHOSLOVAK 
GROUP a. s. 

As of 1 January 2016, CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. merged 
with LOGEKO a. s., the successor company being CZECHO-
SLOVAK GROUP a. s. 
The financial statements of the Company were prepared 
for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 31 December 
2018. These financial statements are unconsolidated sepa-
rate financial statements.
The Company’s principal activities include production, 
trade and services not listed in Appendices 1–3 to the Trade 
Licencing Act.

As of 31 December 2019, the ultimate owner was Michal Strnad.
On 26 January 2018, Mr Jaroslav Strnad transferred his 100% investment in Czechoslovak Group B.V. to Mr Michal Strnad, 
whereby the latter became the sole shareholder of the Czechoslovak Group, which also includes CZECHOSLOVAK 
GROUP a. s. The transfer was made through a donation contract.

Composition of the Supervisory Board as of 31 December 2019:
	 /	 Tomáš Hasman	 (Member of the Supervisory Board)
	 /	 Marián Goga	 (Member of the Supervisory Board)
	 /	 Rudolf Bureš	 (Member of the Supervisory Board)

C Z K  ‘ 0 0 0 E Q U I T Y  I N V E S T M E N T  ( % ) V O T I N G  R I G H T S  ( % )

Czechoslovak Group B.V. 2,000 100 100

Total 2,000 100 100

As of 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, the Company’s sole shareholder is:

Composition of the Board of Directors as of 31 December 2019:
	 /	 Michal Strnad	 (Chairperson of the Board of Directors)
	 /	 Ilona Kadlecová	 (Member of the Board of Directors)
	 /	 Petr Formánek	 (Member of the Board of Directors)

2. Basis of Preparation of the 
Financial Statements
a)	 Statement of Compliance
These financial statements have been prepared in com-
pliance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
containing International Accounting Standards (IAS) 
promulgated by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB) and interpretations issued by the IASB’s Inter-
national Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 
(IFRIC) as adopted by the European Union, and with Czech 
legislative requirements, as the unconsolidated financial 
statements. The consolidated financial statements are 
part of the annual report in which these unconsolidated 
financial statements are included. The financial statements 
give a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position 
as of 31 December 2019. The Board of Directors approved 
the financial statements on 24 April 2020.

b)	Measurement Method
These financial statements were prepared under the 
going concern assumption and the historical cost (amor-
tised cost) convention, with the exception of the following 
material statement of financial position items, which are 
carried at fair value:
	 /	 Derivative financial instruments.

c)	 Functional and Presentation Currencies
The financial statements are presented in Czech crowns 
(“CZK”). All financial information presented in Czech 
crowns is rounded to the nearest thousand, unless stated 
otherwise. The presentation currency is the Czech crown. 

d)	Use of Estimates and Judgement
In preparing these financial statements in compliance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards, man-
agement is required to make certain critical accounting 
estimates that affect the reported balances of assets, 
liabilities, income and expense. In applying the Compa-
ny’s accounting policies, management is also required to 
make assumptions based on its own judgement. Due to 
their nature, the resulting accounting estimate are rarely 
equal to the relevant actual results.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed 
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 

are recognised in the period in which the estimate is 
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the 
period of the revision and future periods if the revision 
affects both current and future periods.
Information on the estimates and critical judgement 
used in applying accounting policies that have the most 
significant effect on the balances reported in the financial 
statements are disclosed in the following Notes:
	 /	 Note 3 (b), (c), (d)
		  Measurement of financial instruments
	 /	 Note 25 
		  Legal disputes

e)	� Adoption of new and revised International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)

I.	 Newly adopted standards, amendments to stan-
dards and interpretations effective for the year ended 
31 December 2019 applied in preparing the Company’s 
financial statements
In the current year, the Company has applied all changes 
to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
effective from 1 January 2019 that are mandatory and 
concern the Company’s activities. The impact of the appli-
cation of these new and amended IFRSs on the financial 
statements of the Company is specified below.

IFRS 16 Leases (effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2019)
In 2019, the Company adopted IFRS 16 Leases (issued on 13 
January 2016) which is effective for annual periods begin-
ning on or after 1 January 2019. 
IFRS 16 specifies how an IFRS reporter will recognise, mea-
sure, present and disclose leases. 
The standard significantly changes the accounting 
treatment of leases from the perspective of the lessee by 
eliminating the distinction between finance leases and 
operating leases. The standard provides a single lessee 
accounting model, requiring lessees, at the beginning of 
the lease term, to recognise right-of-use assets and the 
aggregate amount of lease liabilities unless the lease term 
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is 12 months or less or the underlying asset has a low value. 
Lessors continue to classify leases as operating or finance, 
with IFRS 16’s approach to lessor accounting substantially 
unchanged from its predecessor, IAS 17. During 2019 and 
2018, the Company did not identify any lease agreements 
where it would act as the lessor.
The date of initial application of IFRS 16 is 1 January 2019. 
Defined transition options allow the Company to use a 
modified retrospective approach and not to recalculate 
comparable data retrospectively. In the period from 1 
January 2019 to 31 December 2019, the Company did not 
identify any lease agreement to which IFRS 16 would apply. 

IFRIC 23 – Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments (effec-
tive for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021)
The interpretation clarifies how to apply the requirements 
for recognition and measurement pursuant to IAS 12 
Income Taxes when there is uncertainty over income 
tax treatments. The interpretation primarily addresses: 
a) whether the reporting entity assess uncertain tax 
treatments individually; b) the assumptions made by the 
entity regarding the review of tax procedures preformed 
by taxation authorities; c) how the reporting entity deter-
mines taxable income (tax loss), tax bases, accumulated 
tax losses, unused tax deductions and tax rates; and d) 
how the reporting entity reflects changes in facts and 
circumstances. This amendment does not have a material 
impact on the Company’s financial statements. 

IFRS 9 (amendments) – Prepayment Features with 
Negative Compensation (effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2019)
The amendments address the concerns about the recog-
nition of particular prepayable financial assets. The con-
cerns primarily related to how the entity would classify 
and measure a debt instrument if the debtor was allowed 
to repay the instrument in advance for an amount that 
would be lower than the amount of outstanding principal 
and interest. The prepayment is frequently referred to as 
containing “negative compensation”. In applying IFRS 9, 
the entity would measure the financial asset with nega-
tive compensation at fair value through profit or loss.
The amendment allows reporting entities to state certain 
prepayable financial assets with negative compensations 
at amortised cost. This amendment does not have a 
material impact on the Company’s financial statements. 

IAS 28 (amendments) - Long-term Interests in Associates 
and Joint Ventures (effective for annual periods begin-
ning on or after 1 January 2019)
The amendment clarifies that IFRS 9, including its impair-
ment requirements, applies to long-term interests in 
associates or joint ventures that are part of a net invest-
ment in an associate or a joint venture but that are not 
subject to the equity method. 

This amendment does not have a material impact on the 
Company’s financial statements.

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015–2017 
Cycle (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2019) 
The Annual Improvements (2015–2017) include amend-
ments to four Standards. They primarily include the 
following changes:
	 /	� Clarification that when an entity obtains control 

of a business that is a joint operation, it remea-
sures previously held interests in that business 
in line with IFRS 3 Business Combinations;

	 /	� Clarification that when an entity obtains joint 
control of a business that is a joint operation, 
it remeasures previously held interests in that 
business in line with IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements;

	 /	� Clarification that an entity should recognise 
the income tax consequences of dividends in 
profit or loss, other comprehensive income or 
equity according to where the entity originally 
recognised the transactions that generated the 
profits to be distributed; and

	 /	� Clarification that if any specific borrowing 
remains outstanding after the related asset is 
ready for its intended use or sale, that borrow-
ing becomes part of the funds that an entity 
borrows generally when calculating the capital-
isation rate on general borrowings.

This amendment does not have a material impact on the 
Company’s financial statements.

II.	 Standards and amendments to standards in issue 
not yet effective and applicable to the Company’s finan-
cial statements
Several new standards and amendments to standards 
have not become effective as of 31 December 2019 and 
have not been applied in preparing these financial state-
ments. For a list of those that may affect the Company’s 
activities, refer to below. The Company is planning to 
implement these provisions as soon as they become 
effective.

a) Amendments to the existing standards already 
adopted for use in the EU 
Amendments to IAS 1 Presentations of Financial 
Statements and IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in 
Accounting Estimates and Errors (effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020)
The amendments apply to the definition of materiality, 
with the new definition adding other aspects for the cor-
rect assessment such as obscuring information. The exist-
ing version of the definition merely includes the omitting 

or misstating of information even though obscuring 
information may have a completely identical impact. Fur-
thermore, the amendments specify the aspects of “could 
influence” and “primary users of financial statements”.
The Company anticipates that the amendments will not 
have significant effects on the financial statements upon 
initial application or during the new assessment given the 
addition of aspects for assessment.

Amendments to References to the Conceptual Frame-
work (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2020)
On 29 March 2018, the International Accounting Stan-
dards Board (IASB) published its amended Conceptual 
Framework for Financial Reporting, which became effec-
tive as of the publication date.
The Conceptual Framework is used by the IASB primarily 
as an aid in the development of IFRS. The framework may 
also be a good aid for entities reporting pursuant to IFRS 
if there are no specific or similar standards dealing with 
the relevant matter.
The IASB also published a document entitled “Amend-
ments to References to the Conceptual Framework”, 
which contains subsequent amendments to the relevant 
standards to ensure that the standards refer to the new 
Conceptual Framework. These amendments are effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.
The Company anticipates that the amendments will not 
have significant effects on the financial statements upon 
initial application.

b) Standards and amendments to standards not yet 
adopted for use in the EU
Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations (effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020)
The amendments primarily apply to extending the defini-
tion of a “business” and its differentiation from a “group of 
assets”. This amendment will not have a material impact 
on the Company’s financial statements.

IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (amendments) – Sale or Contribution 
of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint 
Venture (the effective date has been postponed indefi-
nitely by the IASB)
The amendments address an inconsistency between 
the requirements in IFRS 10 and those in IAS 28 in 
dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between 

an investor and its associate or joint venture. The main 
consequence of the amendments is that a full gain or 
loss is recognised when a transaction involves a business 
(whether it is housed in a subsidiary or not). A partial gain 
or loss is recognised when a transaction involves assets 
that do not constitute a business, even if these assets are 
housed in a subsidiary.
The Company anticipates that the amendments will not 
have significant effects on the financial statements upon 
initial application.

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2021)
IFRS 17 supersedes IFRS 4, which was issued as an interim 
standard in 2004. IFRS 4 allowed companies to continue 
to account for insurance contracts according to national 
accounting standards, as a result of which many different 
approaches were applied.
IFRS 17 addresses the comparability issues caused by 
IFRS 4 by requiring all insurance contracts to be treated 
uniformly, to the benefit of both investors and insurance 
companies. Insurance liabilities will be recognised at 
current values, not at historical cost.
This new standard will not have a material impact on the 
presentation of the financial statements when initially 
applied as the Company does not operate in the insur-
ance sector.

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as 
Current or Non-Current (effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2022)
The amendments to IAS 1 affect only the presentation 
of liabilities in the statement of financial position — not 
the amount or timing of recognition of any asset, liability, 
income or expenses, or the information that entities dis-
close about those items. The amendments clarify that the 
classification of liabilities as current or non-current should 
be based on rights that are in existence at the end of the 
reporting period.
The Company anticipates that the amendments will not 
have significant effects on the financial statements upon 
initial application.
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3. Significant Accounting 
Policies
a)	 Foreign Currencies
Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the 
functional currency of the Company using the exchange 
rate valid as of the date of transaction.
Cash assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are 
translated to Czech crowns using the exchange rate pro-
mulgated by the Czech National Bank. Non-cash assets 
and liabilities in foreign currencies that are reported at 
historical costs are translated to the functional currency 
using the exchange rate valid as of the transaction date. 
Exchange rate gains and losses arising from the trans-
lation of foreign currencies are reported as profit or loss. 
However, this does not apply to exchange rate gains and 
losses arising from the revaluation of realisable capital 
instruments (with the exception of impairment, where 
exchange rate gains and losses recognised in other 
comprehensive income will be reported through profit 
or loss), financial instruments intended for hedging a net 
investment in cross-border activities or cash flow hedging 
instruments (meeting the applicable conditions) up to the 
amount of the effective hedge. Such gains and losses are 
reported through other comprehensive income.
Overview of primary exchange rates valid for the report-
ing period is included in Note 23 to the financial state-
ments – Risk Management Methods and Disclosures.

b)	Financial Instruments – Derivatives
Financial assets and financial liabilities are reported in the 
Company’s statement of financial position if the Company 
becomes a party to contractual provisions concerning 
the instrument. Financial assets and financial liabilities 
are initially measured at fair value. Transaction expenses 
that are directly related to the acquisition or issuing of 
financial assets and financial liabilities (with the excep-
tion of financial assets and financial liabilities measured 
at fair value through profit or loss) increase or decrease 
the fair value on initial recognition in the corresponding 
amount. Transaction expenses that are directly related to 
the acquisition of financial assets and financial liabilities 
measured at fair value through profit or loss are reported 
directly to profit or loss.

c)	 Financial Assets
All purchases or sales of financial assets with the regular 
type of acquisition are reported and recognised as of 
the date of conclusion of the transaction. A purchase or 
sale with the regular type of acquisition is a purchase or 
sale of a financial asset that requires the delivery of the 
asset within a timeframe set by a regulation or market 
agreement.

All reported financial assets are subsequently remea-
sured as a whole either at amortised cost or at fair value, 
depending on their classification.

Classification of financial assets
Debt securities that meet the following conditions are 
measured at amortised cost:
	 /	� The financial asset is held within a business model 

whose objective is to hold financial assets in order 
to collect contractual cash flows; and

	 /	� The contractual conditions of the financial asset 
stipulate specific dates of cash flows generated 
exclusively by payments of principal and interest 
on the unpaid amount of principal.

As standard, all other financial assets are subsequently 
remeasured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).

I.	 Amortised cost and effective interest rate method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating 
interest income over the relevant period.
For financial assets other than purchased or originated 
credit-impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are 
credit-impaired on initial recognition), the effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts (including all fees and interest paid 
or received that form an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or 
discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through the 
expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropri-
ate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the 
debt instrument on initial recognition. For purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets, a credit-ad-
justed effective interest rate is calculated by discounting 
the estimated future cash flows, including expected 
credit losses, to the amortised cost of the debt instrument 
on initial recognition. 
The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at 
which the financial asset is measured at initial recognition 
minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative 
amortisation using the effective interest method of any 
difference between that initial amount and the matu-
rity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. The gross 
carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost 
of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance. 
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest 
method for debt instruments measured subsequently at 
amortised cost and at FVTOCI. For financial assets other 
than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial 
assets, interest income is calculated by applying the 

effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of 
a financial asset, except for financial assets that have 
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For 
financial assets that have subsequently become cred-
it-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the 
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the finan-
cial asset. If, in subsequent reporting periods, the credit 
risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves 
so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, 
interest income is recognised by applying the effective 
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial 
asset. For purchased or originated credit-impaired finan-
cial assets, the Company recognises interest income by 
applying the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the 
amortised cost of the financial asset from initial recog-
nition. The calculation does not revert to the gross basis 
even if the credit risk of the financial asset subsequently 
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-im-
paired. 
Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is 
included in the “finance income – interest income” line 
item (Note 7).

II.	 Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being 
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI (see I. to III. above) 
are measured at FVTPL. Specifically:
	 /	� Investments in equity instruments are classified 

as at FVTPL, unless the Company designates an 
equity investment that is neither held for trading 
nor a contingent consideration arising from a busi-
ness combination as at FVTOCI on initial recogni-
tion (see III. above).

	 /	� Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised 
cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are classified as 
at FVTPL. In addition, debt instruments that meet 
either the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI 
criteria may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial 
recognition if such designation eliminates or sig-
nificantly reduces a measurement or recognition 
inconsistency (so called ‘accounting mismatch’) 
that would arise from measuring assets or liabilities 
or recognising the gains and losses on them on 
different bases. The Company has not designated 
any debt instruments as FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the 
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or 
losses recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are 
not part of a designated hedging relationship (see hedge 
accounting policy). The net gain or loss recognised in 
profit or loss includes any dividend or interest earned on 
the financial asset and is included in the ‘other gains and 
losses’ line item (Note 12). Fair value is determined in the 
manner described in Note 4.

III.	 Foreign exchange gains and losses
The carrying amount of financial assets that are denomi-
nated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign 
currency and translated at the spot rate at the end of 
each reporting period. Specifically: 

	 /	� for financial assets measured at amortised cost 
that are not part of a designated hedging relation-
ship, exchange differences are recognised in profit 
or loss in the ‘Financial income and expenses’ line 
item (Note 7); and

	 /	� for financial assets measured at FVTPL that are 
not part of a designated hedging relationship, 
exchange differences are recognised in profit or 
loss in the ‘Financial income and expenses’.

Impairment of financial assets
The Company recognises a loss allowance for expected 
credit losses on investments in debt instruments that 
are measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI, lease 
receivables, trade receivables and contract assets, as 
well as on financial guarantee contracts. The amount of 
expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date 
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognitionof 
the respective financial instrument. The Company always 
recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables, contract 
assets and lease receivables. The expected credit losses 
on these financial assets are estimated using an individ-
ual assessment of each debtor using rating, knowledge 
of the debtor and the Company’s historical experience 
with each individual debtor. The allowance is additionally 
expanded using factors that are specific to the debtors, 
general economic conditions and an assessment of both 
the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions 
at the reporting date, including time value of money 
where appropriate. 
For all other financial instruments, the Company 
recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a sig-
nificant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. 
However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument has 
not increased significantly since initial recognition, the 
Company measures the loss allowance for that financial 
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.
Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses 
that will result from all possible default events over 
the expected life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 
12– month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that 
is expected to result from default events on a financial 
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the 
reporting date.

I.	 Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instru-
ment has increased significantly since initial recognition, 
the Company compares the risk of a default occurring 
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on the financial instrument at the reporting date with the 
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at 
the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, 
the Company considers both quantitative and qualitative 
information that is reasonable and supportable, including 
historical experience and forward-looking information that 
is available without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking 
information considered includes the future prospects of 
the industries in which the Company’s debtors operate, 
obtained from economic expert reports, financial analysts, 
governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other 
similar organisations, as well as consideration of various 
external sources of actual and forecast economic informa-
tion that relate to the Company’s core operations.
In particular, the following information is taken into 
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased 
significantly since initial recognition:
	 /	� an actual or expected significant deterioration in 

the financial instrument’s external (if available) or 
internal credit rating;

	 /	� significant deterioration in external market 
indicators of credit risk for a particular financial 
instrument, e.g. a significant increase in the credit 
spread, the credit default swap prices for the 
debtor, or the length of time or the extent to which 
the fair value of a financial asset has been less than 
its amortised cost;

	 /	� existing or forecast adverse changes in business, 
financial or economic conditions that are expected 
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s abil-
ity to meet its debt obligations;

	 /	� an actual or expected significant deterioration in 
the operating results of the debtor;

	 /	� significant increases in credit risk on other financial 
instruments of the same debtor;

	 /	� an actual or expected significant adverse change 
in the regulatory, economic, or technological envi-
ronment of the debtor that results in a significant 
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt 
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, 
the Company presumes that the credit risk on a financial 
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition 
when contractual payments are more than 90 days past 
due, unless the Company has reasonable and supportable 
information that demonstrates otherwise.
Despite the foregoing, the Company assumes that the 
credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition if the financial instru-

ment is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting 
date. A financial instrument is determined to have low 
credit risk if:
	 1)	 The financial instrument has a low risk of default,
	 2)	� The debtor has a strong capacity to meet its con-

tractual cash flow obligations in the near term, and
	 3)	� Adverse changes in economic and business condi-

tions in the longer term may, but will not neces-
sarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its 
contractual cash flow obligations.

The Company considers a financial asset to have low credit 
risk when the asset has external credit rating of ‘invest-
ment grade’ in accordance with the globally understood 
definition or if an external rating is not available, the asset 
has an internal rating of ‘performing’. Performing means 
that the counterparty has a strong financial position and 
there is no past due amounts.
The Company regularly monitors the effectiveness of the 
criteria used to identify whether there has been a signifi-
cant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate 
to ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying signif-
icant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes 
past due.

II.	 Definition of default
The Company considers the following as constituting 
an event of default for internal credit risk management 
purposes as historical experience indicates that financial 
assets that meet either of the following criteria are gener-
ally not recoverable:
	 /	� when there is a breach of financial covenants by 

the debtor; or
	 /	� information developed internally or obtained 

from external sources indicates that the debtor 
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the 
Company, in full (without taking into account any 
collateral held by the Company).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Company considers 
that default has occurred when a financial asset is more 
than 90 days past due unless the Company has reason-
able and supportable information to demonstrate that 
a different definition of default is more appropriate for the 
financial instrument.

III.	 Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more 
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. 
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes 
observable data about the following events:

	 a)	� a significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the 
borrower;

	 b)	� a breach of contract, such as a default or past due 
event (see II. above);

	 c)	� the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or con-
tractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial 
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a con-
cession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise 
consider;

	 d)	� it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter 
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

	 e)	� the disappearance of an active market for that 
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

IV.	 Write-off policy
The Company writes off a financial asset when there is 
information indicating that the debtor is in severe finan-
cial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, 
e.g. when the debtor has been placed under liquidation 
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the 
case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over two 
years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets 
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities 
under the Company’s recovery procedures, taking into 
account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries 
made are recognised in profit or loss.

V.	 Measurement and recognition of expected 
credit losses
The measurement of expected credit losses is a function 
of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the 
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the expo-
sure at default. 
The assessment of the probability of default and loss 
given default is based on historical data adjusted by for-
ward-looking information as described above. As for the 
exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented 
by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date. 
For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated 
as the difference between all contractual cash flows that 
are due to the Company in accordance with the con-
tract and all the cash flows that the Company expects to 
receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate. 
For a lease receivable, the cash flows used for determin-
ing the expected credit losses is consistent with the cash 
flows used in measuring the lease receivable in accor-
dance with IAS 17 Leases.
If the Company has measured the loss allowance for a 
financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL 
in the previous reporting period, but determines at the 
current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL 
are no longer met, the Company measures the loss allow-
ance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current 
reporting date, except for assets for which simplified 
approach was used.

The Company recognises an impairment gain or loss in 
profit or loss for all financial instruments with a corre-
sponding adjustment to their carrying amount through 
a loss allowance account, except for investments in debt 
instruments that are measured at FVTOCI, for which the 
loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in the investment revaluation 
reserve, and does not reduce the carrying amount of the 
financial asset in the statement of financial position.
A detailed description of the allowance methodology is 
provided in the section on risk management and disclo-
sure methods, refer to Note 23.

Derecognition of financial assets
The Company derecognises a financial asset only when the 
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, 
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another 
entity. If the Company neither transfers nor retains substan-
tially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues 
to control the transferred asset, the Company recognises 
its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability 
for amounts it may have to pay. If the Company retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 
a transferred financial asset, the Company continues to 
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collater-
alised borrowing for the proceeds received.
On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amor-
tised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the sum of the consideration received and 
receivable is recognised in profit or loss. In addition, on 
derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument clas-
sified as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously 
accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is 
reclassified to profit or loss. In contrast, on derecognition of 
an investment in equity instrument which the Company 
has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, 
the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the 
investments revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit 
or loss, but is transferred to retained earnings.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either 
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the 
substance of the contractual arrangements and the defi-
nitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a 
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deduct-
ing all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the 
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of 
direct issue costs.
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Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is 
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or 
loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, 
issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amor-
tised cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL. 
However, financial liabilities that arise when a transfer 
of a financial asset does not qualify for derecognition or 
when the continuing involvement approach applies, and 
financial guarantee contracts issued by the Company, are 
measured in accordance with the specific accounting 
policies set out below.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the 
financial liability is I. contingent consideration of an 
acquirer in a business combination, II. held for trading or 
III. it is designated as at FVTPL.
A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:
	 /	� it has been acquired principally for the purpose of 

repurchasing it in the near term; or
	 /	� on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of 

identified financial instruments that the Company 
manages together and has a recent actual pattern 
of short-term profit-taking; or

	 /	� it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a 
financial guarantee contract or a designated and 
effective hedging instrument.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for 
trading or contingent consideration of an acquirer in a 
business combination may be designated as at FVTPL 
upon initial recognition if:
	 /	� such designation eliminates or significantly 

reduces a measurement or recognition inconsis-
tency that would otherwise arise; or

	 /	� the financial liability forms part of a group of 
financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which 
is managed and its performance is evaluated on 
a fair value basis, in accordance with the Compa-
ny’s documented risk management or investment 
strategy, and information about the grouping is 
provided internally on that basis; or

	 /	� it forms part of a contract containing one or more 
embedded derivatives, and IFRS 9 permits the 
entire combined contract to be designated as at 
FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value, 
with any gains or losses arising on changes in fair value rec-
ognised in profit or loss to the extent that they are not part 
of a designated hedging relationship (see Hedge account-
ing policy). The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss 

incorporates any interest paid on the financial liability and 
is included in the ‘other financial gains and losses’ line item 
(Note 12) in profit or loss.
However, for financial liabilities that are designated as 
at FVTPL, the amount of change in the fair value of the 
financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit 
risk of that liability is recognised in other comprehensive 
income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes 
in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income 
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit 
or loss. The remaining amount of change in the fair value 
of liability is recognised in profit or loss. Changes in fair 
value attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk that 
are recognised in other comprehensive income are not 
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss; instead, they are 
transferred to retained earnings upon derecognition of the 
financial liability. 
Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 4.

Financial liabilities measured subsequently at 
amortised cost
Financial liabilities that are not I. contingent consideration 
of an acquirer in a business combination, II. held-for-trading, 
or III. designated as at FVTPL, are measured subsequently at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating 
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or 
received that form an integral part of the effective interest 
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) 
through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where 
appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a 
financial liability.

Foreign exchange gains and losses
For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign 
currency and are measured at amortised cost at the end 
of each reporting period, the foreign exchange gains and 
losses are determined based on the amortised cost of 
the instruments. These foreign exchange gains and losses 
are recognised in the ‘other gains and losses’ line item in 
profit or loss (Note 7) for financial liabilities that are not 
part of a designated hedging relationship.
The fair value of financial liabilities denominated in 
a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency 
and translated at the spot rate at the end of the reporting 
period. For financial liabilities that are measured as at 
FVTPL, the foreign exchange component forms part of 
the fair value gains or losses and is recognised in profit or 
loss for financial liabilities that are not part of a desig-
nated hedging relationship.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Company derecognises financial liabilities when, and 
only when, the Company’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the 
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised 
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised 
in profit or loss. When the Company exchanges with the 
existing lender one debt instrument into another one with 
substantially different terms, such exchange is accounted 
for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability 
and the recognition of a new financial liability. Similarly, the 
Company accounts for substantial modification of terms 
of an existing liability or part of it as an extinguishment of 
the original financial liability and the recognition of a new 
liability. It is assumed that the terms are substantially differ-
ent if the discounted present value of the cash flows under 
the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees 
received and discounted using the original effective rate is 
at least 10 per cent different from the discounted present 
value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial 
liability. If the modification is not substantial, the difference 
between: (1) the carrying amount of the liability before the 
modification; and (2) the present value of the cash flows 
after modification should be recognised in profit or loss as 
the modification gain or loss within other gains and losses. 

d)	Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, cash at 
bank and short-term highly liquid investments with an 
original maturity of three months or less.

e)	 Impairment of non-financial assets
The carrying amount of the Company’s assets, excluding 
deferred tax liabilities (refer to Note 13), is reviewed as of 
the balance sheet date in order to determine if there are 
any objective reasons for impairment. If there are no such 
reasons, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated. 

f)	 Provisions
A provision is recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Position if the Company has a present obligation (legal or 
constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that 
the settlement of the obligation will require outflow of 
economic benefits and a reliable estimate can be made 
of the amount of the obligation 
Provisions are recognised in the expected amount of set-
tlement. Significant non-current liabilities are recognised 
as liabilities at the present value of the expected settle-
ment. If the impact of discount is significant, they are 
recognised using a discount rate reflecting the present 
market expectation and specific risks of the obligation. 
Regular release of discount is recognised in profit or loss 
as part of financial expenses.
Impacts of changes in exchange rates, inflation rate and 
other factors are recognised in profit or loss as operating 

income or expense. Changes in estimates of provision 
amounts may predominantly result from differences 
from originally estimated expenses or a changed date of 
settlement or a changed scope of the relevant obligation. 
Changes in estimates are generally recognised in profit or 
loss as of the date of the change in the estimate.

g)	Revenue from services provided
Revenue is recognised under the following conditions: 
solid evidence exists (usually in the form of a concluded 
sale contract) that material risks and bonuses arising 
from ownership have been transferred to the buyer; the 
Company is likely to obtain a consideration; relevant costs 
and the possibility of returning the goods may be reliably 
estimated, management no longer has any engagement 
in respect of the goods, and the amount of revenue may 
be reliably determined.
Revenue from provided services is proportionally reported 
through the statement of comprehensive income based 
on the stage of completion of the transaction as of the 
balance sheet date. The stage of completion is assessed 
based on the status of work performed. Revenue is not 
reported if the Company has serious doubts about receiv-
ing the payable consideration, about relating costs or the 
possibility of returning the goods.
As of 1 January 2018, the Company adopted and applied 
new IFRS 15 providing guidance on reporting revenues 
from contracts with customers. The application of the 
new standard, IFRS 15 – Revenue from contracts with 
customers, had no impact on the Company’s financial 
statement line items, the reason being that the Company 
is a holding company and generated no revenue as of 
31 December 2018 and 31 December 2019. Therefore, 
it was unnecessary to disclose any information on the 
method of accounting of revenues under IFRS 15.

h)	Financial income and expenses
I.	 Financial income
Financial income includes interest income from provided 
funds, income from dividends, exchange rate gains, and 
sales of investments in securities.
Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income using the effective 
rate method. Income from dividends is recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income as of the date of 
establishment of the Company’s right for the receipt of 
the relevant payment.

II.	 Financial expenses
Financial expenses include interest expenses on loans and 
borrowings, exchange rate losses, costs of fees and com-
missions of payment transactions and guarantees, impair-
ment losses recognised for financial assets and losses, if 
any, from the sale of investments in securities. 
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i)	 Income taxation
The income taxation includes tax payable and deferred 
tax. Income tax is recognised in the Statement of Com-
prehensive Income, which does not apply to tax related to 
items recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive 
income. Tax payable includes a tax estimate (tax liability or 
tax asset) calculated from taxable income or loss for the 
current period using the tax rate effective as of the balance 
sheet date and all adjustments to the tax payable relating 
to prior periods. Deferred tax is calculated using the 
balance sheet method based on temporary differences 
between the accounting values of assets and liabilities 
in the balance sheet and their amounts for tax purposes. 
No deferred tax is recognised for the following temporary 
differences: temporary differences on the initial recogni-
tion of assets or liabilities that is not a business combina-
tion and has no impact on the accounting or tax income 

or loss, temporary differences relating to investments in 
subsidiaries and joint operations in the scope in which 
it is probable that they will not be derecognised in the 
foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax is based on 
the assumed use or settlement of temporary differences 
using the tax rates effective or substantially enacted as of 
the balance sheet date. A deferred tax liability is only rec-
ognised if it is probable that a future taxable profit will be 
available against which outstanding tax losses, tax reliefs 
and tax-deductible temporary differences may be applied. 
Deferred tax liabilities are decreased to the extent to which 
it is probable that the relating tax relief will be applied.

j)	 Dividends
Dividends are recognised in equity as distribution of profit 
to shareholders after the approval of the payment by the 
Company’s shareholders.

4. Fair value measurement
A number of accounting procedures and disclosures of 
the Company require determining a fair value of financial 
and non-financial assets and liabilities. 
Fair values include various levels of fair value hierarchy 
based on the input used in valuation as follows:
Level 1:	� quoted prices (unadjusted) on active markets of 

identical assets or liabilities
Level 2:	� inputs not including quoted prices of Level 1 

that may be identified for an asset or liability on 
the market either directly (ie prices) or indirectly 
(ie derived from prices).

Level 3:	� data on assets and liabilities not based on 
observable market data (market non-observ-
able data).

If the inputs used to measure an asset or liability at fair 
value may be classified within various levels of fair value 
hierarchy, the fair value measurement as a whole is 
classified within the same level of fair value hierarchy as 
the lowest level input that is material with respect to the 
entire measurement. 
The Company reports transfers between the levels of fair 
value hierarchy always at the end of the reporting period 
in which the change occurred. 

a)	 Non-derivative financial assets  
The fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss, investments held to maturity and recoverable finan-
cial assets is based on their quoted market price as of the 
balance sheet date with no deduction of transaction costs. 
If no quoted market price is available, the management 
estimates the fair value of the given instrument using price 
models or techniques based on discounted cash flows. If 
techniques based on discounted cash flows are applied, 
the estimated future cash flows are based on best esti-

mates made by the management, and a market-based rate 
as of the balance sheet date for an instrument with similar 
conditions is used as the discount rate. If price models are 
used, inputs are based on market rates as of the balance 
sheet date. 
The fair value of trade receivables and other receivables, 
except for construction work in progress but including 
receivables from services provided based on a conces-
sion, is estimated as the present value of future cash flows 
discounted using the interest rate as of the balance sheet 
date. The fair value of trade receivables, other receivables 
and investments held to maturity is only determined for the 
disclosure purposes.

b)	Non-derivative financial liabilities 
The fair value determined in order to be disclosed is based 
on the present value of future cash flows from principals 
and interest discounted by a market interest rate as of the 
balance sheet date. For finance leases, the market interest 
rate is determined using similar lease contracts.

c)	 Derivatives
Financial derivatives are measured at fair value classi-
fied under level 2, the measurement is based on market 
valuation.

5. Services

C Z K  T H O U S A N D Y E A R  E N D E D  3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9 Y E A R  E N D E D  3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 8

Costs of sub-suppliers and other external 
costs 46,040 60,880

Rental 117 133

Advisory fees 2,487 5,701

Other services 2,320 33,802

Total services 50,964 100,516

6. Other Operating Income and Expenses
Other Operating Income
In 2019, other operating income in the amount of CZK 956 thousand consisted of release of an estimated receivable for 
ITS a. s. services created in 2018.
In 2018, other operating income consisted of proceeds generated based on the regulation governing the proportional 
amount of the receivable arising from the sale of Nika Logistics a. s.

C Z K  T H O U S A N D Y E A R  E N D E D  3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9 Y E A R  E N D E D  3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 8

Taxes and fees 7 42

Insurance payments 960 2,912

Recognition, use and release of provisions -5,967 1,468

Recognition (+) / release (-) of allowances 6,719 19,417

Other 26,807 296

Total other operating expenses 28,526 24,135

Other Operating Expenses

In 2019, the line ‘Other’ includes an estimated payable for a compensation for damage to TATRA DEFENCE VEHICLE a. s. 
in the amount of CZK 25,662 thousand.
The recognition of allowances is described in greater detail in Note 23a) Risk Management and Disclosure Methods – 
Credit Risk.
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7. Financial Income and Expenses

C Z K  T H O U S A N D Y E A R  E N D E D  3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9 Y E A R  E N D E D  3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 8

Interest income 129,014 72,218

Exchange rate gains -- 20,434

Profit from derivative transactions 75,063 --

Dividend income 452,118 519,913

Other financial income 38,736 21,780

Financial income 694,931 634,345

Interest expense – related parties 29,451 11,814

Interest expense – bonds 122,238 78,027

Interest expense – banks 26,831 39,223

Exchange rate losses 5,730 --

Loss from derivative transactions -- 65,799

Other financial expenses 3,639 788

Financial expenses 187,889 195,651

Net financial income/expense 507,042 438,694

In 2019, the Company generated income from dividends of CZK 452,118 thousand originating from profit shares 
received from subsidiaries EXCALIBUR ARMY spol. s r.o. (CZK 360,000 thousand), DAKO-CZ, a. s. (CZK 40,800 thou-
sand), CSG RDR a. s. (CZK 34,634 thousand) and Rosco Bohemia a. s. (CZK 16,684 thousand).
In 2018, the Company generated income from investments in subsidiaries of CZK 519,913 thousand originating from 
profit shares received from EXCALIBUR ARMY spol. s r.o. (CZK 378,000 thousand), CSG AEROSPACE a. s. (CZK 81,000 
thousand), DAKO-CZ, a. s. (CZK 20,400 thousand), LIKVIDACE ODPADU CZ a. s. (CZK 10,000 thousand), MSM GROUP 
s. r. o. (CZK 20,817 thousand) and EXCALIBUR INTERNATIONAL a. s. (CZK 9,696 thousand).

8. Profit/Loss from the Sale of Investments

C Z K  T H O U S A N D Y E A R  E N D E D  3 1   D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9 Y E A R  E N D E D  3 1   D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 8

Sales of investments 278,781 420,179

Investments sold -261,791 -23,377

Income from the dividends of sold entities 10,000 324

Profit/loss from the sale of investments 26,990 397,126

In 2019, income from the dividends of sold entities includes income from the profit shares of LIKVIDACE ODPADU CZ 
a. s. (CZK 10,000 thousand). In 2018, income from the dividends of sold entities includes income from the profit shares of 
Industrial Trade Services a. s. of CZK 324 thousand.

9. Income tax
Income tax reported in profit or loss 

C Z K  T H O U S A N D Y E A R  E N D E D  3 1   D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9 Y E A R  E N D E D  3 1   D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 8

Income tax payable:

For the year -33,695 -3,275

Total income tax payable -33,695 -3,275

Deferred tax:

Deferred income tax 1,994 1,836

Total deferred tax 1,994 1,836

Total income tax expense (-) / income (+) -31,701 -1,439

Deferred tax is calculated using the currently applicable tax rates that are assumed to be effective in the period when the 
asset will be recovered or the liability will be settled. Under Czech legislation, the corporate income tax rate is 19% for the 
fiscal year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: 19%).

Reconciliation of the effective tax rate 

C Z K  T H O U S A N D %

Y E A R  E N D E D 

3 1   D E C E M B E R 

2 0 1 9

%

Y E A R  E N D E D 

3 1   D E C E M B E R 

2 0 1 8

Profit / (loss) before tax on continued 
operation 455,498 712,626

Tax calculated using the corporate income 
tax rate -19% -86,545 -19% -135,399

Tax effect:

Non-deductible expenses -18% -84,029 -14% -98,269

Tax-exempt income 31% 142,078 35% 245,901

Losses with no deferred tax receivable 
identified for the current year -2% -13,672

Changes in estimates relating to prior periods -1% -3,205 -- --

Income tax reported in the statement of 
comprehensive income 6.96% -31,701 0.2% -1,439

Sales of investments, including dividend income, are reduced in the reconciliation of the effective tax rate by the costs 
of investments sold and the balance is reflected in the ‘Tax-exempt income’ line.
The Company anticipated a tax loss in 2018, which was however not reflected in the calculation of deferred tax on the 
grounds of prudence.
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10. Investments in Entities
I.	 Investments in Subsidiaries
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14. OKTOBAR d.o.o. Kruševac Serbia 100.00% 85.00%

ARMY SYSTEMS a. s. Czech Republic 100.00% 100.00%

ARMY TRADE a. s. Czech Republic 100.00% 100.00%

ARS Europe a. s. Czech Republic 50.00% 50.00%

ATLAN GROUP, spol. s r. o. Slovakia 81.00% 81.00%

ATRAK a. s.9) Czech Republic 97.50% --

AVIA Motors s. r. o. 1) Czech Republic 100.00% 100.00%

BUSINESS SPV a. s. Czech Republic 100.00% --

Car Star Fleet s. r. o. Czech Republic 100.00% --

Car Star Immo s. r. o. Czech Republic 100.00% --

Car Star Praha s. r. o. Czech Republic 100.00% --

CS SOFT a. s. Czech Republic 78.00% 100.00%

CSG a. s. Czech Republic 100.00% --

CSG AEROSPACE a. s. 5) Czech Republic 100.00% 90.00%

CSG DEFENCE a. s. Czech Republic 100.00% 100.00%

CSG FACILITY a. s. Czech Republic 0.00% 100.00%

CSG INDUSTRY a. s. Czech Republic 100.00% 100.00%

CSG LAND SYSTEM CZ a. s. Czech Republic 100.00% --

CSG RAIL a. s. Czech Republic 100.00% 100.00%

CSG RDR a. s. Czech Republic 100.00% 100.00%

CSG USA, Inc. USA 100.00% 100.00%

CSGM a. s. Czech Republic 100.00% 100.00%

CZECH DEFENCE SYSTEMS a. s. 3) Czech Republic 90.00% 90.00%

CZECHOSLOVAK EXPORT a. s. Czech Republic 100.00% 100.00%

CZECHOSLOVAKIA TRADE s. r. o. Slovakia 81.00% 81.00%

Česká letecká servisní a. s. Czech Republic 100.00% 100.00%

DAKO-CZ RE, a. s. Czech Republic 51.00% --

DAKO-CZ, a. s. Czech Republic 51.00% 51.00%

DEFENCE EXPORT a. s. Czech Republic 100.00% 100.00%

DEFENCE SYSTEMS a. s. Czech Republic 100.00% 100.00%

DEFENCE TRADE a. s. 4) Czech Republic 100.00% 100.00%
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DPTU SUMBRO TRADE Dooel Samokov 
Makedonski Brod Macedonia 81.00% --

EHC Service s. r. o. Slovakia 93.19% 100.00%

ELDIS Pardubice, s. r. o. Czech Republic 100.00% 100.00%

ELTON hodinářská, a. s. Czech Republic 73.16% 73.16%

ENGINEERING SPV a. s. Czech Republic 100.00% 100.00%

EUROPEAN AIR SERVICES s. r. o. Czech Republic 97.00% 97.00%

EUROPEAN AIR SERVICES SLOVAKIA s. r. o. Slovakia 97.00% 85.00%

EXCALIBUR ARMY spol. s r. o. Czech Republic 90.00% 90.00%

EXCALIBUR INTERNATIONAL a. s. Czech Republic 100.00% 90.00%

EXCALIBUR USA a. s. Czech Republic 51.00% 51.00%

FUTURE CS a. s. Czech Republic 0.00% 100.00%

HELI COMPANY s. r. o. Slovakia 83.87% 90.00%

HTH land a. s. Czech Republic 100.00% 88.00%

Hyundai Centrum CB s. r. o. Czech Republic 100.00% --

Hyundai Centrum Praha s. r. o. Czech Republic 100.00% --

INTEGRA CAPITAL a. s. Czech Republic 100.00% 50.00%

JOB AIR Technic a. s. Czech Republic 80.30% 40.15%

KARBOX Holding s. r. o. Czech Republic 100.00% 15.00%

KARBOX s. r. o. Czech Republic 100.00% 99.98%

LIAZ TRUCKS a. s. Czech Republic 100.00% 100.00%

LIKVIDACE ODPADU CZ a. s. Czech Republic 0.00% 100.00%

LOGRIS a. s. Czech Republic 0.00% 100.00%

LOSTR a. s. 6) Czech Republic 100.00% 100.00%

MADE CS a. s. Czech Republic 100.00% 80.00%

MERIT SPV a. s. Czech Republic 100.00% 100.00%

Milconn, a. s. Czech Republic 50.00% 50.00%

MSM Banská Bystrica, a. s.12) Slovakia 81.00% --

MSM BUSINESS DEVELOPEMENT s. r. o.10) Slovakia 81.00% --

MSM e-mobility division j.s.a. Slovakia 72.90%

MSM GROUP s. r. o. Slovakia 81.00% 81.00%

MSM holding s. r. o. Slovakia 81.00% 81.00%

MSM LAND SYSTEMS, s. r. o.8) Slovakia 81.00% --

MSM Martin s. r. o. Slovakia 81.00% 81.00%

MSM Nováky, a. s.11) Slovakia 81.00% --
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MSM TATRA Special Vehicles, s. r. o. Slovakia 73.16% 73.16%

New Space Technologies s. r. o. Czech Republic 60.00% --

NIKA  Development a. s. Czech Republic 100.00% 100.00%

P F Support s. r. o. Czech Republic 100.00% 100.00%

PPS VEHICLES, s. r. o. Slovakia 76.95% --

PROGRESS SPV a. s. Czech Republic 100.00% 100.00%

REAL TRADE PRAHA a. s.15) Czech Republic 0.00% 0.00%

ROSCO BOHEMIA a. s. Czech Republic 100.00% 100.00%

SBS ZVS, s. r. o. Slovakia 40.50% 40.50%

SHER Technologies a. s. Czech Republic 45.90% 45.90%

Skyport a. s. Czech Republic 72.22% --

Skyport Catering s. r. o. Czech Republic 72.22% --

Slovak Aviation Factory s. r. o. Slovakia 81.00% --

Slovak Training Academy, s. r. o. Slovakia 93.19% 82.00%

SPV REAL ESTATE a. s. Czech Republic 100.00% --

STA TECHNOLOGY, s. r. o.14) Slovakia 93.19% --

TATRA a. s. Czech Republic 100.00% 100.00%

TATRA AVIATION a. s. Czech Republic 100.00% 100.00%

TATRA DEFENCE VEHICLE a. s. Czech Republic 100.00% 100.00%

TATRA MANUFACTURE a. s. 2) Czech Republic 100.00% 100.00%

TECHPARK Hradubická a. s. Czech Republic 100.00% 100.00%

Tovární 1112 a. s. Czech Republic 0.00% 90.00%

TRADITION CS a. s. Czech Republic 97.50% 100.00%

TRANSELCO CZ s. r. o. Czech Republic 51.00% --

Vagonka Louny a. s. Czech Republic 51.00% --

VALUE SPV a. s. Czech Republic 100.00% --

Virte, a. s. Slovakia 81.00% 81.00%

VÍTKOVICKÁ DOPRAVA, a. s. Czech Republic 100.00% 100.00%

VÝVOJ Martin, a. s. Slovakia 81.00% 81.00%

Whare factory s. r. o. Czech Republic 100.00% --

ZVS Ammunition, a. s. Slovakia 81.00% 81.00%

ZVS Holding a. s.16) Slovakia 40.50% 40.50%

ZVS IMPEX, akciová spoločnosť Slovakia 81.00% 81.00%

ZVS-Armory, s. r. o.7) Slovakia 81.00% --

1.	� As part of the merger by amalgamation project, AVIA a. s. (dissolving company) merged with its subsidiary AVIA Motors 
s. r. o. (successor company). The effective date of the merger was 1 January 2017. As of 13 April 2017, AVIA a. s. was deregis-
tered from the Register of Companies.

2.	 In 2018, DEFENCE SYSTEMS a. s. was renamed to TATRA MANUFACTURE a. s.
3.	� In 2016, Vojenský opravárenský podnik CZ a. s. was renamed to CZECH DEFENCE SYSTEMS a. s.
4.	� In 2016, DEFENCE TRADE a. s. was renamed to EXCALIBUR USA a. s. and, at the same time, a new entity was 

formed – DEFENCE TRADE a. s.
5.	 In 2018, EAS Holding a. s. was renamed to CSG AEROSPACE a. s.
6.	 In 2017, FUNDI CS a. s. was renamed to LOSTR a. s.
7.	 In 2019, CZ - Slovensko, s. r. o.  was renamed to ZVS-Armory, s. r. o.
8.	 In 2019, Montservis, s. r. o. was renamed to MSM LAND SYSTEMS, s. r. o.
9.	 In 2019, TRADITION SPV 1 a. s. was renamed to ATRAK a. s.
10.	 In 2019, MSM AIPORT SOLUTION s. r. o. was renamed to MSM BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT s. r. o.
11.	 In 2019, ZVS industry, a. s. was renamed to MSM Nováky, a. s.
12.	 In 2019, TESLA Pardubice, a. s. was renamed to MSM Banská Bystrica, a. s.
13.	 In 2019, PERFORMANCE SPV a. s. was renamed to FALCON CSG a. s.
14.	 In 2019, MSM DEFENCE INDUSTRY s. r. o. was renamed to STA TECHNOLOGY s. r. o.
15.	 It is the exclusive seller of EXCALIBUR ARMY spol. s r.o., therefore it is an entity with controlling influence.
16.	 The controlling influence is exercised on the basis of a shareholder agreement.

In 2019, the following entities were sold:
	 /	 LOGRIS a. s.
	 /	 Tovární 1112 a. s. 
	 /	 LIKVIDACE ODPADU CZ a. s.
	 /	 CSG FACILITY a. s.
	 /	 FUTURE CS a. s.

The effect of investments in entities sold in 2019 and 2018 (Industrial Trade Services a. s. and SPV VTK a. s.) 
is disclosed in Note 8.
The costs of investments (net of the effect of allowances) and accompanying information on selected investments are 
presented in the tables below.

C Z K  T H O U S A N D
T O T A L  P R O F I T  ( + ) 

L O S S  ( - )  F O R  2 0 1 9

E Q U I T Y  A S  O F  3 1 

D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9
C O S T

NIKA DEVELOPMENT a. s. -94,406 1,682,282 1,834,785

EXCALIBUR ARMY spol. s r.o. 281,886 2,584,596 1,051,030

DAKO-CZ, a. s. 126,289 969,634 321,723

INTEGRA CAPITAL a. s. -148,686 89,968 252,685

TATRA DEFENCE VEHICLE a. s. 25,530 108,630 113,731

AVIA Motors s. r. o. -17,614 -3,559 109,790

CSG AEROSPACE a. s. 279,635 424,612 70,283

TECHPARK HRADUBICKÁ a. s. -336 61,332 57,133

CSGM a. s. -4,191 62,042 52,350

MSM Group s. r. o. -12,579 332,234 44,216

Other 161,931

Total 4,069,657

As of 31 December 2019
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C Z K  T H O U S A N D
T O T A L  P R O F I T  ( + ) 

L O S S  ( - )  F O R  2 0 1 8

E Q U I T Y  A S  O F  3 1 

D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 8
C O S T

NIKA DEVELOPMENT a. s. -51,174 1,781,251 1,834,785

EXCALIBUR ARMY spol. s r.o. 388,021 2,703,806 1,051,030

DAKO-CZ, a. s. 85,128 923,345 321,723

FUTURE CS a. s. -4,947 10,079 245,374

TATRA DEFENCE VEHICLE a. s. 46,466 83,173 113,731

AVIA Motors s. r. o. -137,130 -945 109,790

INTEGRA CAPITAL a. s. -3,898 238,654 68,760

TECHPARK HRADUBICKÁ a. s. -225 61,660 57,123

CSGM a. s. 28,349 66,232 52,350

MSM Group s. r. o. 141,313 201,278 44,216

CSG AEROSPACE a. s. 158,830 255,409 41,683

Other 79,485

Total 4,020,050

As of 31 December 2018

In line with the accounting policies disclosed in Note 3 e), the Company recognised an allowance for non-current financial 
assets of CZK 1,085 thousand as of 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018: CZK 1,085 thousand).
The Company did not recognise an allowance for other financial investments either owing to the anticipated profits in the 
coming years or for the reason that the market cost of the asset is greater than its valuation in the accounting records.

II.	 Investment in Associates
During 2018, the Company acquired a 50% investment in AVIA AVIATION a. s., which is registered in the Czech Republic. 
The cost of the investment was CZK 300 thousand.
In 2019, the Company founded AVIA Electric a. s., where it holds a 50% investment. In addition, the Company sold a 70% 
investment in FALCON CSG a. s. (formerly PERFORMANCE SPV), where it held a 100% investment, which thus became 
an associate.

11. Loans and Other Financial Assets

C Z K  T H O U S A N D 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 8

Assets at amortised cost 

Granted loans 3,932,433 2,493,621

Other financial assets 239 1,344

Receivables from the payment of dividends 151,369 6,000

Total assets at amortised cost - subtotal 4,084,041 2,500,965

Financial derivatives 98,484 3,267

Total financial assets at fair value 98,484 3,267

Total loans and other financial assets 4,182,525 2,504,232

C Z K  T H O U S A N D 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 8

Long-term 61,866 110,632

Short-term 4,120,659 2 393,600

Total loans and other financial assets 4,182,525 2,504,232

Granted loans namely represent the loans provided to related parties. Relations with related parties including the loans 
granted are described in more detail in Note 24 – Related Parties. Receivables arising from the payment of dividends as of 
31 December 2019 include receivables from EXCALIBUR ARMY s. r. o. in the amount of CZK 122,732 thousand (31 December 
2018 – LIKVIDACE ODPADU CZ a. s. in the amount of CZK 6,000 thousand).
Other financial assets primarily include the unpaid part of the purchase price of acquired equity investments in companies.

Derivatives
As of 31 December 2019, the Company records receiv-
ables from concluded derivative trades measured at fair 
value in the amount of CZK 98,484 thousand (as of 31 
December 2018 in the amount of CZK 3,267 thousand), 
where receivables in the amount of CZK 61,735 thousand 
represent the long-term portion (as of 31 December 2018 
in the amount of CZK 2,012 thousand) and receivables in 
the amount of CZK 36,749 thousand represent the short-
term portion (as of 31 December 2018 in the amount of 
CZK 1,165 thousand). 
In addition, the Company records payables from con-
cluded derivative trades in the amount of CZK 98,363 
thousand (as of 31 December 2018 in the amount of CZK 
29,037 thousand), corresponding to their fair value as of 
the balance sheet date. The payable in the amount of CZK 
66,700 thousand represents the long-term portion (as of 
31 December 2018 in the amount of CZK 17,869 thousand) 
and payable in the amount of CZK 31,663 thousand rep-
resents the short-term portion (as of 31 December 2018 in 
the amount of CZK 11,168 thousand). These amounts are 
reported under Short-term or Long-term financial instru-
ments and financial liabilities. All the concluded derivative 
transactions are speculative in nature.
As of 31 December 2019, the Company records the follow-
ing types of derivatives and volume of open position:

	 /	� FX forwards for the sale of EUR for CZK in the total 
volume of EUR 22,500 thousand in 2020 and EUR 
8,000 thousand in 2021

	 /	� FX forwards for the sale of USD for CZK in the total 
volume of USD 14,000 thousand in 2020

	 /	� FX forwards for the purchase of EUR 1,000 thou-
sand in 2020

	 /	� Currency options for the sale of EUR for CZK in the 
total volume of EUR 18,000 thousand in 2020

	 /	�  Currency options for the sale of EUR for CZK in the 
total volume of EUR 36,000 thousand in 2021

	 /	� Currency options for the sale of EUR for CZK in the 
total volume of EUR 18,000 thousand in 2022

	 /	� Currency options for the purchase of EUR for CZK in 
the total volume of EUR 18,000 thousand in 2020

	 /	� Currency options for the purchase of EUR for CZK in 
the total volume of EUR 36,000 thousand in 2021

	 /	� Currency options for the purchase of EUR for CZK in 
the total volume of EUR 18,000 thousand in 2022

	 /	� Currency swaps for the purchase of EUR for CZK in 
the total volume of EUR 3,000 thousand in 2020

	 /	� Currency swaps for the sale of EUR for CZK in the 
total volume of EUR 43,444 thousand in 2020

As of 31 December 2018, the Company records the follow-
ing types of derivatives and volume of open position:
	 /	� FX forwards for the sale of EUR for CZK in the total 

volume of EUR 52,500 thousand in 2019 and EUR 
33,000 thousand in 2020

	 /	� FX forwards for the sale of USD for CZK in the total 
volume of USD 14,000 thousand in 2020

	 /	� FX forwards for the purchase of EUR 7,500 thou-
sand for CZK in 2019 and EUR 10,000 thousand for 
CZK in 2020

	 /	� FX forwards for the purchase of USD 28,956 thou-
sand for CZK in 2019

	 /	� Currency options for the sale of EUR for CZK in the 
total volume of EUR 18,000 thousand in 2019

	 /	� Currency options for the purchase of EUR 12,000 
thousand for CZK in 2019

	 /	� Currency swaps for the sale of EUR for CZK in the 
total volume of EUR 1,500 thousand in 2020

	 /	� Interest-rate swaps to secure the floating interest 
rate 6M Pribor with a fixed rate of 1.5% for a loan 
facility in the total volume of 1,800,000 thousand 
during 2019–2021.

The total impact on profit arising from the performed 
derivative transactions in 2019 is an income of CZK 75,063 
thousand presented under Financial income (2018: 
expense in the amount of CZK 65,799 thousand pre-
sented under Financial expenses).
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12. Trade Receivables and Other Assets
C Z K  T H O U S A N D 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 8

Trade receivables 33,426 26,369

Other receivables 1,028,575 979,621

Estimated receivables 182 22,827

Total trade receivables and other receivables 1,062,183 1,028,817

Deferred expenses 64 88

Prepayments made 35,090 --

Accruals 35,154 88

Total trade receivables and other assets 1,097,337 1,028,905

Long-term -- 33,743

Short-term 1,097,337 995,162

Total trade receivables and other assets 1,097,337 1,028,905

As of 31 December 2019, the balance of Other receivables predominantly includes a receivable from CSG RDR a. s. from 
assigned bonds in the amount of CZK 400,000 thousand, a receivable from INTEGRA CAPITAL a. s. from an assigned 
loan to ZTS METALURG, a. s. in the amount of CZK 156,384 thousand and a receivable from BlackBird Real Estate s. r. o. 
from the sold investment in CSG Facility a. s. and FUTURE CS a. s. in the amount of CZK 175,000 thousand.
As of 31 December 2018, the balance of Other receivables predominantly includes a receivable in the amount of CZK 
408,407 thousand arising from the unpaid purchase price for the sale of Industrial Trade Services a. s., a receivable 
arising from the refund of a contribution above and beyond the share capital balance in the amount of CZK 63,128 
thousand and from the reclassification of a portion of short-term loans in the amount of CZK 474,557 thousand to 
other receivables, which predominantly include receivables arising from assigned receivables.
The Company’s exposure to credit and currency risks and impairment losses in relation to trade and other receivables 
is disclosed in Note 23 – Risk Management and Disclosure Methods.

13. Tax Receivables and Payables
As of 31 December 2018, the Company recorded tax payables in the amount of CZK 27,737 thousand, of which CZK 
27,507 thousand represents income tax payables.
As of 31 December 2018, the Company recorded tax receivables from an income tax overpayment arising from the 
prepayments made during the year in the amount of CZK 1,106 thousand.

14. Cash and Cash Equivalents

C Z K  T H O U S A N D 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 8

Current bank accounts 9,828 63,528

Cash on hand -- 302

Cash and cash equivalents in the cash flow 
statement 9,828 63,830

In 2019, the Company stopped using cash and all monetary transactions are cashless.

15. Equity
Share Capital

As of 31 December 2019 and 2018, authorised, issued and fully paid-in share capital consisted of twenty ordinary regis-
tered shares in the book entry form in the nominal value of CZK 100,000. 
The shareholder is entitled to a payment of dividends and is entitled to vote at the General Meetings of the Company’s 
shareholders with one vote attributable to a share of CZK 100 thousand.
In 2019 and 2018, the Company paid no dividends.

C Z K  T H O U S A N D
S H A R E S 

( C Z K  ’ 0 0 0 )

O W N E R S H I P 

P E R C E N T A G E ( % )
V O T I N G  R I G H T S ( % )

Czechoslovak Group B.V. 2,000 100 100

Total shares 2,000 100 100

31 December 2019 and 2018

C Z K  T H O U S A N D 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 8

Other capital reserves 3,146,176 3,146,176

Other indivisible reserves 82,462 82,278

Total 3,228,638 3,228,454

Other funds

A major portion of other funds represents an effect on 
the Company’s interest-rate advantage arising from the 
use of a non-interest bearing ownership loan, which is 
recognised through equity. The Company considers the 
ownership loan received from the owner acting from 
the actual position of an owner to constitute an instru-
ment that brings a visible advantage to the Company 
in the form of exemption from interest. The fair value of 
a non-interest bearing ownership loan is highly likely to 
differ from the nominal value during its initial recogni-
tion. The Company recognises the difference between 
the fair value of an ownership loan during its initial 
recognition and its nominal value through equity, the 
reason being that the substance of non-interest bearing 
loans includes advantageous terms specifically in the 
form of zero interest representing the owner’s non-recip-
rocal capital contribution. As of 31 December 2019, these 
non-reciprocal capital contributions totalled CZK 54,854 
thousand (31 December 2018: CZK 82,278 thousand). The 
decrease was due to the partial repayment of the loans 
by the Company.
On 31 December 2018, the parent Company Czechoslo-
vak Group B.V. capitalised receivables of CZK 273,365 
thousand, CZK 120,000 thousand, CZK 540,000 
thousand and EUR 705,367 in the form of a contribu-
tion above and beyond the share capital balance. The 

contribution above and beyond the share capital balance 
amounted to CZK 951,511 thousand. The repayments of 
non-interest bearing ownership loans decreased other 
funds by CZK 68,268 thousand.

Retained earnings brought forward
In 2019, the decrease in retained earnings in the amount 
of CZK 2,028 thousand is caused by the write-off of 
a receivable from CSG Industry a. s., which was dissolved 
by a merger with CSG in 2015.

In 2018, movements in retained earnings represented the 
profit for the period in the amount of CZK 709,572 thou-
sand, the impact from the settlement of the difference 
in the purchase price of an equity investment purchased 
in 2017 in the amount of CZK (2,473 thousand) and the 
impact of the initial application of IFRS 9 in 2018 in the 
amount of CZK (1,996 thousand).
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16. Loans and Borrowings – Received
C Z K  T H O U S A N D 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 8

Owner loans and loans from other related 
parties 685,879 561,040

Loans from third parties (other loans)* 685,392 377,681

Total 1,371,271 938,721

Long-term 243,750 228,192

Short-term 1,127,521 710,528

Total 1,371,271 938,721

In 2019, the weighted average interest rate of loans amounted to 4.96% (2018: 3.63%)

Terms and Summary of Loan Maturities
The following terms applied to outstanding loans and borrowings:
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U

R
R

E
N

C
Y

N
O

M
IN

A
L 

IN
T

E
R

E
S

T 

R
A

T
E

D
U

E
 I

N

B
A

L
A

N
C

E
 A

T 

3
1 

D
E

C
E

M
-

B
E

R
 2

0
19

D
U

E
 I

N
 

1 
Y

E
A

R

D
U

E
 I

N
 1

 T
O

 

5
 Y

E
A

R
S

Loans from related parties CZK fixed 2020 200,326 200,326 0

Loans from related parties CZK
non interest 

bearing
2020 54,854 54,854 0

Loans from third parties CZK variable 2020 430,699 430,699 0

Loans from third parties CZK fixed 2020 379,857 379,857 0

Loans from third parties CZK variable 2020–2024 305,535 61,785 243,750

Total CZK 1,371,271 1,127,521 243,750

31 December 2019
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Loans from related parties CZK fixed 2019 515,381 515,381

Loans from related parties CZK
non interest 

bearing
2019–2023 4,009 1,817 2,192

Loans from third parties CZK fixed 2019–2023 261,474 35,474 226,000

Loans from third parties CZK variable 2019 150,000 150,000 --

Loans from third parties CZK
non interest 

bearing
2019 7,856 7,856 --

Total 938,720 710,528 228,192

31 December 2018

*More information on the interest rate risk is provided in Note 23 (d). 

Non-interest bearing loans are recognised at their carrying amounts using market interest rates, with the capital portion 
of the loan reported through equity – refer to Note 15.

C Z K  T H O U S A N D 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 8

Financial derivatives 98,363 29,037

Other financial payables 0 94,596

Total 98,363 123,633

Long-term 66,700 67,177

Short-term 31,663 56,456

Total 98,363 123,633

Other financial instruments

As of 31 December 2018, other financial payables in the amount of CZK 64,306 thousand included payables related to the 
purchase price of equity investments.

17. Bonds 
On 16 December 2016, the Company issued CSG VAR/21 
bonds (ISIN CZ0003515405), which were admitted to 
trading on the Prague Stock Exchange. The nominal value 
of one bond amounts to CZK 3 million. The maximum 
volume of a placement is CZK 2,100 million with the pos-
sibility of placement on a tranche-by-tranche basis until 12 
December 2017. As of 31 December 2016, bonds in the total 
nominal amount of CZK 1,002 million were subscribed. 
During 2017, the Company issued additional bonds up to 
the maximum amount of CZK 1,098 million, of which CZK 
507 million was subscribed to third parties and CZK 591 
million was subscribed to the Company’s own account. 
The Company does not account for own bonds. As of 31 
December 2019, the Company recorded a liability from 
these issues in the amount of CZK 1,203 million (31 Decem-
ber 2018: CZK 1,824 million).
VAR/21 bonds bear a floating interest rate consisting of 6M 
PRIBOR + 3% margin, with interest falling due biannually 
as of 16 June and 16 December each year. The due dates of 
bonds are determined at 16 December 2021.
On 30 November 2017, the Company issued CZECH. GR. 
3,00/22 bonds (in two placements: ISIN CZ0003517757 
and ISIN CZ0003517740), which were offered to qualified 
investors in the Czech Republic. Bonds were issued as 
securities in the book-entry form with a nominal value of 
CZK 5 million a piece. The total value of the placement is 
CZK 400 million (CZK 200 million during each placement). 

A of 31 December 2019, the Company records a payable 
from these private issues of CZK 70 million (2018: CZK 255 
million).
CZECH. GR. 3,00/22 bonds bear a fixed interest rate of 3% 
p.a. Interest income will be paid for each income period 
retrospectively on a bi-annual basis, as of 30 November 
and 30 May each year. The first interest income payment 
was made as of 30 May 2018. The due dates of bonds are 
determined at 30 November 2022.
On 1 November 2019, the Company issued CSG VAR/24 
bonds (ISIN CZ0003523151) with a floating interest income 
in the estimated total nominal value of placement of CZK 
1,500 million with a possibility to increase up to CZK 2,000 
million with maturity in 2024. The bonds were issued as 
securities in the book-entry form with a nominal value of 
CZK 100 thousand per bond. As of 31 December 2019, the 
Company recognised a payable from these issues in the 
amount of CZK 1,698 million.
The CSG VAR/24 bonds bear a floating interest rate con-
sisting of 6M PRIBOR + a 3.25% margin, with interest falling 
due biannually as of 1 November and 1 May each year.
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C Z K  T H O U S A N D 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 8

Issued bonds 2,970,500 2,079,000

Outstanding interest 18,702 7,444

Subtotal 2,989,202 2,086,444

Placement costs -36,306 -12,891

Total bonds 2,952,896 2,073,553

Non-current 2,944,313 2,066,109

Current * 8,583 7,444

Total bonds 2,952,896 2,073,553

Bonds as of 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 were subject to the following conditions:
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CSG VAR/24 CZK variable 2019–2024 1,713,237 15,737 1,697,500 --

CSG VAR/21 CZK variable 2018–2021 1,205,784 2,784 1,203,000 --

CZECH. GR. 3,00/22 CZK fixed 2018–2022 70,181 181 70,000 --
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CSG VAR/21 CZK variable 2018–2021 1,831,444 7,444 1,824,000 --

CZECH. GR. 3,00/22 CZK fixed 2018–2022 255,684 684 255,000 --

The sensitivity analysis relating to fair values of financial instruments is disclosed in Note 23 – Risk Management and 
Disclosure Methods.

18. Trade and Other Payables

C Z K  T H O U S A N D 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 8

Prepayments received 323,240 193,005

Trade payables 10,971 6,366

Other payables 127,975 245,612

Trade and other payables – subtotal 462,186 444,983

Prepayments received as of 31 December 2019 represent a prepayment for dividends from CSG AEROSPACE a. s. (CZK 
239,040 thousand) and a prepayment from ELDIS Pardubice s. r. o. for the purchase of bonds (CZK 80,000 thousand).
Prepayments received as of 31 December 2018 represent a payment of an interim dividend from AVIA Motors s. r. o. (CZK 
15,000 thousand), CSG AEROSPACE a. s. (CZK 103,005 thousand), an advance on the purchase of bonds and JOB AIR 
Technic a. s. (CZK 75,000 thousand).

19. Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities
Reported Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities

The following deferred tax assets and liabilities were reported:

C Z K  T H O U S A N D 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 8

Non-interest bearing owner loans -367 -868

Financial assets 2,395 945

Total 2,028 77

Tax offsetting -- --

Net deferred tax asset (+) / tax liability (-) 2028 77

C Z K  T H O U S A N D 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 8

Unbilled supplies 48,233 50,969

Estimated payables – subtotal 48,233 50,969

Trade and other payables – total 510,419 495,952

Long-term -- --

Short-term 510,419 495,952

Trade and other payables – total 510,419 495,952

Movements in Temporary Differences during the Year
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Allowance against receivables 945 1,450 -- 2,395

Non-interest bearing owner loans -868 544 -43 -367

Total 77 1,994 -43 2,028
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Allowance against receivables -- 476 469** 945

Non-interest bearing owner loans -4,762 1,360 2,534* -868

Total -4,762 1,836 3,003 77

*The impact of financing by a non-interest bearing loan from the owner is disclosed in Note 15.
**Impact of application of IFRS 9 as of 1 December 2018

20. Fair Value of Financial 
Instruments
Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial Instruments Carried 
at Fair Value 
The Company has no financial instruments (assets or 
liabilities) for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 
2018 carried at fair value with the exception of bonds 
and derivatives. The fair values of financial instruments 
reported at their carrying amounts are presented below:
	 /	� Bonds and derivatives are recognised at fair value 

within Level 2.

Level 3 includes other financial assets and liabilities and 
their fair value does not significantly differ from their 
carrying amounts (for additional details about the valu-
ation methods refer to Note 2 (d) Use of Estimates and 
Judgement).
The sensitivity analysis relating to fair values of financial 
instruments is disclosed in Note 23 – Risk Management 
and Disclosure Methods.

21. Leases
The Company did not enter into any significant lease 
contracts whether as a lessee or lessor.

22. Provided Guarantees
The Company provided the following bank guarantees 
and collateral:
	 /	� Beneficiary: The President of India, issued on 29 

October 2019, valid until 11 July 2020 in the amount 
of INR 5,400 thousand (CZK 1,711 thousand);

	 /	� Beneficiary: The President of India, issued on 25 
October 2019, valid until 31 January 2020 in the 
amount of INR 3,650 thousand (CZK 1,157 thousand);

	 /	� Collateral for the Syndicated Loan Agreement 
concluded on 2 October 2018 between TATRA 
DEFENCE VEHICLE a. s. as the debtor and CZECHO-
SLOVAK GROUP a. s. as the guarantor, the amount 
of guarantee as of 31 December 2019 is CZK 620 
million;

	 /	� Agreement establishing a pledge on receivables 
from accounts no. 1230940000/2250 in CZK, 
101121434/2250 in EUR and 1011121442 in USD;

	 /	� Agreement establishing a pledge on securities, 
issuer NIKA Development a. s., 30 pieces / 1 piece 
with the nominal value of CZK 100 thousand;

	 /	� Blank promissory note with the aval of Mr. Michal 
Strnad and the Agreement on the right to com-
plete a blank bill of exchange;

	 /	� Agreement establishing a pledge on securities, 
issuer INTEGRA CAPITAL a. s., 66 pieces / 1 piece with 
the nominal value of CZK 1,000 thousand, 34 pieces 
/ 1 piece with the nominal value CZK 100 thousand, 
2 pieces / 1 piece with the nominal value of CZK 50 
thousand;

	 /	� Agreement establishing a pledge on a share in 
a corporation, 50% of the business share in anji 
s. r. o.;

	 /	� Agreement establishing a pledge on receivables;
	 /	� Agreement establishing a pledge on immovable 

property owned by TECHPARK Hradubická a. s.
The Company did not provide any other significant guar-
antees.

23. Risk Management and 
Disclosure Methods
This Note provides a detailed description of the financial 
and operating risks to which the Company is exposed and 
the methods used in managing them. The major financial 
risks to which the Company is exposed include credit risk, 
liquidity risk, interest rate risk and currency risk.

Classes and Categories of Financial Instruments and Mea-
surement of their Fair Value.
The following table contains information about:
	 /	�  Classes of financial instruments, their substance 

and characteristics;
	 /	 Amortised cost of financial instruments;
	 /	� Fair values of financial instruments (with the 

exception of financial instruments whose value 
approximates their fair value); and

	 /	� The hierarchy levels of the fair values of financial 
assets and financial liabilities for which fair value 
has been disclosed.

The hierarchy of Fair Value Levels 1 to 3 is based on the 
extent to which fair value is observable:
	 /	� Level 1 fair value measurements are derived from 

prices listed (unadjusted) on active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities;

	 /	� Level 2 fair value measurements are derived from 
inputs other than the listed prices included in Level 
1 that are either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly 
(i.e. derived from prices) observable in respect of 
the asset or liability; and

	 /	� Level 3 fair value measurements are derived from 
measurement techniques including inputs for the 
asset or liability that is not based on identifiable 
market information (unobservable inputs).
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Financial assets at fair 
value

Derivatives 11 98,484 -- -- 98,484 -- 98,484 -- 98,484

Total 98,484 -- -- 98,484 -- 98,484 -- 98,484

Financial assets not 
reported at fair value

Trade and other recei-
vables 12 -- 1,062,183 -- 1,062,183 -- -- -- --

Provided loans 11 -- 3,932,433 -- 3,932,433 -- 3,932,433 -- 3,932,433

Other financial assets 11 -- 151,608 -- 151,608 -- 151,608 -- 151,608

Cash and cash equivalents 14 -- 9,828 -- 9,828 -- -- -- --

Total -- 5,156,052 -- 5,156,052 -- 4,084,041 -- 4,084,041

Financial payables repor-
ted at fair value

Derivatives 11 98,363 -- -- 98,363 -- 98,363 -- 98,363

Total 98,363 -- -- 98,363 -- 98,363 -- 98,363

Financial payables not 
reported at fair value

Secured bank loans -- -- 679,857 679,857 -- 679,857 -- 679,857

Loans from related parties 16 -- -- 685,879 685,879 -- 685,879 -- 685,879

Loans from third parties -- -- 5,535 5,535 -- 5,535 -- 5,535

Trade and other payables 18 -- -- 510,419 510,419 -- -- -- --
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Long-term bonds 17 -- -- 2,944,313 2,944,313 -- 2,944,313 -- 2,944,313

Short-term bonds 17 -- -- 8,583 8,583 -- 8,583 -- 8,583

Total -- -- 4,834,586 4,834,586 -- 4,324,167 -- 4,324,167

a)	 Credit Risk
I.	 Credit Risk Exposure
Credit risk is a risk of the Company incurring a financial 
loss if the customer or counterparty fails to meet its con-
tractual obligations in transactions with financial instru-
ments. The risk primarily arises in respect of the Compa-
ny’s amounts due from customers and in respect of loans 
and borrowings. Credit risk is limited in respect of highly 
liquid assets (cash product on bank accounts) given that 
counterparties are entities with high credit ratings.
As of the balance sheet date, the maximum credit risk 
exposure is divided by counterparty as shown in the 
following tables. The majority of financial assets as of 
31 December 2019 are from counterparties within the 
European Union, with the exception of a loan to a coun-
terparty in Serbia in the amount of CZK 125,425 thousand 
(31 December 2018: CZK 118,226 thousand), in the USA in 
the amount of CZK 21,588 thousand (31 December 2018: 
CZK 0) and in Singapore in the amount of CZK 18,932 
thousand (31 December 2018: CZK 0).  

Credit Risk Management in Respect of Trade and Other 
Receivables
The Company reviews the financial positions of its existing 
customers and regularly assesses their creditworthiness. 
In respect of new customers requesting goods and ser-
vices above a certain limit (determined on the basis of the 
size and nature of the specific business), the customer is 
firstly subject to an individual analysis of creditworthiness 
and only then are standard payment and supply terms 
proposed to it.
The Company assesses the credit quality of customers by 
reference to their financial position, historical experience 

and other factors. Individual limits for managing this risk 
are determined based on internal or external ratings in 
compliance with the limits stipulated by the Compa-
ny’s internal guidelines. The Company’s management 
regularly assesses the level of credit risk and the size of its 
exposure and, at least on a monthly basis, monitors the 
balance of overdue trade receivables. The Company also 
requires that its customers provide it with appropriate 
forms of guarantees or collateral.

Impairment Loss and Write-Off of Receivables
The Company recognises allowances for impairment 
based on an estimate of future expected losses that may 
be incurred in respect of trade receivables, other receiv-
ables and provided loans. Expected future losses are esti-
mated in compliance with the methodology applied by 
the Company.

To measure expected credit losses in relation to the 
transition to IFRS 9, trade receivables, loans and other 
receivables were assessed based on the customer’s 
individual rating and days past due (referred to as the 
“individual approach”). The Company set the individual 
assessment of receivables in relation to the rating of the 
debtor’s country, the reason being that a majority of the 
Company’s business transactions are concluded with 
entities directly or closely related to state and public insti-
tutions. Receivables are classified by country of origin of 
the business from which the receivable is recorded. These 
countries were assigned rating based on an assessment 
by Standard and Poors. Using this rating, receivables are 
classified into three groups based on the risk of potential 
failure to recover the receivables:

The first low-risk group includes receivables from entities 
based in countries with a rating of AAA to A-, which are 
considered to be stable with a low risk of default. A proba-
bility of default of 0.1% has been assigned to this group of 
receivables. This probability corresponds with a one-year 
probability of default of a corporate client included in 
the investment grade (refer to Standard and Poors 2016 
Annual Global Corporate Default, Table No. 26).

The middle-risk group includes public entities from 
countries with a rating of A- to BB. This group has been 
assigned the probability of default at 1.9%. This value has 
been selected as the arithmetic average of the low-risk 
and high-risk values.

The highest-risk group includes private businesses from 
countries with a rating of BB- and worse, which has been 
assigned the highest probability of default at 3.7%. This 
probability corresponds with a one-year probability of 
default of a corporate client included in the speculative 
grade (refer to Standard and Poors 2016 Annual Global 
Corporate Default, Table No. 26).

Furthermore, the Company has identified a group of 
critical receivables which includes receivables to bankrupt 
or insolvent entities, with a 100% probability of default. In 
this respect, the Company reports provisions at the level of 
lifetime loss in respect of all types of receivables (including 
provided loans).
The Company anticipates loss given default (LGD) at 100%.
The Company always reports lifetime expected credit loss 
in respect of trade receivables.

The allowance amount measured in line with the 
above-described rating-based system additionally 
includes factors specific to the given debtors, general 
economic conditions in the debtor’s country and the 
assessment of the existing and expected development 
of the conditions as of the reporting date, including the 
recognition of the time value of money, if relevant. 
The Company has identified GDP and the unemployment 
rate in the Czech Republic, Slovakia and Serbia, which 
are the primary destinations of the sale of its goods and 
services, to be the most significant factors. If a change in 
these factors is expected, the Company adjusts the proba-
bility of default rate for a specific risk mark-up.

In respect of other financial instruments, the Company 
reports lifetime expected credit loss for their duration, 
provided a significant increase in credit risk has occurred 
since initial recognition. However, if credit risk has not 
significantly increased since initial recognition in respect 
of the financial instrument, the Company will calculate the 
allowance for the loss arising from this financial instru-
ment in the amount of expected credit losses over 12 
months.

Write-off of Receivables
The Company assesses default receivables. If the receiv-
able is assessed not to be recoverable by any means and 
the statute of limitations has expired – i.e. a period greater 
than 3 years from the due date – the Company’s manage-
ment will decide to write it off.
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Assets

Loans and other financial assets 3,368,629 -- 98,484 715,412 0 4,182,525

Trade receivables and other assets 1,095,331 -- 0 -3,997 6,003 1,097,337

Cash and cash equivalents 0 -- 9,828 0 0 9,828

Total 4,463,960 -- 108,312 711,415 6,003 5,289,690

As of 31 December 2019 

1 Refer to Standard and Poors 2016 Annual Global Corporate Default, table no. 26 – investment grade)
2 Refer to Standard and Poors 2016 Annual Global Corporate Default, table no. 26 – speculative grade)
https://www.spratings.com/documents/20184/774196/2016+Annual+Global+Corporate+Default+Study+And+Rating+Transitions.pdf/2ddcf9dd-
-3b82-4151-9dab-8e3fc70a7035

Credit Risk by Counterparty
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Assets

Loans and other financial assets 2,204,855 -- -- 299,377 -- 2,504,232

Trade receivables and other assets 1,028,905 -- -- -- -- 1,028,905

Tax receivables -- 1,106 -- -- -- 1,106

Cash and cash equivalents -- -- 63,830 -- -- 63,830

Total 3,233,760 1,106 63,830 299,377 -- 3,598,073

As of 31 December 2018 

II.	 Impairment Losses
As of the balance sheet date, the aging analysis of financial assets (without derivatives), excluding cash and cash equiv-
alents was as follows:

C Z K  T H O U S A N D 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 8

Before due date (net) 5,164,473 3,442,320

Past due date (net) 18,933 90,817

Total 5,183,406 3,533,137

Financial assets

The allowance for financial assets is used to recognise impairment losses, provided the Company does not conclude 
that the outstanding amount can no longer be recovered. In this situation, the amounts are considered to be irrecover-
able and are written off directly through financial assets.
The aging analysis and impairment losses on financial assets excluding cash and cash equivalents as of the balance 
sheet date:
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Loans and other financial assets 3,929,848 3,916,654 19,295 74,320 -80,421 3,929,848

Trade receivables and other financial 
assets 1,220,094 1,221,193 0 16,890 -17,989 1,220,094

Total 5,149,942 5,137,847 19,295 91,210 -98,410 5,149,942

As of 31 December 2019
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Loans and other financial assets 2,500,969 2,504,512 74,232 -77,775 2,385,108 115,867

Trade receivables and other financial 
assets 1,028,817 1,029,865 16,585 -17,633 1,028,811 --

Total 3,529,786 3,534,377 90,817 -95,408 3,413,919 115,867

As of 31 December 2018

In 2018, the rating of business partners in risk group 1 was between A+ and AA-, rating of business partners in risk group 
2 was between AAA- and BB.
The following movements in allowances against financial assets were reported in the reporting period 
ended 31 December 2019:

C Z K  T H O U S A N D 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 8

Balance at 1 January 95,408 73,526

Adjustment at initial application of IFRS 9 -- 2,465

Impairment losses reported during the period 6,720 19,417

Release (recognition) of impairment loss reported during the 
period -1 --

Balance at 31 December 102,127 95,408

b)	Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is a risk of the Company running into difficulties 
in meeting its commitments in relation to financial liabilities 
that are settled through cash or other financial assets. 
The Company’s management focuses on the methods 
used by financial institutions, i.e. diversifying the sources of 
funds. Thanks to the diversification, the Company is more 
flexible and its dependency, if any, on a single source of 
funding, is limited. Liquidity risk is primarily assessed by 
monitoring the changes in the structure of funding and by 
comparing the changes with the Company’s liquidity risk 
management strategy.

The below-stated table presents a breakdown of the 
Company’s financial assets and liabilities classified by their 
due dates, specifically by the period remaining from the 
balance sheet date until the contractual maturity date. In 
situations when options and payment schedules make 
earlier repayment possible, the Company applies maximum 
caution in assessing the due dates. Therefore, the due dates 
of liabilities are presented at the earliest possible dates and 
for assets at the latest possible date. Assets and liabilities 
without contractually stipulated due dates are classified 
under the “unspecified due date” category.

Impairment losses on loans and other financial assets as of 31 December 2019 and 2018 primarily concern companies in 
insolvency proceedings.
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Liabilities

Loans and borrowings 1,371,271 1,474 417 128,325 607,270 283,597 455,225

Bonds 2,952,896 3,542,520 --  174,712 3,367,808 0

Financial instruments and financial 
payables 98,363 98,363 19,274 12,389 66,700 -- 

Trade and other payables 510,419 510,419 392,829 92,225 --  25,365

Tax payables 27,737 27,737 230 27,507 --  -- 

Total 4,960,686 5,653,456 540,658 914,103 3,718,105 480,590

As of 31 December 2019
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Liabilities

Loans and borrowings 938,721 1,118,181 298,720 217,955 373,962 -- 227,544

Bonds 2,073,553 2,322,422 8,069 31,650 2,282,703 -- --

Financial instruments and financial 
payables 123,633 123,633 -- 56,456 65,869 1,308 --

Trade and other payables 495,952 495,952 271,266 224,686 -- -- --

Total 3,631,859 4,060,188 578,055 530,747 2,722,534 1,308 227,544

As of 31 December 2018

c)	 Interest Rate Risk
During its activities, the Company is exposed to the risk 
of interest rate fluctuations, the reason being that the 
interest-bearing assets (including investments) and inter-
est-bearing liabilities have various due dates or interest rate 
change dates. The period during which a specific financial 
instrument has a fixed interest rate shows to what extent 
the financial instrument is exposed to interest rate risk.
The Company manages interest rate risk through interest 
rate swaps. As of 31 December 2019, the Company had 
interest rate swaps in place, hedging floating 6M PRIBOR 
interest rates at fixed rates 1.5% for a credit facility in the 
total volume of CZK 2,100,000 thousand during the period 
from 2019 to 2025. 
As of 31 December 2018, the Company had interest rate 
swaps in place, hedging floating 6M Pribor interest rates at 
a fixed rate of 1.5% for a credit facility in the total volume 

of CZK 1,800,000 thousand during the period from 2018 
to 2021. 
The table presented below presents information on the 
level of the Company’s interest rate risk either based on the 
contractual maturity periods of the Company’s financial 
instruments or – in respect of financial instruments remea-
sured at the market interest rate before the due date – 
based on the date of the next interest rate change. Assets 
and liabilities that do not have a contractually stipulated 
maturity period or do not bear interest are classified under 
the “unspecified due date” category.
Financial information relating to interest-bearing and 
non-interest-bearing assets and liabilities and their con-
tractual maturity or restatement dates as of 31 December 
2019 and 31 December 2018 not including the effects of 
derivatives and receivables from the payment of dividends 
and other financial assets are as follows:

The value of loans in the category “unspecified due date” represents loans that have no set maturity date but they are 
payable on the creditor’s request.
The Company does not expect that the cash flows included in the analysis of due dates would fall due earlier or in much 
larger volumes. 

C Z K  T H O U S A N D
F L O A T I N G  I N T E R E S T  R A T E

F I X E D  I N T E R E S T 

R A T E  O R  U N S P E C I F I E D
T O T A L

L E S S  T H A N 

1  Y E A R

1  Y E A R  T O 

5  Y E A R S

Interest-bearing financial assets

Loans and other financial assets 3,391,997 -- 790,528 4,182,525

Total 3,391,997 -- 790,528 4,182,525

Interest-bearing financial liabilities

Bonds -- 2,900,500 52,396 2,952,896

Loans and borrowings - received 736,234 -- 635,037 1,371,271

Total 736,234 2,900,500 687,433 4,324,167

Net interest-rate risk balance 2,655,763 -2,900,500 103,095 -141,642

As of 31 December 2019

C Z K  T H O U S A N D

F L O A T I N G  I N T E R E S T  R A T E

F I X E D 

I N T E R E S T 

R A T E  O R  U N S P E C I F I E D

T O T A L

L E S S  T H A N 

1  Y E A R

1  Y E A R  T O 

5  Y E A R S

Interest-bearing financial assets

Loans and other financial assets  786,104 -- 1,714,861 2,500,965

Total 786,104 -- 1,714,861 2,500,965

 

Interest-bearing financial liabilities

Bonds -- 2,066,109 7,444 2,073,553

Loans and borrowings – received 150,000 -- 788,721 938,721

Total 150,000 2,066,109 796,165 3,012,274

Net interest-rate risk balance 636,104 -2,066,109 918,696 -511,309

As of 31 December 2018

Sensitivity Analysis
As of 31 December 2019, financial assets with a floating interest rate primarily include loans provided to subsidiaries of the 
Company. As of 31 December 2019 and 2018, out of the interest-bearing financial liabilities, especially bonds are subject to 
a floating interest rate. Following the recognition of the above-described derivative, as of 31 December 2019, only a portion 
of these issued bonds of CZK 800,500 thousand is effectively exposed to the floating interest rate risk (2018: CZK 24,000 
thousand). 
Due to the aforementioned, the Company did not perform stress tests of the sensitivity of interest rates.
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d)	Currency Risk
The Company’s financial positions and cash flows are affected by fluctuations in the effective foreign exchange rate.
The Company is exposed to currency risk in relation to sales, purchases and loans denominated in currencies other than 
the Company’s functional currency, primarily in EUR. 
As of 31 December 2019 a as of 31 December 2018, the Company was exposed to currency risk (translated to CZK thou-
sand) in the following scope:

C Z K  T H O U S A N D C Z K E U R U S D O T H E R T O T A L

Assets

Loans and other financial assets 1,878,280 507,077 649 118,226 2,504,232

Trade receivables and other assets 1,025,051 3,854 -- -- 1,028,905

Tax receivables 1,106 -- -- -- 1,106

Cash and cash equivalents 49,039 14,765 26 -- 63,830

Total assets 2,953,476 525,696 675 118,226 3,598,073

Liabilities

Loans and borrowings 762,691 128,632 47,398 -- 938,721

Financial instruments and financial liabilities 123,633 -- -- -- 123,633

Bonds 2,073,553 -- -- -- 2,073,553

Trade and other payables 495,952 -- -- -- 495,952

Total liabilities 3,455,829 128,632 47,398 -- 3,631,859

As of 31 December 2018

C Z K  T H O U S A N D C Z K E U R U S D O T H E R T O T A L

Assets

Loans and other financial assets 3,019,885 1,080,495 82,145 -- 4,182,525

Trade receivables and other assets 1,088,698 8,639 -- 1,097,337

Cash and cash equivalents 5,891 3,742 195 -- 9,828

Total assets 4,114,474 1,092,876 82,340 -- 5,289,690

Liabilities

Loans and borrowings 1,026,438 344,833 -- -- 1,371,271

Financial instruments and financial liabilities 43 79,456 18,864 -- 98,363

Bonds 2,952,896 -- -- -- 2,952,896

Trade and other payables 484,800 21,573 4,046 -- 510,419

Tax liabilities 27,737 -- -- -- 27,737

Total liabilities 4,491,914 445,862 22,910 -- 4,960,686

As of 31 December 2019 C Z K

A V E R A G E  R A T E

S P O T  E X C H A N G E 

R A T E  A S  O F  T H E 

B A L A N C E  S H E E T 

D A T E

A V E R A G E  R A T E

S P O T  E X C H A N G E 

R A T E  A S  O F  T H E 

B A L A N C E  S H E E T 

D A T E

1 EUR 25.672 25.41 25.643 25.725

1 USD 22.934 22.621 21.735 22.466

The following material exchange rates applied during the year:

3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 8

Sensitivity Analysis
The strengthening of the Czech crown as of the balance sheet date (as presented below) compared to EUR and USD 
would result in an increase/decrease of equity as presented in the table below. The analysis is based on the departures 
from foreign currency exchange rates which the Company considered to be sufficiently likely as of the balance sheet 
date. The sensitivity analysis anticipates that all other variables, namely interest rates, will remain unchanged.

E F F E C T  O N  P R O F I T  O R  L O S S  I N  C Z K  T H O U S A N D 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9

EUR (10% strengthening) 1,644 1,021 

USD (10% strengthening) 136 105

The weakening of the Czech crown as of the balance sheet date compared to the above listed currencies would have 
the same effect (albeit with the opposite sign), provided that all the other variables remained the same.

e)	 Operating Risk
Operating risk is a risk of losses arising from embezzle-
ment, unlawful activities, errors, negligence, inefficiency 
or system failure. The risk of this type arises during all of 
the Company’s activities and all of the corporate entities 
are exposed to it. Operating risk also includes legal risk. 
The Company’s objective is to manage operating risk so 
that balance is preserved between preventing financial 
losses and damage to the Company’s good name on 
the one hand, and the total effectiveness of the costs 
incurred on the other hand. In addition, risk management 
procedures should not hinder initiative and creativity. 
The primary responsibility for the implementation of 
control mechanisms to cope with operating risks is borne 
by management of each subsidiary. The Company’s 
management is responsible for managing operating risks, 
whereby it may set the direction of procedures and mea-

sures resulting in the mitigation of operating risks and the 
adoption of decisions about:
	 /	 The acknowledgement of individual existing risks;
	 /	� The commencement of processes that will result 

in the mitigation of possible effects; or
	 /	� A decrease in the extent of risky activities or their 

full discontinuation.

f)	 Commodity Risk
The Company’s activities do not face a significant com-
modity risk. 

g)	Capital Management
The Company’s objective in managing capital is to 
have a sufficient amount of funds to finance additional 
acquisitions. As of the balance sheet date, the Company 
reported the following ratio of debt to equity:

C Z K  T H O U S A N D 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 8

Total liabilities 4,960,686 3,637,826

Decrease for cash and cash equivalents -9,828 -63,830

Adjusted ned debt 4,950,858 3,573,996

Total equity 4,506,538 4,084,586

Ratio of debt to equity 1.10 0.88
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24. Related Parties
Definition of related parties
The Company’s relations with related parties include relations with shareholders and other parties as disclosed in the 
table below.

a)	 Summary of balances with related parties as of 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018:
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Shareholders 0 0 298,954 -10,604

Companies with controlling interest 3,040,320 -857,052 2,253,214 -934,304

Companies with significant interest 147 -16,936 37 -29,766

Key management of the Company 715,620 -- 2,000 -309

Other related parties 1,343,881 -269,082 246,073 -63,076

Total 5,099,968 -1,143,070 2,800,278 -1,038,059

3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9 3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 8

b)	Summary of transactions with related parties as of 31 December 2019 
and 31 December 2018:

C Z K  T H O U S A N D I N C O M E E X P E N S E I N C O M E E X P E N S E

Companies with controlling interest 104,306 74,977 601,538 95,686

Companies with significant interest 106 669 -- 1,013

Key management of the Company 30,188 -- -- --

Other related parties 15,713 4,508 7,184 16,162

Total 150,313 80,154 608,722 112,861

2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

26. Subsequent Events
Changes in the Group
In the period between 31 December 2019 and the date 
of preparation of the consolidated annual report, the 
following changes took place within the Group’s structure:

/	 �6 February 2020
	� CSG transferred 100% of the shares of VALUE SPV a. s. 

to CE Power Industries a. s.;
/	 10 February 2020 
	� CSG purchased 100% of the shares of MACHINERY 

SPV a. s. (currently CSG EXPORT a. s.) from Mr Michal 
Strnad;

/	 �28 February 2020
	� CSG transferred its 50% share in anji s. r. o. to JT CAPI-

TAL a. s.;
/	 �1 March 2020
	� CSG sold 100% shares of Rosco Bohemia a. s. to 

CE Industries a. s.;
/	� 9 March 2020
	� a transfer of the shares of Skyport a. s. between CSG 

a. s. and CSG AUTOMOTIVE a. s. was settled when CSG 
a. s. increased its share in Skyport a. s. to 88.88%;

/	 �13 March 2020
	� CSG purchased a 100% share in TRUCK SERVICE 

GROUP s. r. o. from Mr Jaroslav Strnad;
/	� 31 March 2020
	 �CSG sold 100% of the shares of SPV REAL ESTATE a. s. to 

BlackBird Real Estate s. r. o.;
/	 March 2020
	� a 97.5% share in TRADITION CS a. s. was transferred 

from CSG to CSG AEROSPACE a. s. (transfer within the 
Group).

Other subsequent events
The Group is implementing a merger project with the aim 
of merging the parent company Czechoslovak Group B.V. 
with Czechoslovak Group a. s. as the successor company. 
The estimated effective day of the merger is 1 January 2020.
The most critical subsequent event with a global impact 
is the pandemic of COVID-19 which, in the territory of the 
Czech and Slovak Republics where majority of companies 
within the Group operates, had unprecedented impacts on 
the community and the business sphere.
In compliance with the recommendations issued by the 
relevant authorities (European Securities and Markets 
Authority) and significant institutions (e.g. leading audit 
companies), the Group summarises the impacts of the 
current situation. The below-mentioned information cor-
responds to the moment when it is processed, which is 15 
April 2020.
The reporting entity describes the above event as non-ad-
justing pursuant to IAS 10 with respect to the fact that 
the outbreak of COVID-19 was declared a pandemic by 

the WHO as late as in March 2020. In this context, with 
a few exceptions, the current accounting policies and 
valuation methods are not modified, the useful life and 
impairment of tangible assets as well as the valuation of 
intangible assets is not altered. The assumptions concern-
ing the recoverability and valuation of receivables remain 
unchanged. The following categories are not affected: rec-
ognition of potential government support (IAS 20), changes 
in income tax liabilities (IAS 12), modifications in repayments 
of credit liabilities (if any), impacts on the reporting of reve-
nue from contracts (IFRS 15).
The management of the reporting entity deems the current 
situation temporary and assumes its normalisation within 
weeks. Subsequently, it expects a gradual recovery of the 
economic activity. In certain specific cases, the Company 
may be affected indirectly through its subsidiaries, which 
may face a temporary drop in the order volume or delayed 
payments from clients. With regard to the above-men-
tioned facts, the management does not quantify potential 
impacts.

Going concern
The assumption of the impact on the Company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern under IAS 1 is essential. 
On this issue, it should be reaffirmed that at the time of 
the preparation of the financial statements (March – April 
2020), the situation developed in a way that was difficult to 
predict. Most likely, the pandemic of COVID-19 may cause 
a global slowdown or decline in economic development, 
the extent of which cannot be estimated at this time. 
From the perspective of the holding company, which is 
a consolidating entity, the assumption of the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern is mainly conditional 
on the operation of its subsidiaries, which can be regarded 
as both financial investments and, in some cases, loan 
recipients. From the perspective of the parent company, 
the relevant risks are those regarding counterparties, 
liquidity and labour force (selected areas of administration 
are covered by the subsidiary CSGM a. s.). Further indirect 
risks exist at the level of the subsidiaries providing services 
and products: these may face risks concerning a decrease 
in the order volume, counterparties, supply chains, labour 
force and liquidity.

Opinion of the reporting entity’s management regarding 
the going concern assumption
The management of the reporting entity considered 
the potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on its 
activities and concluded that it has no significant effect 
on the assumption of the Company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. The consolidated financial statements 
were prepared in this respect.

25. Legal Disputes
CSG is a party in an ongoing legal dispute initiated by the 
American company SARN SD3 LLC (“SARN”), represented 
by a US-based pair of lobbyists from Washington, D.C. On 13 
December 2017, SARN filed a civil action against CSG at the 
Delaware Supreme Court and the case is filed as SARN SD3 
LLC vs. Czechoslovak Group a. s., file no. N17C-12-185 EMD 
(CCLD). The plaintiff states that CSG allegedly breached the 
Purchase Option Agreement between SARN and the Issuer 
of 7 October 2016 concerning a minority investment of 
SARN in a subsidiary of CSG, i.e. RETIA a. s. (“RETIA”) by fail-
ing to make a specific payment (contractual penalty) as set 
in the Agreement in the event of a change of control over 
RETIA or by breaching the contractual “fiduciary obligation” 

to seek to increase the value of RETIA following the conclu-
sion of the aforestated Purchase Option Agreement.
SARN’s claim based on the alleged breach of the contrac-
tual fiduciary obligation to increase the value of RETIA as 
calculated by the plaintiff amounts to USD 108.8 million, i.e. 
exceeding CZK 2.7 billion. CSG believes that this demand 
and the alleged claim of SARN in this respect are specula-
tive, coercive and have absolutely no factual or legal justifi-
cation. SARN has not provided evidence or statements to 
justify or prove the amount of such damage. The Company 
strongly objects against all statements and strongly asserts 
its claim against SARN. In the legal dispute, the Company 
is represented by the law firm Dentons in Prague and 
Washington, D.C.
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Report on Related Party 
Transactions 2019

R E P O R T  O N  R E L A T E D  P A R T Y  T R A N S A C T I O N S  2 0 1 9

CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. 

	 Registered office:	 Sokolovská 675/9, Karlín, 186 00 Prague 8 
	 Identification No.:	 034 72 302
	 Controlled Entity:	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s.

I.	 Controlling Entities
This Report on Relations between the below mentioned 
related parties was prepared pursuant to Section 82 of 
Act No. 90/2012 Coll., on Business Corporations.

Since 13 October 2014, Czechoslovak Group B.V. has been 
the controlling entity of CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. 
(hereinafter the “Company”). Czechoslovak Group B.V. is 
controlled by Michal Strnad. These facts are also valid as 
of 31 December 2019.

III.	 Structure of Relations between Related Parties

Entities controlled by CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s.

/	 14. OKTOBAR d.o.o Kruševac, Corporate ID: 211 78 772, with its seat at: Jasički put br. 2, Kruševac, Serbia
/	� ARMY SYSTEMS a. s., Corporate ID: 061 35 013, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, recorded 

in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 22517
/	� ARMY TRADE a. s., Corporate ID: 061 23 724, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, recorded 

in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 22516
/	� ARS Europe a. s., Corporate ID: 027 51 402, with its seat at: Václavské náměstí 808/66, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, 

recorded in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 19664
/	� ATLAN GROUP, spol. s r.o., Corporate ID: 35 754 2 22, with its seat at: Štúrova 925/27, 018 41 Dubnica nad Váhom, Slo-

vakia, recorded in the Register of Companies held at the District Court in Trenčín, File No.: Sro 13718/R
/	� ATRAK a. s., Corporate ID 082 08 638, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1. recorded in the 

Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 24436
/	� AVIA Motors s. r. o., Corporate ID: 274 22 356, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, recorded 

in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: C 112025
/	� AVIEN, spol.s. r. o., Corporate ID 475 39 682, with its seat at: Pernerova 691/42, Karlín, 186 00 Prague 8, recorded in the 

Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: C 19027
/	� BlackBird Services a. s., Corporate ID: 275 28 065, with its seat at: 101 Čepí, 533 32, recorded in the Register of Compa-

nies held at the Regional Court in Hradec Králové, File No.: B 26711

/	� Car Star Fleet s. r. o., Corporate ID: 051 93 214, with its seat at: Českobrodská 42, Dolní Počernice, 190 12 Prague 9, 
recorded in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: C 2596242

/	� Car Star Immo s. r. o., Corporate ID: 043 33 543, with its seat at: Českobrodská 42, Dolní Počernice, 190 12 Prague 9, 
recorded in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: C 2460513

/	� Car Star Praha s. r. o., Corporate ID: 051 98 305, with its seat at: Českobrodská 42, Dolní Počernice, 190 12 Prague 9, 
recorded in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: C 2596254

/	 Česká letecká servisní d.o.o., OIB: 08991167713, with its seat at: Jakova Gotovca 25, HR-10360 Sesvete, Croatia

/	 CLS Polska SP z.o.o., KRS: 0000433767, with its seat at: ul. Królowej Marysieńki 50A, 02-954 Warsaw, Poland 
/	� CS SOFT a. s., Corporate ID: 257 81 723, with its seat at: K Letišti 6/1019, 160 08 Prague 6, recorded in the Register of 

Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 15253
/	� CSG a. s., Corporate ID: 078 80 383, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, recorded in the 

Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 241885

/	� CSG AEROSPACE a. s., Corporate ID: 033 12 208, with its seat at: Pernerova 691/42, Karlín, 186 00 Prague 8, recorded in 
the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 19923

/	� CSG CENTRAL ASIA a. s., Corporate ID: 050 81 335, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, 
recorded in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 215326

/	� CSG DEFENCE a. s., Corporate ID: 073 33 528, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, recorded 
in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 23675

/	� CSG INDUSTRY a. s., Corporate ID: 060 15 689, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, recorded 
in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 22298

/	� CSG Land System CZ a. s., Corporate ID: 085 84 923, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, 
recorded in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 247647

/	� CSG RAIL a. s., Corporate ID: 073 33 552, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, recorded in 
the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 23677

/	� CSG RDR a. s., Corporate ID: 062 88 898, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, recorded in 
the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 22708

/	� CSG USA, INC., FN: 699 94 86, with its seat at: 251 Little Falls Drive, 198 08 Wilmington, New Castle, Delaware, United 
States of America

/	� CSGM a. s., Corporate ID: 013 84 694, with its seat at: Sokolovská 675/9, Karlín, 186 00 Prague 8, recorded in the Regis-
ter of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 19596

/	� CZECH DEFENCE SYSTEMS a. s., Corporate ID: 241 47 133, with its seat at: náměstí 14. října 1307/2, Smíchov, 150 00 
Prague 5, recorded in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 17410

/	� CZECHOSLOVAK EXPORT a. s., Corporate ID: 049 86 512, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 
1, recorded in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 21489

/	� CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s., Corporate ID: 034 72 302, with its seat at: Sokolovská 675/9, Karlín, 186 00 Prague 8, 
recorded in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 20071

/	� CZECHOSLOVAKIA TRADE s. r. o., Corporate ID: 50 018 175, with its seat at: Štúrova 925/27, 018 41 Dubnica nad Váhom, 
Slovakia, recorded in the Register of Companies held at the District Court in Trenčín, File No.: Sa 10724/R

/	� Česká letecká servisní a. s., Corporate ID: 251 01 137, with its seat at: Mladoboleslavská 1081, Kbely, 197 00 Prague 9, 
recorded in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 4510

/	� DAKO-CZ, a. s., Corporate ID: 465 05 091, with its seat at: Josefa Daňka 1956, 538 43 Třemošnice, recorded in the Reg-
ister of Companies held at the Regional Court in Hradec Králové, File No.: B 668

/	� DAKO-CZ RE, a. s., Corporate ID: 087 41 000, with its seat at: Josefa Daňka 1956, 538 43 Třemošnice, recorded in the 
Register of Companies held at the Regional Court in Hradec Králové, File No.: C 449508

/	� DEFENCE EXPORT a. s., Corporate ID: 051 72 187, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, 
recorded in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 21668

II.	 Controlled Entity
The Controlled Entity is CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. 
CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. controls the below listed 
related parties except for parties controlled by Michal 
Strnad.

1 Part of the Group until 31 December 2019; in 2019 under the name CSG Facility a.s. (renamed on 7 February 2020)
2 Part of the Group since 22 February 2019
3 Part of the Group since 22 February 2019
4 Part of the Group since 22 February 2019
5 Part of the Group since 8 February 2019
6 Part of the Group until 31 August 2019; thereafter an associate
7 Part of the Group since 8 October 2019
8 Part of the Group since 4 December 2019

R E P O R T  O N  R E L A T E D  P A R T Y  T R A N S A C T I O N S  2 0 1 9
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/	� DEFENCE SYSTEMS a. s., Corporate ID: 073 33 544, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, 
recorded in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 23691

/	� DEFENCE TRADE a. s., Corporate ID: 053 32 923, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, recor-
ded in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 21782

/	� DPTU SUMBRO TRADE Dooel, Corporate ID: 664 97 26, with its seat at: Samokov bb, 6535 Samokov, Makedonski 
Brod, Macedonia9

/	� EHC service, s. r. o., Corporate ID: 36 507 245, with its seat at: Sibírská 2, Prešov 080 01, Slovakia, recorded in the Regis-
ter of Companies held at the District Court in Prešov, File No.: Sro 16386/P

/	� ELDIS Pardubice, s. r. o., Corporate ID: 150 50 742, with its seat at: Dělnická 469, Pardubičky, 533 01 Pardubice, recor-
ded in the Register of Companies held at the Regional Court in Hradec Králové, File No.: C 524

/	� ELTON hodinářská a. s., Corporate ID: 259 31 474, with its seat at: Náchodská 2105, 549 01 Nové Město nad Metují, 
recorded in the Register of Companies held at the Regional Court in Hradec Králové, File No.: B 2007

/	� ENGINEERING SPV a. s., Corporate ID: 069 26 827, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, 
recorded in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 23253

/	� ESPA REAL s. r. o. in liquidation, Corporate ID: 259 60 806, with its seat at: Průmyslová 393, Pardubice - Černá za Bory, 530 
45 Pardubice, recorded in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Hradec Králové, File No.: C 17594

/	�� EUROPEAN AIR SERVICES s. r. o., Corporate ID: 291 31 987, with its seat at: Pernerova 691/42, Karlín, 186 00 Prague 8, 
recorded in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: C 202310

/	� EUROPEAN AIR SERVICES SLOVAKIA s. r. o., Corporate ID: 52 014 673, with its seat at: Cimborkova 13, Košice – mestská 
časť Sever 040 01, Slovakia, recorded in the Register of Companies held at the District Court in Košice, File No.: Sro 
44919/V

/	� EXCALIBUR ARMY spol. s r.o., Corporate ID: 645 73 877, with its seat at: Prague 10 – Vršovice, Kodaňská 521/57, PSČ 
10100, recorded in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: C 41695

/	� EXCALIBUR INTERNATIONAL a. s., Corporate ID: 292 89 688, with its seat at: Sokolovská 675/9, Karlín, 186 00 Prague 8, 
recorded in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 20148

/	� EXCALIBUR INTERNATIONAL HU Kft., Reg. No.: 01-09-327774, with its seat at: 1011 Budapest, Fő utca 14-18. PALA-HÁZ. 
lház. 3. em, Hungary

/	� EXCALIBUR USA a. s., Corporate ID: 044 07 571, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, recor-
ded in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 20938

/	� FALCON CSG a. s., Corporate ID: 069 26 894, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, recorded 
in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 2325410

/	� FUTURE CS a. s., Corporate ID: 054 88 966, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, recorded in 
the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 21933

/	� Havlíčkova 648 a. s., Corporate ID: 086 55 553 with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, recorded 
in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 2480711

/	� HELI COMPANY s. r. o., Corporate ID: 36 492 124, with its seat at: Vranovská 72, Prešov 080 01, Slovakia, recorded in the 
Register of Companies held at the District Court in Prešov, File No.: Sro 14788/P

/	� HTH land a. s., Corporate ID: 061 43 946, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, recorded in 
the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 22493

/	� Hyundai Centrum CB s. r. o., Corporate ID: 044 13 687, with its seat at: U Staré trati 1733/5, 370 11 České Budějovice 2, 
recorded in the Register of Companies held at the Regional Court in České Budějovice, File No.: C 2610812

/	� Hyundai Centrum Praha s. r. o., Corporate ID: 291 27 289, with its seat at: Českobrodská 42, Dolní Počernice, 190 12 
Prague 9, recorded in the Register of Companies held at the Regional Court in Prague, File No.: C 20221513

/	� Industry Defence, s. r. o., Corporate ID: 50 926 748, with its seat at: Štúrova 925/27, Dubnica nad Váhom 018 41, Slova-
kia, recorded in the Register of Companies held at the District Court in Trenčín, File No.: Sro 34828/R

/	� INTEGRA CAPITAL a. s., Corporate ID: 275 28 103, with its seat at: Sokolovská 675/9, Karlín, 186 00 Prague 8, recorded 
in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 21504

/	� JOB AIR Technic, a. s., Corporate ID: 277 68 872, with its seat at: Gen. Fajtla 370, 742 51 Mošnov, recorded in the Regis-
ter of Companies held at the Regional Court in Ostrava, File No.: B 3029 

/	� KARBOX Holding s. r. o.,: Corporate ID 276 01 374, with its seat at: Havlíčkova 648, 508 01 Hořice, recorded in the Regi-
ster of Companies held at the Regional Court in Hradec Králové, File No.: C 23915

/	� KARBOX s. r. o., Corporate ID: 260 02 370, with its seat at: Tovární 1553, 535 01 Přelouč, recorded in the Register of 
Companies held at the Regional Court in Hradec Králové, File No.: C 19384

/	� LIAZ TRUCKS a. s., Corporate ID: 067 10 697, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, recorded 
in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 23100

/	� LIKVIDACE ODPADU CZ a. s., Corporate ID: 248 23 473, with its seat at: Sokolovská 675/9, Karlín, 186 00 Prague 8, 
recorded in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 1701914

/	� LOGRIS a. s., Corporate ID: 018 34 002, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, recorded in the 
Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 2207715

/	� LOSTR a. s., Corporate ID: 051 97 104, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, recorded in the 
Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 21657

/	� MADE CS a. s., Corporate ID: 050 57 779, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, recorded in 
the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 21533

/	� MERIT SPV a. s., Corporate ID: 069 77 545, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, recorded in 
the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 23278

/	� MSM Banská Bystrica, a. s., Corporate ID: 44 739 630, with its seat at: Štúrova 925/27, 018 41 Dubnica nad Váhom, 
Slovakia, recorded in the Register of Companies held at the District Court in Trenčín, File No.: Sa 10742/R

/	� MSM BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT s. r. o., Corporate ID: 52 283 241, with its seat at: Štúrova 925/27, 018 41 Dubnica nad 
Váhom, Slovakia, recorded in the Register of Companies held at the District Court in Trenčín, File No.: Sro 37975/R16

/	� MSM e-mobility division j. s. a., Corporate ID: 514 14 945, with its seat at: Štúrova 925/27, 018 41 Dubnica nad Váhom, 
Slovakia, recorded in the Register of Companies held at the District Court in Trenčín, File No.: Sja 3/R

/	� MSM GROUP s. r. o., Corporate ID: 46 553 509, with its seat at: Štúrova 925/27, 018 41 Dubnica nad Váhom, Slovakia, 
recorded in the Register of Companies held at the District Court in Trenčín, File No.: Sro 31504/R 

/	� MSM holding, s. r. o., Corporate ID: 48 006 122, with its seat at: Štúrova 925/27, 018 41 Dubnica nad Váhom, Slovakia, 
recorded in the Register of Companies held at the District Court in Trenčín, File No.: Sro 31197/R

/	� MSM LAND SYSTEMS s. r. o., Corporate ID: 36 396 711, with its seat at: Kasárenská 8, 911 05 Trenčín, Slovakia, recorded 
in the Register of Companies held at the District Court in Trenčín, File No.: Sro 34630/R

/	� MSM Martin, s. r. o., Corporate ID: 36 422 991, with its seat at: Štúrova 925/27, 018 41 Dubnica nad Váhom, Slovakia, 
recorded in the Register of Companies held at the District Court in Trenčín, File No.: Sro 30764/R

/	� MSM Nováky, a. s., Corporate ID: 35 820 322, with its seat at: Štúrova 925/27, 018 41 Dubnica nad Váhom, Slovakia, 
recorded in the Register of Companies held at the District Court in Trenčín, File No.: Sa 10564/R

/	� MSM TATRA Special Vehicles, s. r. o., Corporate ID: 50 755 749, with its seat at: Štúrova 925/27, 018 41 Dubnica nad 
Váhom, Slovakia, recorded in the Register of Companies held at the District Court in Trenčín, File No.: Sro 34330/R

/	� MSM – OPTICAL, s. r. o., Corporate ID: 52 070 972, with its seat at: Štúrova 925/27, 018 41 Dubnica nad Váhom, Slovakia, 
recorded in the Register of Companies held at the District Court in Trenčín, File No.: Sro 37466/R

/	� New Space Technologies s. r. o., Corporate ID: 019 54 717, with its seat at: Zerzavice 2146, 686 01 Staré Město, recorded 
in the Register of Companies held at the Regional Court in Brno, File No.: C 9681917

/	� NIKA Development a. s., Corporate ID: 275 28 910, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, 
recorded in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 23310

/	� P F Support s. r. o., Corporate ID: 043 90 121, with its seat at: Pernerova 691/42, Karlín, 186 00 Prague 8 recorded in the 
Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: C 242270

/	� PPS VEHICLES, s. r. o., Corporate ID: 36 032 646, with its seat at: Tajovského 7, 962 12 Detva, Slovakia, recorded in the 
Register of Companies held at the Regional Court in Banská Bystrica, File No.: Sro 5603/S18

/	� PROGRESS SPV a. s., Corporate ID: 067 10 875, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, recor-
ded in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 23102

/	� REAL TRADE PRAHA a. s., Corporate ID: 256 42 740, with its seat at: náměstí 14. října 1307/2, Smíchov, 150 00 Prague 
5, recorded in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 5185

/	� Rosco Bohemia a. s., Corporate ID: 041 82 626, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, recorded 
in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 20739

/	� SBS ZVS, s. r. o., Corporate ID: 36 306 070, with its seat at: Štúrova 1, 018 41 Dubnica nad Váhom, Slovakia, recorded in 
the Register of Companies held at the District Court in Trenčín, File No.: Sro 11273/R

/	� Shenyang Czech Design Rail Brake System Co., Ltd, with its seat at: Economic Development Zone, Street No. 13, 12Jia 
3-2, ShenYang, Peoples Republic of China9 Part of the Group since 24 October 2019

10 Part of the Group until 31 August; thereafter an associate; on 22 July 2019 renamed (original name: PERFORMANCE SPV a.s.)
11 Part of the Group from 31 October 2019 to 10 December 2019
12 Part of the Group since 22 February 2019
13 Part of the Group since 22 February 2019

14 Part of the Group until 1 October 2019
15 Part of the Group until 21 February 2019
16 Part of the Group since 16 March 2019
17 Part of the Group (fully consolidated) since 1 September 2019; before that an associate
18 Part of the Group since 18 December 2019
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/	� SHER Technologies a. s., Corporate ID: 275 28 171, with its seat at: No. 101, 533 32 Čepí, recorded in the Register of 
Companies held at the Regional Court in Hradec Králové, File No.: B 2669

/	� Skyport a. s., Corporate ID: 278 80 176, with its seat at: Laglerové 1075/4, Ruzyně, 161 00 Prague 6, recorded in the 
Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 1172819

/	� Skyport Catering s. r. o., Corporate ID: 036 80 835, with its seat at: Laglerové 1075/4, Ruzyně, 161 00 Prague 6, recor-
ded in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: C 23620020

/	� Slovak Aviation Factory s. r. o., Corporate ID: 50 885 201, with its seat at: Štúrova 925/27, 018 41 Dubnica nad Váhom, 
Slovakia, recorded in the Register of Companies held at the District Court in Trenčín, File No.: Sro 34705/R21

/	� Slovak Training Academy, s. r. o., Corporate ID: 47 055 952, with its seat at: Štúrova 925/27, 018 41 Dubnica nad Váhom, 
Slovakia, recorded in the Register of Companies held at the District Court in Trenčín, File No.: Sro 30298/R

/	� Space T a. s., Corporate ID: 086 55 600, with its seat at:  Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, recorded in 
the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 2480822

/	� SPV REAL ESTATE a. s., Corporate ID: 068 12 716, with its seat at: Opletalova 1015/55, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, 
recorded in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.:2323023

/	� STA TECHNOLOGY, s. r. o., Corporate ID: 50 479 717, with its seat at: Štúrova 925/27, 018 41 Dubnica nad Váhom, Slova-
kia, recorded in the Register of Companies held at the District Court in Trenčín, File No.: Sro 33646/R

/	� TATRA a. s., Corporate ID: 051 27 548, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, recorded in the 
Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 21585

/	� TATRA AVIATION a. s., Corporate ID: 039 99 203, with its seat at: Kodaňská 521/57, Vršovice, 101 00 Prague 10, recorded 
in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 20535

/	� TATRA DEFENCE VEHICLE a. s., Corporate ID: 241 52 269, with its seat at: Kodaňská 521/57, Vršovice, 101 00 Prague 10, 
recorded in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 17463

/	� TATRA MANUFACTURE a. s., Corporate ID: 051 27 394, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, 
recorded in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 21580

/	� TECHPARK Hradubická a. s., Corporate ID: 275 19 546, with its seat at: No. 101, 533 32 Čepí, recorded in the Register of 
Companies held at the Regional Court in Hradec Králové, File No.: B 2620

/	� Tovární 1112 a. s., Corporate ID: 077 54 345, with its seat at: Tovární 1112, Chrudim IV, 537 01 Chrudim, recorded in the 
Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Hradec Králové, File No.: B 364624

/	� TRADITION CS a. s., Corporate ID: 060 79 598, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, 110 00 Prague 1, recorded in the Regi-
ster of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 22466

/	� TRANSELCO CZ s. r. o., Corporate ID: 257 33 117, with its seat at: Chrudimská 41, Dolní Bučice, 285 71 Vrdy, recorded in 
the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: C 6529125

/	� Vagonka Louny a. s., Corporate ID: 086 48 697, with its seat at: Husova 402, 440 01 Louny, recorded in the Register of 
Companies held at the Regional Court in Ústí nad Labem, File No.: B 276426

/	� VALUE SPV a. s., Corporate ID: 086 55 642, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, recorded in 
the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 2480927

/	� Virte, a. s., Corporate ID: 359 17 491, with its seat at: Štúrova 925/27, 018 41 Dubnica nad Váhom, Slovakia, recorded in 
the Register of Companies held at the District Court in Trenčín, File No.: Sa 10739/R

/	� VÍTKOVICKÁ  DOPRAVA a. s., Corporate ID: 259 09 339, with its seat at: 1. máje 3302/102a, Moravská Ostrava, 703 00 
Ostrava, recorded in the Register of Companies held at the Regional Court in Ostrava, File No.: B 2595

/	� VMT Trade s. r. o., Corporate ID: 50 927 477, with its seat at: Komenského 19, Martin, 036 01, Slovakia, recorded in the 
Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Žilina, File No.: Sro 67978/L

/	� VÝVOJ Martin, a. s., Corporate ID: 36 381 829, with its seat at: Komenského 19, 036 01 Martin, Slovakia, recorded in the 
Register of Companies held at the District Court in Žilina, File No.: Sa 10119/L

/	� Whare factory s. r. o., IČO: 027 00 042, se sídlem Českobrodská č.ev. 42, Dolní Počernice, 190 12 Prague 9, recorded in 
the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: C 22255528

/	� ZTS METALURG špeciál, s. r. o., Corporate ID: 51 087 723, with its seat at: Továrenská 56, 018 41 Dubnica nad Váhom, 
Slovakia, recorded in the Register of Companies held at the District Court in Trenčín, File No.: Sro 35274/R29

/	� ZTS METALURG, a. s., Corporate ID: 46 933 913, with its seat at: Továrenská 56, 018 41 Dubnica nad Váhom, Slovakia, 
recorded in the Register of Companies held at the District Court in Trenčín, File No.: Sa 10696/R30

/	� ZVS Ammunition, a. s., Corporate ID: 50 704 575, with its seat at: Štúrova 925/27, 018 41 Dubnica nad Váhom, Slovakia, 
recorded in the Register of Companies held at the District Court in Trenčín, File No.: Sa 10719/R

/	� ZVS holding, a. s., Corporate ID: 36 305 600, with its seat at: Štúrova 925/27, 018 41 Dubnica nad Váhom, Slovakia, 
recorded in the Register of Companies held at the District Court in Trenčín, File No.: Sa 10152/R

/	� ZVS IMPEX, akciová spoločnosť, Corporate ID: 36 302 848, with its seat at: Štúrova 925/27, 018 41 Dubnica nad Váhom, 
Slovakia, recorded in the Register of Companies held at the District Court in Trenčín, File No.: Sa 10104/R

/	� ZVS-Armory, s. r. o., Corporate ID: 46 100 466, with its seat at: Priemyselná 7, 971 01 Prievidza, Slovakia, recorded in the 
Register of Companies held at the District Court in Trenčín, File No.: Sro 32061/R31

Entities, the highest controlling entity of which is Mr Michal Strnad

/	� ARMY SPV a. s., Corporate ID: 068 61 202, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, recorded in 
the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 23219

/	� ASSET SPV a. s., Corporate ID: 069 79 505, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, recorded in 
the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 23337

/	� CASERMANIX s. r. o., Corporate ID: 016 18 377, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, recorded 
in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 209337

/	� Cognus Solutions, s. r. o., Corporate ID: 028 45 474, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, 
recorded in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: C 224442

/	� CSG AUTOMOTIVE a. s., IČO: 078 80 316, se sídlem Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Praha 1, zapsaná v OR vede-
ném u Městského soudu v Praze, sp. zn. B 24189

/	� DEFENCE SPV a. s., Corporate ID: 068 61 318, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, recorded 
in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 23220

/	� DEVELOP SPV a. s., Corporate ID: 065 94 786, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, recorded 
in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 22989

/	� HELA GROUP s. r. o., Corporate ID: 242 56 382, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, recorded 
in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: C 197399

/	� INDUSTRY INNOVATION a. s., Corporate ID: 017 71 892, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, 
recorded in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 19432

/	� INDUSTRY SPV a. s., Corporate ID: 061 85 878, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, recorded 
in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 22602

/	� INDUSTRYIN a. s., Corporate ID: 055 95 240, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, recorded in 
the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 21960

/	� INNOVATION CS a. s., Corporate ID: 018 52 515, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, recor-
ded in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 22092

/	� KOVOSVIT MAS Foundry, a. s., Corporate ID: 069 78 347, with its seat at: náměstí Tomáše Bati 419, 391 02 Sezimovo 
Ústí, recorded in the Register of Companies held at the Regional Court in České Budějovice, File No.: B 2407

/	� KOVOSVIT MAS Machine Tools, a. s., Corporate ID: 073 33 536, with its seat at: náměstí Tomáše Bati 419, 391 02 Sezi-
movo Ústí, recorded in the Register of Companies held at the Regional Court in České Budějovice, File No.: B 2406

/	� KOVOSVIT MAS Management, a. s., Corporate ID: 073 98 778, with its seat at: náměstí Tomáše Bati 419, 391 02 Sezi-
movo Ústí, recorded in the Register of Companies held at the Regional Court in České Budějovice, File No.: B 2408

/	� CSG EXPORT a. s., Corporate ID: 062 24 971, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, recorded in 
the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 2259932

/	� PROJECT SPV a. s., Corporate ID: 061 85 771, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, recorded 
in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 22601

/	� ReDat Recording, a. s., Corporate ID: 056 48 114, with its seat at: Pražská 341, Zelené Předměstí, 530 02 Pardubice, 
recorded in the Register of Companies held at the Regional Court in Hradec Králové, File No.: B 3523

/	� Retia, a. s., Corporate ID: 252 51 929, with its seat at: Pražská 341, Zelené Předměstí, 530 02 Pardubice, recorded in the 
Register of Companies held at the Regional Court in Hradec Králové, File No.: B 1440

/	� SKYPORT GROUP (UK) PLC, with its seat at: Lion House Red Lion Street, London WC1R 4BG

19Part of the Group since 20 September 2019
20 Part of the Group since 20 September 2019
21 Part of the Group since 10 January2019
22 Part of the Group since 31 October 2019; renamed on 13 February 2020 (original name: BUSINESS SPV a.s.)
23 Part of the Group since 7 August 2019
24 Součást skupiny do 23 May 2019
25 Součást skupiny od 6 August 2019
27 Součást skupiny od 31 October2019
28 Součást skupiny od 22 February2019
29 Součást skupiny do 30 November 2019

30 Part of the Group since 30 November 2019
31 Renamed on 17 January 2019; original name: CZ – Slovensko, s.r.o.
32 Renamed on 13 February 2020; original name: MACHINERY SPV a.s
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/	� Skyport s. r. o., Corporate ID: 31 373 844, with its seat at: Letisko M. R. Štefánika, 820 01 Bratislava, Slovakia, recorded in 
the Register of Companies held at the Regional Court in Bratislava, File No.: Sro 7125/B

/	� SYNERGY CS a. s., Corporate ID: 060 72 585, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, recorded 
in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 22465

/	� TECHNOLOGY CS a. s., Corporate ID: 057 74 888, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, recor-
ded in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 22200

/	� TESLA CS a. s., Corporate ID: 068 61 041, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, recorded in 
the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 23216

/	� TESLA RADARS a. s., Corporate ID: 068 61 083, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, recor-
ded in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 23217

/	� VEHICLE SPV a. s., Corporate ID: 065 94 794, with its seat at: Na poříčí 1071/17, Nové Město, 110 00 Prague 1, recorded 
in the Register of Companies held at the Municipal Court in Prague, File No.: B 2298833

33 Part of the structure since 29 October 2019

IV.	 Role of the Controlled Entity, Method and Means of Control
The role of the Controlled Entity involves mainly covering the activities of subsidiaries in 
the Czech and Slovak Republics.
Control over the entities is exercised by means of a 100% or a controlling interest in the voting rights at the company’s 
General Meeting.

V.	 List of Acts Performed in 2019 at the Instigation or in the Interest of the Controlling Entity or Entities Controlled by 
it, in Case such Acts Included Assets Exceeding 10% of the Controlled Entity’s Equity according to the Most Recent 
Set of Financial Statements
In 2019, CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records no transaction with respect to assets exceeding 10% of the equity.

VI.	List of Mutual Contracts and Agreements Concluded between the Controlled Entity and the Controlling Entity or 
between Controlled Entities
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with Mr Michal Strnad arising from a loan.
/	� CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records agreements with 14. OKTOBAR d.o.o Kruševac a. s. arising from loans.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with CSG CENTRAL ASIA a. s. arising from a loan.
/	� CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with ARMY SYSTEMS a. s. arising from a loan.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with ARMY TRADE a. s. arising from a loan.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with AVIA MOTORS s. r. o. arising from loans.
/	� CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records agreements with AVIA MOTORS s. r. o. arising from a contribution over and above 

the share capital balance.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with BUSINESS SPV a. s. arising from a loan.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with CSG a. s. arising from a loan.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with CSG AEROSPACE a. s. arising from a loan.
/	� CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with CSG AEROSPACE a. s. arising from the assignment of a receiv-

able.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with CSG DEFENCE a. s. arising from a loan.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with CSG Facility a. s. arising from a loan.
/	� CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with CSG Facility a. s. arising from the provision of maintenance 

services.
/	� CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with CSG Facility a. s. arising from the sublease of non-residential 

premises.
/	� CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records agreements with CSG INDUSTRY a. s. arising from a contribution over and above 

the share capital balance.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with CSG INDUSTRY a. s. arising from a loan.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with CSG RAIL a. s. arising from a loan.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records agreements with CSG RDR a. s. arising from loans.
/	� CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records agreements with CSG RDR a. s. arising from the take-over of debt and off-set-

ting
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with CSG USA, Inc. arising from a loan.

/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with CSGM a. s. arising from the assignment of receivables.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records agreements with CSGM a. s. arising from loans.
/	� CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records agreements with CSGM a. s. arising from the provision of maintenance services.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records agreements with CSGM a. s. arising from the take-over of debt.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with CZECH DEFENCE SYSTEMS a. s. arising from a loan.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP B.V. arising from a loan.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with CZECHOSLOVAK EXPORT a. s. arising from loans.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records agreements with DEFENCE SYSTEMS a. s. arising from a loan.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with DEFENCE EXPORT a. s.. arising from a loan.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with DEFENCE TRADE a. s. arising from a loan.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with ELDIS Pardubice, s. r. o. arising from loans.
/	� CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with ELDIS Pardubice, s. r. o. arising from the future acquisition of 

bonds.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with ENGINEERING SPV a. s.  arising from a loan.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records agreements with EXCALIBUR USA a. s. arising from loans.
/	� CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with FALCON CSG a. s. arising from the sale of the equity interest.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with HTH land a. s. arising from loans.
/	� CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with HTH land a. s. arising from a contribution over and above the 

share capital balance.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with Hyundai Centrum CB s. r. o. arising from a loan.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with Hyundai Centrum Praha s. r. o. arising from a loan.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records agreements with INTEGRA CAPITAL a. s. arising from loans.
/	� CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records agreements with INTEGRA CAPITAL a. s. arising from the assignment of receiv-

ables.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with JOB AIR Technic a. s. arising from a loan.
/	� CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with JOB AIR Technic a. s. arising from the future acquisition of 

bonds.
/	� CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with KARBOX s. r.o. arising from the transfer of physical securities 

against payment.
/	� CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with KARBOX Holding s. r. o. arising from the assignment of 

receivables.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with KARBOX Holding s. r. o. arising from a loan.
/	� CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with KARBOX Holding s. r. o. arising from a contribution over and 

above the share capital balance.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with LIAZ TRUCKS a. s. arising from a loan.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with LOSTR a. s. arising from a loan.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records agreements with MADE CS a. s. arising from loans.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with MADE CS a. s. arising from the assignment of a receivable.
/	� CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with MADE CS a. s. arising from a contribution over and above the 

share capital balance..
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with MERIT SPV a. s. arising from a loan.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with MSM GROUP s. r. o. arising from a loan.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records agreements with MSM Martin s. r. o. arising from loans.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with MSM Nováky, a. s. arising from a loan.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with NIKA Development a. s. arising from a loan.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records agreements with FALCON CSG a. s. arising from a loan.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records agreements with PROGRESS SPV a. s. arising from a loan.
/	� CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records agreements with REAL TRADE PRAHA a. s. arising from the purchase of the 

equity interest.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with ROSCO BOHEMIA a. s. arising from loans.
/	� CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records agreements with SHER Technologies a. s. arising from the assignment of receiv-

ables.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records agreements with SHER Technologies a. s. arising from a loan.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records agreements with Skyport a. s. arising from a loan.
/	 CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with SPV REAL ESTATE a. s. arising from a loan.
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/ CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with TATRA a. s. arising from a loan.
/ CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records agreements with TATRA AVIATION a. s. arising from loans.
/  CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records agreements with TATRA AVIATION a. s. arising from a contribution over and above 

the share capital balance.
/  CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with TATRA DEFENCE VEHICLE a. s. arising from netting.
/  CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with TATRA MANUFACTURE a. s. arising from a loan.
/ CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records agreements with TRADITION CS a. s. arising from loans.
/ CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with Vagonka Louny a. s.. arising from a loan.
/ CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with VÍTKOVICKÁ DOPRAVA, a. s. arising from a loan.
/ CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a. s. records an agreement with ZVS IMPEX, akciová spoločnosť arising from a loan.

VII. Assessment of Detriment Incurred from Business Relations with Related Entities
The Company uses fi nancing services from related parties in the normal course of its business.
The Company incurred no detriment arising from the aforementioned contracts, legal acts and other acts.

VIII. Assessment of Advantages and Disadvantages Arising from the Relations between Related Entities
Generally, it can be stated that mainly advantages follow from the relations between related parries. These include 
predominantly as follows:

 /  Using synergies, as part of promotion, using packaged solutions in multiple companies within the Group and 
fi nancing.

 /  No disadvantages arising from the relations between related parties were noted and the Company does not 
record any risks arising from the aforementioned relations.

In Prague on 27 March 2020

Member of the Board of Directors Chairman of the Board of Directors
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Shareholder of 
CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a.s.

Having its registered office at: Sokolovská 675/9, Karlín, 186 00 Praha 8

Audit Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a.s. 
and its subsidiaries (hereinafter also the “Group”) prepared on the basis of International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position as of 31 December 2019, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year 
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view 
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as of 31 December 2019, and of its consolidated 
financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Act on Auditors, Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014 
of the European Parliament and the Council, and Auditing Standards of the Chamber of Auditors 
of the Czech Republic, which are International Standards on Auditing (ISAs), as amended 
by the related application guidelines. Our responsibilities under this law and regulation are further 
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Act on Auditors and 
the Code of Ethics adopted by the Chamber of Auditors of the Czech Republic and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed 
in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter How it was addressed

Existence of revenues and revenue recognition date 

The key audit matter is the Group’s revenues 
(Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements). 

Revenues are a significant indicator in evaluating 
the Group’s performance. The existence 

In addressing this key audit matter we performed 
a combination of tests of internal controls and 
substantive testing. 

Deloitte Audit s.r.o.
Churchill I
Italská 2581/67
120 00 Prague 2 – Vinohrady
Czech Republic

Tel: +420 246 042 500
Fax: +420 246 042 555
DeloitteCZ@deloitteCE.com
www.deloitte.cz

Registered by the Municipal Court 
in Prague, Section C, File 24349
ID. No.:49620592
Tax ID. No.: CZ49620592
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of revenues and the revenue recognition date 
correctness represent a risk for the audit 
of the Group because the Group realises 
revenues from various types of activities, 
including construction contracts, on various 
markets and under various conditions. 

Principally the recognition of revenue on 
construction contracts is based on a high degree 
of judgement applied by the Group. 

• We tested the design and implementation 
of the key internal controls of all significant 
Group entities relating to revenue recognition. 

• We performed a substantive test of specific 
revenue transactions on a sample basis.

• We tested whether revenue was recognised in 
the relevant reporting periods and whether 
revenue was not misstated through reporting 
in an incorrect period. On a sample basis, we 
selected invoices recorded around the year-
end and based on supporting documents 
related to these invoices we assessed if 
the revenue was recorded in the correct 
period.

• We tested receivables by sending year-end 
confirmation letters to selected customers and 
compared the amounts confirmed by 
the customers with the balance of receivables 
reported by the Group. 

• We performed analytical tests of significant 
revenue accounts and compared the expected 
amount of revenues on the basis of our 
calculation with the amount presented in 
the accounting records.

Our audit procedures on revenues from contracts 
with customers and construction contracts 
included:

• We critically assessed the methodology 
applied by the Group to determine the stage 
of completion and subsequently, for 
the calculation of revenue on the basis 
of this stage of completion, compliance 
of the methodology with IFRS 15.

• We evaluated the estimates made by 
the Group in respect of total and future 
expected costs and revenues on construction 
contracts. 

• We tested the detail of the calculations 
of revenue on a sample of construction 
contracts, primarily focused on checking 
the used input data from contracts with 
customers and financial plans of construction 
contracts and reviewing the calculation for 
mathematical correctness. 

• We assessed the adequacy of disclosures 
made in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements with regard to revenues 
recognised in terms of the stage of completion 
of construction contracts and judgement 
applied. 

Correctness and completion of the presentation of financial liabilities (bank loans and 
bonds issued) 

The correctness and completion 
of the presentation of financial liabilities (Note 19
to the consolidated financial statements)
represent a key audit matter since the Group 
uses significant external financing in the form 
of issued bonds and banking loans for its 
operating and investment activities. These types 
of financing carry covenants and other criteria, 

Our audit procedures, included, among others:

• We sent bank confirmation letters and based 
on received responses, we compared 
the confirmed amounts of bank loans with 
the amounts presented by the Group in 
the accounting records. 

the evaluation of which by the Group has 
a material impact on the presentation in 
the consolidated financial statements (e.g. on
the presentation of long-term and short-term 
components). 

• We determined whether the loan balance is 
appropriately presented as a short-term or 
long-term payable pursuant to the concluded 
contract, repayment schedule or bank 
confirmation letter. 

• With regard to issued bonds, we compared the 
information reported in public sources of the 
Prague Stock Exchange with the information 
disclosed in the consolidated financial 
statements. 

• We agreed the year-end balance of issued 
bonds to the confirmation from the issue 
manager.

• We agreed the information on covenants in 
respect of received bank loans and issued 
bonds to supporting documentation 
(e.g. contract, prospectus). 

• We tested the mathematical correctness 
of the calculation of the covenants.

• We assessed compliance with the relevant 
covenants.

• We assessed the adequacy of disclosures 
made in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements with regard to issued bonds and 
external funding in the form of bank loans.

Other Information in the Consolidated Annual Report

In compliance with Section 2(b) of the Act on Auditors, the other information comprises 
the information included in the consolidated Annual Report other than the consolidated financial 
statements and auditor’s report thereon. The Board of Directors is responsible for the other 
information.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information. In 
connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. In addition, we assess whether the other information 
has been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with applicable law or regulation, in 
particular, whether the other information complies with law or regulation in terms of formal 
requirements and procedure for preparing the other information in the context of materiality, i.e. 
whether any non-compliance with these requirements could influence judgments made on the basis 
of the other information.

Based on the procedures performed, to the extent we are able to assess it, we report that:

• The other information describing the facts that are also presented in the consolidated financial 
statements is, in all material respects, consistent with the consolidated financial statements; and 

• The other information is prepared in compliance with applicable law or regulation.

In addition, our responsibility is to report, based on the knowledge and understanding of the Company 
obtained in the audit, on whether the other information contains any material misstatement of fact. 
Based on the procedures we have performed on the other information obtained, we have not identified 
any material misstatement of fact.

Responsibilities of the Company’s Board of Directors and Supervisory Board for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by 
the EU and for such internal control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends 
to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but 
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with the above law or regulation, we exercise professional judgment 
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the Board of Directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as 
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention 
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained 
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent 
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Board of Directors, the Supervisory Board and the Audit Committee
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, the Supervisory Board and the Audit 
Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter 
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated 
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh 
the public interest benefits of such communication.

Audit Report on the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a.s. (hereinafter 
also the “Company”) prepared on the basis of International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted 
by the EU, which comprise the statement of financial position as of 31 December 2019, and the 
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for 
the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position 
of CZECHOSLOVAK GROUP a.s. as of 31 December 2019, and of its financial performance and its cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted by the EU.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Act on Auditors, Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014 
of the European Parliament and the Council, and Auditing Standards of the Chamber of Auditors 
of the Czech Republic, which are International Standards on Auditing (ISAs), as amended 
by the related application guidelines. Our responsibilities under this law and regulation are further 
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Act on Auditors and the Code 
of Ethics adopted by the Chamber of Auditors of the Czech Republic and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in 
the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, 
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter How it was addressed

Valuation of investments in subsidiaries and associates   

The correct valuation of investments in 
subsidiaries and associates (Note 10 to 
the financial statements) represents a key audit 
matter. The Company reports investments in 
a number of companies that carry the risk 
of the value of the investment being greater than 
its fair value. The correct valuation requires 
a significant degree of judgement and estimates 
dependent upon, e.g. future demand or 
successful implementation of restructuring plans. 

Our audit procedures included, among others:

• We critically assessed the indicators 
of potential impairment of investments in 
subsidiaries which may trigger provisioning.
For this purpose, we primarily:
− Compared the valuation of the investment 

with the amount of equity of the subsidiary 
at the balance sheet date; 

− Assessed the profitability of investments 
for the relevant reporting period;

− Determined the amount of dividends and 
profit shares paid out. 

• Where the indicator of potential impairment 
of investments in subsidiaries was identified, 
we focused on:
− Inquiring the company’s management and 

the reasons that led to the recognition or 
non-recognition of a provision;

− Assessing financial plans prepared by 
the subsidiaries; and

− Assessing whether the provision is 
recognised appropriately and in a 
sufficient amount. 
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− We assessed the adequacy of disclosures 
made in the notes to the financial 
statements with regard to material 
investments and their financial position 
and profitability. 

Correctness and completion of the presentation of financial liabilities (bank loans and 
bonds issued)

The correctness and completion 
of the presentation of financial liabilities (Notes
16 and 17 to the financial statements) represent 
a key audit matter since the Company uses 
significant external financing in the form 
of issued bonds, borrowings and banking loans 
for its operating and investment activities. These 
types of financing carry covenants and other 
criteria, the evaluation of which by the Company 
has a material impact on the presentation in 
the financial statements (e.g. on the presentation 
of long-term and short-term components). 

Our audit procedures, included, among others:

• We sent bank confirmation letters and 
based on received responses, we 
compared the confirmed amounts of bank 
loans with the amounts presented  by the 
Company in the accounting records. 

• We determined whether the loan balance is 
appropriately presented as a short-term or 
long-term payable pursuant to 
the concluded contract, repayment 
schedule or bank confirmation letter. 

• With regard to issued bonds, we compared 
the information reported in public sources 
of the Prague Stock Exchange with 
the information disclosed in the financial 
statements. 

• We agreed the year-end balance of issued 
bonds to the confirmation from the issue
manager.

• We agreed the information on covenants in 
respect of received bank loans and issued 
bonds to supporting documentation 
(e.g. contract, prospectus). 

• We tested the mathematical correctness 
of the calculation of the covenants.

• We assessed compliance with the relevant 
covenants.

• We assessed the adequacy of disclosures 
made in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements with regard to issued 
bonds and external funding in the form 
of bank loans.

Responsibilities of the Company’s Board of Directors and Supervisory Board for the Financial 
Statements

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU and 
for such internal control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing 
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either 
intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with the above law or regulation, we exercise professional judgment 
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the Board of Directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Board of Directors, the Supervisory Board and the Audit Committee 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, the Supervisory Board and the Audit 
Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial 
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters 
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, 
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our 
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In compliance with Article 10(2) of Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014 of the European Parliament and 
the Council, we provide the following information in our independent auditor’s report, which is required 
in addition to the requirements of International Standards on Auditing:

Appointment of the Auditor and the Period of Engagement

We were appointed as the auditors of the Company by the General Meeting of Shareholders on 
10 October 2019 and our uninterrupted engagement has lasted for two years.

Consistence with the Additional Report to the Audit Committee

We confirm that our audit opinion on the financial statements expressed herein is consistent with 
the additional report to the Audit Committee of the Company, which we issued on 24 April 2020 in 
accordance with Article 11 of Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014 of the European Parliament and 
the Council.
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Provision of Non-audit Services

We declare that no prohibited non-audit services referred to in Article 5 of Regulation (EU) 
No. 537/2014 of the European Parliament and the Council were provided. In addition, there are no 
other non-audit services which were provided by us to the Company and which have not been disclosed 
in the financial statements.

In Prague on 24 April 2020

Audit firm: Statutory auditor:

Deloitte Audit s.r.o.
registration no. 079

David Batal
registration no. 2147

Comment
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